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Credit Suisse financial highlights

Year ended Decembes 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Consolidated statements of income

Net revenues 36,612 29,131 25,770
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary

terns and cumulatve effect of accounting changes 7,044 3,563 4,154
Net income 7,020 3,575 4,138
December 31, n CHF m, except where indicated 2006 2006
Consolidated balance sheets

Total assets 1,226,764 1,130,756
Shareholder's equity 26,045 25,788
Consolidated BIS capital data

Risk-weighted assets 232,673 213,403
Tier 1 rato 114% 9 6%
Total BIS regulatory captal ratio 16 5% 14 0%
Number of employees

Switzerland 17,224 16,643
Quiside Switzerland 24,176 23,975
Number of employees (full-hme equivalents) 41,400 40,618

For purposes of the Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms
“Credit Suisse,” “the Bank,* "we,” *us" and *our” mean Credit Suisse, the Swiss bank
subsidiary of the Group, and its consolidated subsidianes, and the term ‘the Group”
means Credt Suisse Group and its consolidated subsidianes
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Organization and description of business

Overview

The Bank serves tts diverse chents through three divisions, Investment Banking,
Prvate Banking and Asset Management, which cooperate closely to provide hofistic
financial solutions based on innovative products and specially tailored advice The
Bank has a truly global reach today, with operations in over 50 countries and a
team of more than 41,000 employees from around 100 different nations

Global Banking Divisions

— Through 1s Investment Banking division, the Bank supplies investment
banking and secunties products and services to corporate, institutional and
government clients around the world Hts products and services include debt and
equity underwriting, sales and trading, mergers and acquisitions, dvestitures,
corporate sales, restructuring and investment research

— Through its Private Banking division, the Bank offers comprehensive adwice and
a broad range of wealth management solutions, including pension planning, Ife
insurance products, tax planning and wealth and inheritance advice, which 1s
tailored to the needs of tuigh-net-worth indivmduals worldwide In Switzerland,
it supplies banking products and services to high-net-worth, corporate and retarl
clents

~ Through 1ts Asset Management division, the Bank supplies products from the
full range of iInvestment classes - money market, fixed income, equittes,
balanced and alternative nvestments — to meet the needs of institubonal,
government, and private clients globally

These global divisions are supported by Shared Services, which provide corporate
services and business support

The year at the Bank

0006 was a landmark year for the Bank, which began with the launch of the new,
integrated global organization and the introduction of a single brand The Bank 1s
now Increasingly able to combine its expenence, resources and expertise across
different businesses and geographies in order to deliver holistic financial solutions
to its global clients

Launch of the Integrated Global Orgamzation

The new, integrated global organization was officially launched on January 1, 2006
The integrated structure provides a strong platform from which the Bank can offer
comprehensive financial solutions to its clients, create synergres for revenue
grawth, increase efficiency and enhance shareholder value The structure includes
the three dvisions, Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management,
as well as a regional struciure, which allows 1t to leverage resources and to develop
cross-divisional strategies that span the Amencas, Asia Pacific, Europe, Middle
East and Africa (EMEA) and Switzertand The divisions and regions are supported
by Shared Services, which provide a range of corporate services and business
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support The Bank expects to generate significant revenue and cost synerges in
the coming years as a result of its new business model and structure

The integrated model 1s the Bank's response to changing chent needs n an
industry dnven by globalization and rapid technological developments These two
trends are transforming the requirements and expectations of clients, who are
demanding an even broader range of offenngs, improved performance, greater
transparency and continuous access to glaba!l execution capabllities The Bank
believes this newly integrated organization has the necessary flexibiity and
resources to deliver solutions to chents and to compete successfully in the glabal
marketplace

The Bank underpinned the launch of s integrated global structure with the
introduction of a single brand and new logo The Bank brand 1s based on its 150-
year tradition of banking excellence, which has provided the foundation to enable
it to develop inngvative solutions for its clients — a tradibion fo innovate

Board of Directors and Executive Board

Board of Directors (as of December 31, 20086)
The Board of Directors of the Bank is composed of the following individuals
Walter B Kielholz, Chairman *

Hans-Ulrich Doerig, Vice-Chairman "*
Thomas W Bechtler

Robert H Benmosche #

Peter Brabeck-Letmathe

Noreen Doyle ¥

Jean Lamer ¥

Anton van Rossum ?

Az1zR. D Synam 2*

David W Syz ®

Ernst Tanner ©

Richard E Thornburgh *

Peter F Weibel "

" Member of the Chairman’s and Governance Committee, chaired by Walter B
Kielholz

2 Member of the Compensation Commitiee, chared by Azz R D Synam

8 Member of the Audit Committee, chared by Peter £ Wetbel

9 Member of the Risk Committee, chaired by Hans-Ulnch Doeng

Executive Board of the Bank (as of December 31, 2006)

The most semor executive body of the Bank 1s the Executive Board It 1s
responsible for the day-to-day aperational management of the company It develops
and implements the strategic business plans subject to approval by the Board of

Organization and descnption of business
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Organization and description of business

Directors and reviews and coordinates significant inihatives and projects in the
dwisions and regions or in the Shared Services funchons

The members of the Executive Board of the Bank are

Oswald J Gribel, Chief Executive Officer

Walter Berchtold, Chief Executive Officer Private Banking
David J Blumer, Chief Executive Officer Asset Management
Paul Calello, Chief Executive Officer Asia Pacific

Brady W Dougan, Chief Executive Officer Investment Banking and Credit
Suisse Americas

D Wilson Ervin, Chief Risk Officer

Renato Fassbind, Chief Financial Officer

Ulnich Kérner, Chief Executive Officer Switzerland

Michael G Philipp, Chief Executive Officer Europe, Middle East and Africa
Urs Rohner, General Counsel and Chief Operating Officer

Thomas J Sanzone, Chief information Officer

Management changes

In February 2007, the Group announced the appointment of Brady W Dougan as
new Chief Executive Officer of Credit Suisse Group and Credit Suisse, effective
May 5, 2007 He will succeed Oswald J Grubel who will retire at the Annual
General Meeting In 2007 Brady W Dougan is currently the Chief Executive Officer
Investment Banking Paul Calello, the current Chief Executive Cfficer Asia
Pacific, will replace Brady W Dougan as the Chief Executive Officer Invesiment
Banking Robert Shafir will join as Chief Executive Officer Americas and become
a member of the Executive Board of the Bank

With the closing of the sale of the Winterthur Group to AXA S A, Leonhard H
Fischer stepped down from the Group Executive Board effective December 22,
2006 Ai the same time, the Group anncunced that Mr Fischer has been
appointed Chief Executive Officer Credit Suisse Europe, Middle East and Afnca
and member of the Executive Board of the Bank effective March 1, 2007 Michael
G Philipp has been appointed Charrman Europe, Middle East and Africa effective
March 1, 2007
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Operating and financial review

The Bank

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Interest and dwidend income 49,392 35,381 25,637
Interest expense {43,423) (28,822) (18,363)
Net interest income 5,969 6,539 7274
Commessions and fees 16,379 13273 12,353
Trading revenues 9,162 5,693 3,505
Other revenues 5,102 3,626 2,638
Total norsnterest revenues 30,643 22,592 18,496
Net revenues 36,612 29,131 25,770
Provision for credit losses (97) (134) 70
Compensation and benefits 15,132 13,444 11,650
Other expenses 8,776 9,535 7,677
Total operating expenses 23,908 22,979 19,327
Income from continuing operations before taxes, minonty interests,

extraordinary tems and cumulative effect of accounting changes 12,801 6,286 6,373
Income tax expense 2,137 659 1,106
Minonty interests 3,620 2,064 1,113
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary tems

and cumulatve effect of accounting changes 7,044 3,563 4,154
Extraorgnary ilems, net of tax (24) 0 0
Cumulatve effect of accounting changes, net of tax 0 12 (16)
Net income 7.020 3,575 4,138

2006 compared to 2005

The Bank recorded Net income of CHF 7,020 million, an increase of CHF 3,445
million, or 86%, compared to 2005 Investment Banking's results improved
significantly as a result of favorable market conditions and increased client and deal
activity and included credits from insurance settlements for liigation and related
costs of CHF 508 millon Prvate Banking also reported good results as higher
revenues associated with client actmty were partially offset by higher compensation
expenses, Including strategic investments 1 Wealth Management's global
franchise Asset Management's results declined reflecting lower Private equity and
other mvestment-related gains and higher Compensation and benefits and Other
expenses, partly due to the business realignment

Net revenues

The Bank reported Nef revenues of CHF 36,612 million in 2006, an increase of
CHF 7,481 million, or 26%, compared to 2005 This increase reflected a very
strong performance in Investment Banking amid favorable market conditions and
a solid performance in Private Banking, with increased client activity and asset-
based fees Asset Management's Ne! revenues increased shightly, despite lower
Private equity and other nvestment-related gains

Net interest income 1n 2006 decreased to CHF 5,969 million, or 9%, compared
to CHF 6,539 million in 2005 Interest and dwidend wcome increased CHF
14,031 million, or 40%, manly due to higher Inferest and dividend income an
Trading assels and a strong result from higher average balances in both
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Operating and financial review

government and corporate bonds Thss was offset by a greater increase in interest
expense, pnmarlly on Deposits and Trading habilties

Commussions and fees n 2006 increased to CHF 16,379 million, or 23%,
compared to CHF 13,273 million in 2005, pnmarily reflecting very strong results
in the underwniting, advisory and leveraged finance businesses and the higher
levels of Assets under management

Trading revenues increased 61% to CHF 9,162 millon in 2006, compared with
CHF 5,693 million in 2005, maly from strong equity and fixed income trading
in Investment Banking, which benefited from favorable market conditions and
increased deal actvity

Other revenues in 2006 increased to CHF 5,102 million, or 41%, from CHF 3,626
millon 1n 2005, which was mainly from higher minonty interest-related revenues,
which 1s not recorded in the segments, from consolidated private equity funds and
other entities in which the Bank does not have a sigmficant economic interest in
such revenues Other revenues included CHF 3,559 million and CHF 2,085 million
of these minonty interest-related revenues 1n 2006 and 2005, respectively

Proviston for credit losses

The Bank reported a net release of Provision for credit losses of CHF 97 million
in 2006, compared to a net release of CHF 134 million n 2005 While the credit
environment 1s likely to remain favorable In the near term, the Bank does not expect
these benign condibions to continue

Total eperating expenses
Total operating expenses were CHF 23,908 mdlion in 2006, an increase of CHF
929 million, or 4%, compared to CHF 22,979 million in 2005

Compensation and benefifs mcreased CHF 1,688 million, or 13%, compared to
2005, which included a CHF 650 million expense, relating to a change Iin the
Bank's accounting for share-based compensation awards subject to a non-
competition provision that have scheduled vesting beyond an employee's elgibility
for early retirement 2006 Compensation and benefits pnmarily reflected tigher
performance-based compensation in Investment Banking and Private Banking

Other expenses in 2006 were CHF 8,776 milkon, a decrease of CHF 759 million,
or 8%, compared to 2005 Other expenses in 2006 included credits from
msurance setflements for itgation and related costs of CHF 508 mulion, while
Other expenses 1n 2005 included the charge to increase the reserve for certain
private liigation matters of CHF 960 milion Excluding these items, Other
expenses increased CHF 709 mihion, or 8%, reflecting an 18% ncrease In
Commussion expenses, \n line with increased Net revenues In addition,
Professtonal services increased 15%, pnmarly reflecting higher marketing actiaty
and re-branding costs and, to a lesser extent, the realignment n Asset
Management Amortization and impairment of other intangible assets increased
90% as a result of ntangble asset impairments of CHF 139 rllion in connection
with the realignment of Asset Management In addition, there were increases n
Occupancy expenses and Travel and enfertainment expenses

Income tax expense

The Bank recorded Income tax expense of CHF 2,137 million in 2006, an increase
of CHF 1,478 millon, or 224%, reflecting the Bank's higher income from
confinuing operations before taxes, mnorily inferests, extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes This compared to an Income tax expense
of CHF 659 millon in 2005, reflecting the impact of the change In the Bank's
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accounting for share-based compensation awards in 2005 The Banks effective
tax rate 1n 2006 and 2005 was 17% and 10%, respectively

The Bank's Income tax expense 1s not affected by minonty interest-related
revenues and expenses from consolidated private equity and other entities in which
the Bank does not have a significant economic interest in such revenues and
expenses The amount of non-taxable income relating to these investments vanes
from one period to the next and was CHF 3,560 million in 2006, compared to CHF
2,042 millon in 2005 Excluding the effect of non-taxable income from these
investments, the Bank's effective tax rate in 2006 and 2005 was 23% and 16%,
respectively

Minornty inleresis

Minorty interests were CHF 3,620 million in 2006, an ncrease of CHF 1,656
miflion, or 75%, compared to 2005 This increase was primanly due to revenues
from additional private equity funds and other entities that were consolidated for
the first time 1n 2006 For further information on the consolidation of certan private
equity funds and other entities, see Note 2 “Recently 1ssued accounting standards”
in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements The Bank's Net revenues
and Total operating expenses reflect the consclidation of certan private equity
funds and other entities in which the Bank does not have a significant economic
interest in such revenues and expenses The consolidation of these entities does
not affect Net income as the recorded revenues and expenses are offset by
corresponding amounts reported as Minonly inferests The minonty interest
income, net of expenses, related to these enties was CHF 3,660 mullion and CHF
9,042 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively

2005 compared to 2004

The Bank recorded Net income of CHF 3,675 million in 2005, a decrease of CHF
563 millicn, or 14%, compared to 2004 2005 Net mcome included a non-cash
charge of CHF 440 million after tax relating to a change In the Bank's accounting
for share-based awards and a CHF 624 millon after-tax charge in Investment
Banking to increase the reserve for cerfan private liigation matters Nef revenues
In 2005 increased to CHF 29,131 milion, or 13%, compared to 2004, benefiting
from high levels of chent activity duning the year Total operating expenses in 2005
increased 19% to CHF 22,979 million, and there was a net release in Frowision
for credit losses of CHF 134 millon, reflecting the continued positive credit
environment Income from continuing operations before taxes increased In
Pnvate Banking and Asset Management, reflecting strong Private equity and other
investment-related gans, partally offset by a decrease in Investment Banking,
mainly driven by the htigation charge

Net revenues
The Bank reported Net revenues of CHF 29,131 million in 2005, an mcrease of
CHF 3,361 million, or 13%, compared to 2004

Net inferest income 1n 2005 was CHF 6,539 mdlon, compared to CHF 7,274
million in 2004, a decrease of CHF 735 million, or 10%, due mainly to an increase
In Interest expense in Investment Banking as a result of higher short-term
borrowing costs and higher financing liabilities

Commussions and fees in 2005 increased 7% to CHF 13,273 million, compared
to CHF 12,353 miflion in 2004 This increase was generated largely by higher
underwnting and adwisory revenues in Investment Banking and asset-based
commissions and brokerage volumes in Private Banking

Operating and financial review
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QOperating and financial review

Tradmg revenues n 2005 increased CHF 2,188 million, or 62%, to CHF 5,693
million, primanly m Investment Banking The increase in investment Banking was
drven by increases in both fixed income and equity trading results related to higher
chent transaction volume

Other revenues in 2005 were CHF 3,626 million, compared to CHF 2,638 million
in 2004, an increase of CHF 988 millon, or 37%, reflecting an increase in minonty
interest-related revenues and higher Private equity and other investment-related
gamns Other revenues included CHF 2,085 milion in 2005 and CHF 1,110 mullion
in 2004 of minonty interest-related revenues from consolidated private equity funds
and other entities in which the Bank does not have a significant economic interest
In such revenues

Provision for credit losses

The Bank reported a net release of Prowiston for credif losses of CHF 134 million
in 2005, compared to a net increase in Provision for credit losses of CHF 70 million
n 2004 These releases largely reflected a favorable credit environment in 2006

Total operating expenses

The Bank reported Total operating expenses of CHF 22,979 million in 2005,
compared to CHF 19,327 milion in 2004, an increase of CHF 3,652 million, or
19% The increase included a charge of CHF 960 millien in Investment Banking
fo increase the reserve for certain pnvate lihgation matters Excluding the
Ithigation charge, Total operafing expenses increased CHF 2,692 million, or 14%,
matnly reflecting an increase in Compensation and benefits

Compensatton and benehts in 2005 was CHF 13,444 rmilhon, compared fo CHF
11,650 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 1,794 milion, or 15%, which reflected
increases In Investment Banking and Private Banking primarily due to higher
performance-related compensation in ine with the improved results In addition,
the increase reflected the impact of Private Banking’s front office recruitment as
part of its engeing strategic investments in growth markets Compensation and
benefits in 2005 was also impacted by the CHF 650 million charge relating 1o the
change in the Bank's accounting for share-based compensation awards For
further information on share-based compensatton, see note 1 *Summary of
significant accounting policies” and note 22 *Employee share-based compensation
and other benefits® in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Other expenses i 2005 were CHF 9,535 million, compared to CHF 7,677 million
in 2004, an increase of CHF 1,888 mullion, or 24%, due mamnly to the impact of
the CHF 960 million charge to increase the reserve for certain private itigation
matters In addition, the increase reflected tigher Professional services expenses
m both Investment Banking and Asset Management and higher Commussion
expenses In Investment Banking and Prvate Banking In addition, there were
increases in Travel and entertainment expenses and Amortizafion and impairment
of ather infangible assets expenses

Income tax expense

The Bank recorded lncome tax expense of CHF 659 million in 2005, compared
to CHF 1,106 mahon 1n 2004, a decrease of CHF 447 million, or 40% The Bank's
effective tax rate in 2005 and 2004 was 10% and 7%, respectively Income fax
expense was positively impacted by the increase in the reserve for certain private
kthigation matters, the release of tax contingency accruals of CHF 131 million, due
to the favorable settlement of certain tax audits in Investment Banking, and a
decrease in the effeclive tax rate as a result of changes in the geographic mix of
taxable income
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Income fax expense n 2005 was also impacted by the change in the Bank’s
accounting for share-based compensation awards, which resulted in a decrease
in Income tax expense of CHF 210 million For further information on share-based
compensation, see note 1 “Summary of significant accounting policies” and note
22 "Employee share-based compensation and other benefits” in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements

The Bank's Income tax expense 1s not affected by minory-related interest
revenies and expenses from consolidated private equity and other entrties in which
the Bank does not have a significant economic interest in such revenues and
expenses The amount of non-taxable income relating to these investments vanes
from one period to the next and was CHF 2,042 miliion in 2005 compared to CHF
1,072 milllon in 2004 Excluding the effect of non-taxable income from these
investments, the Bank's effective tax rate in 2005 and 2004 was 16% and 21%,
respectively

Minonty interests

Minonty interests were CHF 2,064 million 1 2008, compared to CHF 1,113 million
in 2004, an increase of CHF 951 millon, or 85% The Bank's Net revenues and
Total operating expenses reflect the consolidation of certan private equity funds
and other enfities in which the Bank does not have a significant economic interest
in such revenues and expenses The conschdation of these entities does not affect
Net income as the revenues and expenses recorded are offset by corresponding
amounts reported as Mmonty interests The minority interest income, net of
expenses, related to these entities, was CHF 2,042 million in 2005, compared to
CHF 1,072 million in 2004 The increase prnimanly reflected increased Private
equily and other investment-related gains in these funds

Cperating and hinancial review
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Risk management

Overview

The Bank 1s part of Credit Suisse Group and its risks are managed as part of the
global Credit Suisse Group entity

Risk management principles

The prudent takng of nsk 1s fundamental to the business of the Group The primary
objectives of nsk management are o protect the financial strength and the
repulation of the Group, while looking to ensure that capital 1s well deployed to
support business achvities and grow shareholder value The Group's nisk
management framework 1s based on the following principles, which apply
universally across all businesses and nisk types

-~ Protection of financual strength The Group controls nisk in order to limit the
impact of potentially adverse events on iis caprtal and income The Group's nisk
appetite 1s to be consistent with ifs financial resources

~ Protection of reputation The value of the Group franchise depends on the
Group's reputation Protecting a strong reputation 1s both fundamental and an
overnding concern for all statf members

— Risk transparency Risk transparency 15 essenhbal so that nsks are well
understood by senior management and the Board of Directors and can be
balanced against business goals

- Management accountabilty The Group i1s organized into segments that own
the comprehensive nsks assumed through their operations Management for
each segment 1s responsible for the ongoing management of their respective
nsk exposures and earning a sufficient long-term return for the nisks taken

- Independent oversight Risk management 15 a structured process to identify,
measure, monitor and report nsk The nsk management and legal and
complance functions operate independently of the front office to ensure the
integnty of the Group’s control processes The nsk management funchions are
responsible for implementing all relevant nsk policies, developing tools to assist
senior management to determine risk appetite and assessing the overall nsk
prafile of the Group

Risk management oversight
Risk management oversight is performed at several levels of the organization Key
responsibilities lie with the following management bodies and committees

Risk management oversight at the Board of Directors level

~ Group Board of Directors Responsible to shareholders for the strategic
direction, supervision and control of the Group and for defining the Group's
overall tolerance for nsk

- Boards of Directors of other Group legal entities Responsible for the strategic
direction, supervision and control of the respective legal entity and for
defining the legal entity’s tolerance for risk

— Risk Committees Responsible for assisting the Boards of Directors of the
Group and other Group legal entities in fulfilling their oversight responsibilities
by providing guidance regarding risk governance and the development of the
nsk profile and capital structure, including the regular revtew of major nsk
exposures and the approval of risk imits
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Audit Committees Responsible for assisting the Boards of Directors of the
Group and other Group legal entities in fulfiling their oversight responsibilities
by monitoring management's approach with respect to financial reporting,
internal contiols, accounting, and legal and regulatory comphance Additionally,
the Audit Committees are responsible for monitonng the independence and the
performance of the internal and externa! auditors

Internal auditors Responsible for assisting the Boards of Directors, the Audit
Committees and management by prowiding an objectve and independent
evaluation of the effectveness of control, sk management and governance
processes

Risk management cversight at the Group management level

Group Executive Management (Group Chief Executive Officer and Group
Executive Board) Responsible for mplementing the Group's sirategy,
managing the Group’s portfolio of businesses and managing the nsk profile of
the Group as a whole withun the nsk talerance defined by the Group Board of
Directors

Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO) Responsible for providing nsk management
oversight for the Group as a whole in order to ensure that the Group’s
aggregate nsk appetite 1s consistent wath its financial resources as well as the
nsk tolerance defined by the Group Board of Oirectors Additionally, the GCRO
identihies group-wide nsk concentrations, reviews and rabfies high nsk
exposures and unusual or special transactions, allocates Group limit reserves
to businesses, ensures consistent and thorough nsk management practices and
processes throughout the Group and recommends corrective achien, if
necessary

Risk management oversight at the Bank management level

Bank Executive Management (Chief Executive Officer and Executive Board)
Responsible for implementing the Bank's sirategy and actively managing its
portfolio of businesses and its nsk profile to ensure that nsk and return are
balanced and appropnate for current market conditions

Bank Chief Risk Officer Responsible for providing risk management oversight
for the Bank and establishing an organzational basis to manage all sk
management matters of the Bank through the four pnmary nsk functions
independent from the front office, as descnbed below

Strategic Risk Management Responsible for assessing the overall nsk profile
on a Bank-wide, portfolio level and for individual businesses, and
recommending corrective action, where necessary

Risk Measurement and Management Responsible for the measurement and
reporting of credit nsk, market nsk and econemic nsk capital data, managing
nsk hmits, and estabhshing policies on market nsk and economic nsk capital
Credit Risk Management Headed by the Chief Credit Officer with responsibility
for approving credi limits, monitonng and managing indivdual exposures and
assessing and managing the qualty of the segment and business area’s credit
portfolios and allowances

Bank Operational Risk Oversight Responsible for oversight of ihe Bank’s
operational nsk including governance and policy aspects, development and
reporting of key nsk indicatars as well as operational nsk capital management
and allocation

Credit Suisse risk management committees

Capital Allocation and Risk Management Committee (CARMC) 15 responsible
for supervising and directing the Bank nisk profile on a consolidated basis,
recommending nsk mits to the Bank's Board of Dwectors and its Risk
Committee and for establishing and allocating nsk limits within the Bank
CARMC meetings focus on the following three areas on a rotaling basis Asset

Risk management
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Risk management

and Liability Management/Ligwdity, Market and Credit Risk, and Operationat
Risk/Legal and Compliance

— Risk Processes and Standards Commuittee Is responsible for establishing and
approving standards regarding nsk management and nsk measurement,
including methodology and parameters

- Credit Portfolio and Provisions Review Committee 1s responsible for reviewing
the quality of the credrt portfolio, with a focus on the development of impaired
assets and the assessment of related prowisions and valuation allowances

-~ Reputational Risk Review Committee 1s responsible for setting the policy and
reviewing processes regarding reputational nsks within the Bank

- Dwsional Risk Management Committees (RMC) Within the Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management segments of the Bank, the
respective divisional RMCs are established to manage nisk on a dwvisional basis

Risk categones
The Bank 15 exposed to many nsks and differentrates between them using the
following seven major risk categores

— Market nsk — the nsk of loss ansing from adverse changes in interest rates,
fareign currency exchange rates, equity pnces and other relevant market rates
and prices, such as commodity prices and volahlities,

—~ Credit nsk — the nsk of loss ansing from adverse changes in the
credrtworthiness of counterparties,

— Expense nsk — the nsk that the businesses are not able to cover their ongoing
expenses with ongoing income subsequent to a severe crisis, excluding
expense and ncome items already captured by the other risk categones,

-~ Lqudity and funding nsk - the nsk that the Bank or one of its businesses 1s
unable fo fund assets or meet obligations at a reasonable or, n the case of
exireme market disruptions, any price,

— Operational nsk — the nsk of loss resulting from inadequate or faled internal
processes, people and systems ar from external events,

— Strategy nsk — the nsk that the business actvities are not responsive to
changes in industry trends, and

— Reputational nisk — the risk that the Bank's market or service image declines

While most businesses are exposed to all nsk types, therr relative significance
vares Bank-wide nisk management and measurement approaches are applied
where appropnate and meaningful

Risk hmits

A sound system of nsk limits 1s fundamental to efficient control of the range of nisks
nherent in the business actvibes The size of the imits reflects the Bank’s nsk
appehte given the market environment, the business strategy and the financial
resources available to absorb losses

The Bank uses an Economic Risk Capital (ERC) hmit structure to limit overall
position nsk-taking The level of nsk incurred by the segments 1s further
restnicted by a vanety of specfic Imits For example, there are consolidated
controls over tradng exposures (Value-at-Risk (VaR}), the mismatch of interest-
earning assets and interest-bearing habilities, private equity and seed money
investments and emerging market country exposures Risk limits are aflocated to
lower orgarwzational levels within the businesses, and numerous other bnits are
established to control specific risks, including a system of individual counterparty
credit imits that I1s used to control concentration nsks

12 Credit Swisse Annual Report 2006



Economic Risk Capital

Introduction

Economic Risk Capital represents current market best practice for measunng and
reporting all quantifiable nsks It 1s called economic nsk capital because it measures
nsk in terms of economic realities rather than regulatory or accounting rules The
Bank uses an economic nsk capital model as a consistent and comprehensive tool
for nsk management, capital management and planning and performance
measurement

As the Bank's standard for assessing nsk, ERC provides a strong framework for
managing the Bank’s nsk profile on a consolidated basis and to assess aggregate
nsk appetite in relation to the financial resources By providing a common
termrnology for risk across the Bank, ERC has also increased risk transparency
and knowledge-sharing across the Bank The ERC model is subject to regular
methodology reviews to ensure 1t appropriately reflects the nsk profile of our
portfolio in the current market environment

The development and usage of ERC methodologies and models has increased
across the industry over recent years In the absence of a standardized ERC
approach, comparisons across firms may not be meaningful

Concept

The ERC model I1s designed to measure all quantifiable nsks associated with the
Bank's activities on a consistent and comprehensive basis ERC is the economic
capitat needed to reman solvent and in business even under extreme market,
business and operational conditions, given the mshiution’s target financial
strength (1 e, long-term credit rating)

ERC s calculated separately for position risk, operational nsk and expense nisk
These three nisk categories measure very different types of nsk

- Position nsk— the level of unexpected loss in economic value on the Bank's
portfolic of positions cver a one-year honizon that 1s exceeded with a given,
small probability (1% for rnisk management purposes, 003% for capital
management purposes)

- Operational nsk— the level of loss resulting from inadequate or faled internal
processes, people and systems or from external events over a one-year horizon
that 1s exceeded with a small probability (O 03%) Estimating this type of ERC
15 inherently more subjective and reflects both quantitative tools as well as
senior management judgment

- Expense nsk— the difference between expenses and revenues in a severe
market event, exclusive of the elements captured by positon nsk and
operational nsk

Position nsk, operational sk and expense nisk are used to determine the Bank’s
utiized economic capital

Application

ERC represents the Bank's core top-level nsk management tool ERC 15 used to
assess, monitor, report and hmit nsk exposures at many levels of the organization
The Board of Directors and senior management at the Bank and the segments are
regularly provided with ERC resuits, trends and rattos, together with supporting
explanations to create nsk transparency and to support senior management in
managing nsk

Risk management
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The Bank uses ERC in its capital allocabon process and related performance
measures Moreover, ERC serves as a reference point for the structured
assessment of the Bank’s aggregate nsk appetite wn relation to ws financal
resources, recognizing that a comprehensive analysis must also take into account
factors that are outside the scope of the ERC framework (for example, strategy,
economic and competitive environment and external constramnts such as those
imposed by regulaters or rating agencies)

The ERC methodology ts continually reviewed in order 1o make sure the model
rematns relevant as markets and business strategies evolve If the ERC
methodology changes based on these reviews, prior-period balances are restated
w order to show meamngful trends

The following table details the comoonenis of the Bank's position risk

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Fixed income trading® 2,674 +,871 1,283
Equily trading & rwestment 2,372 2,137 1,511

Swiss corporate & retal lending 1,680 1,946 1,937
International lending & counterparty 2,965 2,576 1,726
Emerging markets 1,644 1,393 1,521

Real estate & structured assets® 4,965 3,143 2,393
Simple sum across risk categonies 16,300 13,066 10,371

Dwersification benefit (4,563) (3,800) {2,881)
Position nsk (39% confidence level for risk management purposes} 11,737 9,466 7,490
Position nsk {39 97% confidence leve! for capital management purposes) 19,966 15,871 12,347

Pror-penod balances have been restaled for methodology changes in order to show meaningful trends

Y This categery compnses fixed incame trading exposures, foreign exchange exposures and commodity exposures @ This categary compnses the real estale investments of the Bank,

wommercial and resdential real estate and asset-backed secunbies exposures and real estate acquired at aucton

Market risk

Overview

Market risk is the nsk of loss ansing from adverse changes in interest rates, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity pnces, commodity pnces and cother relevant
market parameters, such as market volatilities The Bank defines 1ts market nisk
as potential changes in farr values of financial instruments in response to market
movements A typical transaction may be exposed to a number of different market
risks

The Bank devotes considerable resources to ensuring that market nsk s
comprehensively captured, accurately modeled and reported and effectively
managed Trading and non-trading portfolios are managed at vanous organtzational
levels, from the Bank overall down to specific business areas The Bank uses
market nsk measurement and management methods designed to meet or exceed
industry standards These include both general tools capable of calculating
comparable exposures across the Bank's many activiiies as well as focused tools
that can specifically model umique characterstics of certan business areas’
functons The tools are used for internat market nsk management, internal market
nsk reporting and external disclosure purposes The principal measurement
methodologies are VaR and scenano analysis Additionally, the market risk
exposures are also reflected in the Bank's ERC calculations The nsk management
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techniques and policies are regularly reviewed to ensure that they reman
appropriate

Value-at-Risk

VaR measures the potental loss in terms of far value changes over a given time
interval under normal market conditions at a given confidence level VaR as a
concept 1s apphicable for all financial nisk types with valid regular price histories
Positions are aggregated by risk type rather than by product For example, interest
rate nsk includes nsk ansing from meney market and swap transactions, bonds,
and mnterest rate, foreign exchange, equity and commodity options The use of VaR
allows the comparnson of nsk in different businesses, such as fixed income and
equity, and also provides a means of aggregating and netting a vanety of positions
within a portfolio to reflect actual correlattons and offsets between different assets

Histarical financial market rates and pnices serve as a basis for the statistical VaR
model underlying the potential loss estimation The Bank uses a ten-day holding
period and a canfidence level of 99% calculated using, 1n general, a rolling two-
year history of market data to model the nsk in its trading portfolios These
assumptons are comphant with the standards published by the Basel Committee
on Banking Supervision and other related international standards for market risk
management Far some purposes, such as backtesting, disclosure and
benchmarking with competitors, the resulting VaR figures are scaled down or
calculated using one-day holding period values

The Bank has approval from the Swiss Federal Banking Commussion, as well as
from certain other regulators of its subsidiaries, to use its VaR mode! in the
calculation of trading book market nsk capital requirements The Bank continues
to recewve regulatory approval for ongoing enhancements to the methodology, and
the mode! 1s subject 1o regular reviews by regulators and auditors

Assumptions

The Bank uses a historical simulation mode! for the majonty of risk types and
businesses within its frading portfolios, Where insufficient data is avallable for such
an approach, an “extreme move” methodology 1s used The model 1s based on the
profit and loss distnbution resulting from the historical changes of market rates
applied to evaluate the portfolio using, in general, a roling two-year history This
methodology also avords any explicit assumptions on correlation between nsk
factors The VaR model uses assumptions and estimates that the Bank believes
are reasonable, but different assumptions or estrmates could result in different
estimates of VaR

Limitations

As a nsk measure, VaR only quantifies the potential loss on a portfolio under normal
market conditions It 1s not intended to cover losses associated with unusually
severe market movements (these are intended to be covered by scenano
analysis) VaR also assumes that the price data from the recent past can be used
to predict future events [f future market conditions differ substantially from past
market conditions, then the risk predicted by VaR may be too conservative or too
liberal

Scenario analysis

The Bank regularly performs scenano analysis for alt of its business areas exposed
fo market nsk to estimate the potential economic loss that could anse from
extreme, but plausible, stress events The scenano analysis calculations performed
are specifically tallored towards their respective nsk profile In addition, to identify
areas of nisk concentration and potential vulnerability to stress events across the
Bank, 1t has developed a set of scenanos, which are consistently appled across

Risk management
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all business areas Key scenarios include significant movements in interest rates,
equity prices and exchange rates, as well as adverse changes in counterparty
default rates The scenarno analysts framework also considers the impact of various
scenanos on key capital adequacy measures such as regulatory capital and
economic capital ratios The Board of Directors and senior management are
regularly provided with scenano analysis estimates, scenano analysis trend
information and supporting explanations to create transparency on key risk
exposures and 1o support senior management 18 managing nsk

Assumptions
Scenario analysts estmates the impact that could anse from extreme, but
plausible, stress events by applying predefined scenarios to the relevant portfolios
Scenarios are typically defined in ight of past economic or financial market stress
penods, but statistical analysis is also used to define the less severe scenarios in
the framework

Limdahions

Scenario analysis estmates the loss that could anse if specific events in the
economy or in financial markets were to occur Seldom do past events recur in
exactly the same way Therefore, 1t 1s necessary to use business experience to
choose a set of meaningful scenaros and to assess the scenario results in light
of current economic and market conditions

Trading portfolios

Risk measurement and management

The Bank assumes market nsk in its trading portfolios pnmarily through the trading
activities of the Investment Banluing segment The Bank’s other segments also
engage 1n trading activities, but to a much lesser extent

For the purposes of this disclosure, VaR 15 used for the trading portfolio, which
includes those financial instruments treated as part of the trading book for Bank
regulatory capital purposes This classification of assets as trading 1s done for
purposes of analyzing the Bank's market risk exposure, not for financial statement
purposes

The Bank 1s active in most of the principal trading markets of the world, using the
majorty of the common trading and hedging products, including dervatives such
as swaps, futures, options and structured products (which are customized
transactions using combinations of dervatives and executed to meet specific client
or proprietary needs) As a result of its bread participation in products and markets,
the Bank's trading strategies are correspondingly diverse and vanable, and
exposures are generally spread across a dversified range of nsk factors and
locations

Development of trading portfclic risks

The table below shows the trading-related market nsk exposure for the Bank, as
measured by scaled one-day, 99% VaR As the Bank measures trading book VaR
for internal nsk management purposes using the US dollar as the base currency,
the VaR figures were translated into Swiss francs using the respective daily
currency translation rates VaR estimates are computed separately for each nsk
type and for the whole portfolio using the histoncal simufabion methodology
Dwersification benefit reflects the net difference between the sum of the 89th
percentile loss for each indwidual nisk type and for the total portfolio

The Bank's one-day, 99% VaR as of December 31, 2006, was CHF 89 million,
compared to CHF 87 million as of December 31, 2005 The change in VaR was

caused pnmarly by increased foreign exchange VaR due to increased forergn
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exchange exposures, partly offset by an increase in the dwersification benefit
across nsk types, reflecting a more even spread of nsks across businesses The
average VaR for the Bank was CHF 80 million for 2006, compared to CHF 66
million for 2005 The increase in average VaR was dnven pnmanly by an increase
i equity and foreign exchange exposures, partly offset by an increase in the
dwersification benefit across nsk types

Risk management

The foliowing taple sets forth tre trag ng-related market .isk exposure for the Bank on a conso «dated casis, as

mcasured by scaled one-day, 99% VaR

2006 2005
n CHF m Mirimum Masmum Average 3112.06 Mirumun Maxamum Average 311206
Interest rate & credit spread 42 81 57 62 35 78 60 68
Foregn exchange rate 8 39 19 24 6 30 13 1
Equity 44 a0 59 57 23 63 41 57
Commodity € 20 10 15 1 16 6 1
Dwersification benefit -0 -t (65) (69) -" - (54) {60)
Total 53 125 80 89 48 88 66 87

Represents ten-day VaR scaled to a one-day helding pencd

Dunng 2006, the Bank introduced a revised VaR methodolagy far certan mortgage products If the rewsed methodotogy had been i place dunng 2005, the VaR as of December 31,

2005 would have been CHF 82 million rather than CHF 87 milien

D As the minmum and maximum occur on different days for different nsk types, if 15 not meaningful to caleulate a partflio dwversification berefit

YaR results and distrbution of trading revenues

Vanous techmgues are used to assess the accuracy of the VaR model used for
trading portfolios, inciuding backtesting Backtesting of the trading portfolio is
performed at various organizational levels, from the Bank overall down to more
specific business areas The backtesting process compares daily backtesting profit
and loss to VaR calculated using a one-day holding period Backtesting profit and
loss is a subset of the actual trading revenues and includes only the profit and loss
effects due to changes in financral market vaniables such as interest rates, equity
prices, foreign exchange rates and commodiy prices an the previous night's
positions It excludes such items as fees, commissions, certain provisions and any
trading subsequent to the previous might's positions It 1s appropnate to compare
this measure with VaR for backtesting purposes, since VaR assesses only the
potential change in position value due to overnight movements in financial market
vaniables An accurate one-day, 95% VaR model should have no more than four
backtesting exceptions per year A backtesting exception occurs when the daily
loss exceeds the dally VaR estimate

The Bank had four backtesting exceptions in 20086, after a penod of two years with
no exceptions The four backiesting exceptions occurred during the secend quarter
of 2006 and were dnven by equity and foreign exchange market volablity dunng
May 2006 Dunng this penod, equity and foreign exchange market volatility was
significantly larger than the volatility reflected in the VaR model, which uses
historical data on a preceding two-year roling basis The VaR model ts subject to
regular assessment and evaluation to seek to mantain accuracy given current
market conditions and positions

The following histogram compares the trading revenues for 2006 with those for
2005 The trading revenues shown in this graph are the actual daly trading
revenues, which include not only backtesting profit and less but also such tems
as fees, commussions, certan provisions and the profit and loss effects associated
with any trading subsequent to the previous might's positions The disperston of
trading revenues indicates the day-to-day volatility in the Bank’s trading actmities
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Non-trading portfolios

Risk measurement and management

The market risks associated with the Bank’s nan-trading portfolios primarily relate
to the banking books, which include asset and hability mismatch exposures, equrty
instrument participations and investments in bonds and money market instruments
All of the Bank's businesses have non-trading portfolios that carry some market
nsks

The market nsks associated with the non-trading portfolios are measured,
monitored and hmited using several tools, including ERC, scenano analysis,
sensitivity analysis and VaR For the purpose of this disclosure, the aggregated
market nisks associated with the non-trading portfolios of the Bank are measured
using sensitivity analysis The sensitivity analysis for the non-trading activities
measures the amount of potential change In economic value resultng from
specified hypothetical shocks to market factors Itis not a measure for the potential
impact on reparted earmings in the current period, since the non-trading actwities
generally are not marked to market through earnings Real estate investments and
foreign exchange translation risks are not included in the following analysis
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Deveiopment of non-trading portfolio risks

Equity nisk on non-trading positions 1s measured using sensitivity analysis that
estimates the potential change in value resulting from a 10% decline In the equity
markets of developed nations and a 20% decline n the equity markets of emerging
market nations The Bank's non-trading equity portfolio includes positions in hedge
funds and other instruments that may not be strongly correlated with general equity
markets The estimated impact for the Bank would be a decrease of approximately
CHF 438 million 1n the value of the non-trading portfolio as of December 31, 2006
compared to a decrease of approximately CHF 331 million in the value ot the non-
trading portfalio as of December 31, 2006 The main reason for the change was
increased exposure to hedge funds and private equity investments

Interest rate risk on non-trading postiions 1s measured using sensitivity analysis
that estimates the potential change mn value resulting from a 50 basis point decline
in the interest rates of developed nations and a 200 bas:s point dechne in the
interest rates of emerging market nations The estimated impact for the Bank
would be an increase of approximately CHF 110 milhion in the value of the non-
trading portiolo as of December 31, 2006 compared to an Increase of
approximately CHF 47 millon n the value of the non-trading portfolio as of
December 31, 2005 The main reason for the change was an increase In treasury
positions benefiting from a reduction in interest rates

Foreign exchange sk on non-trading positions 1s measured using sensitwity
analysis that estmates the potential change in value resulting from a 10%
strengthening of the Swiss franc against developed nation currencies and a 20%
strengthening of the Swiss franc against emerging market nation currencies The
estimated impact for the Bank would be an increase of approximately CHF 82
million I the value of the non-trading portfolio as of December 31, 2006 compared
to an increase of approximately CHF 57 million in the value of the non-trading
portfolio as of December 31, 2005 The change was driven by increased foreign
exchange exposures i the Private Banking and Investment Banking diisions

Commodity risk on non-trading positions 1s measured using sensitmty analysis that
estimates the potential change in value resulting from a 20% weakening in
commodity prices The estmated impact for the Bank would be a decrease of
approximately CHF 1 million in the value of the non-trading portfolio as of
December 31, 2006 compared tc a decrease of approximately CHF 3 miflon in
the value of the non-trading portfolio as of December 31, 2005 The relatively
nsignificant impact is due to the current size of commodity exposures in the non-
trading portfolic

Credit risk

Defimition of credit nisk

Credit nigk 1s the possibility of a loss being incurred as the result of a borrower or
counterparty failing to meet its financial obligations In the event of a default, a
bank generally incurs a loss equal to the amount owed by the debtor, less any
recoveries resulting from foreclosure, hiquidation of collateral or the restructuning
of the debtor company

The majonty of the Bank’s credit nsk 1s concentrated in its Investment Banking
and Private Banking segments The credit isks taken on by Prvate Banking are
usually collateralized Credit nsk exists within lending products, commitments and
letters of credit and results from counterparty exposure ansing from denvalwe,
foretgn exchange and other transactions

Risk management
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Credit risk management approach

Effective credit nsk management 15 a structured process to assess, guantily, pnce,
monitor and manage nsk on a consistent basis This requires careful consideration
of proposed extensions of credit, the setting of specific imits, diigent ongoing
monitoning during the life of the exposure, active use of credit mitigation tools and
a disciplined approach to recognizing credit impairment

This credit nsk management framework 1s regularly refined and covers all
banking business areas that are exposed to credit nsk The framework 1s
designed to cover virtually all of the credit exposures in the banking business and
comprises seven core components

— An indwidua) counterparty and country rating system,
— A transacton rating system,

— A counterparty credit hmit system,

~ Country and regional concentration limits,

— A nsk-based pricing methodology,

— Active credit portfolio management, and

— A credit nsk provistoning methodolegy

The Bank evaluates credit nsk through a credit request and approval process,
ongoing credit and counterparty monitonng and a credit qualily review process
Expenenced credit officers analyze credt requests and assign internal ratings
based on their analysis and evaluation of the client's creditworthiness and the type
of credit transaction The analysis emphasizes a forward-looking approach,
concentrating on economic trends and financial fundamentals 1n addition,
analysts make use of peer analysis, ndustry compansons and other quantitative
tools The final rating also requires the consideration of qualitative factors
relating to the counterparty, tts industry and management The Bank has
established a counterparty credit nsk classification system with which
counterparties are rated and classified on a regular basis This system affords
consistency n (1) statstical and other credit nsk analysis, () credit nsk
monitoring, {m) nsk-adjusted perfermance measurement, and (iv) economic nsk
capital usage/allocation It 1s also used for certan financial accounting purpases

Each counterparty that generates a potential or actual credit nisk exposure 15
assigned a nsk raling Based on the structure of each transaction, an estimate of
expected loss in the event of a counterparly default 1s also assigned The
counterparty credit rating 1s used in combination with credit (or credit equivalent)
exposure and the loss given default assumption to estimate the potental credit
loss These inputs allow the Bank to pnce transactions involving credit nsk more
accurately, based on nsk/return estmates Pricing and the terms of the credit
extension are sensitive fo many of the credit nsk factors descnbed in this section
and are intended to reflect more accurately the situation of the borrower as well
as the Bank’s interasts and prionties 1n negotiating the extension of credit

Seniar credit managers make credit decisions on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, determined by levels appropriate to the amount and complexty of the
transactions, as well as based on the overall exposures o counterparties and their
related entittes These approval authonty levels are set out within the governing
principles of the legal entities

A system of individual credit limits 1s used to manage individual counterparty credit
risk Other hmits are also established to address concentration issues in the
portfolio, including a comprehensive set of country and regional imiis and limits
for certan products Credit exposures to indvidual counterparties, industry
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segments or product groupings and adherence 1o the related limits are monitored
by credit officers, Industry analysts and other relevant specialists In addition, credit
nsk 1s regularly supervised by credit and nsk management commuitiees taking
current market conditions and trend analysis into consideration The Bank
reqularly analyzes its industry dwverstfication and concentration in selected areas

A nigorous credit quality review process has been established to provide an early
identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of chents and includes
regular asset and collateral quality reviews, business and financial statement
analysis and relevant economic and industry studies Other key factors considered
in the review process inciude current and projecied business and economic
conditions, histoncal expenence, regulatory requirements and concentrations of
credit volume by industry, country, product and counterparty rating Regulardy
updated watch-lists and review meetings are used for the identificaticn of
counterparties where adverse changes in creditworthiness could occur due to
events such as announced mergers, earnings weakness and lawsurts

The review process culminates in a quarterly determination of the appropnateness
of allowances for credit losses A systematc provisioning methadalogy 1s used to
identify potential credit nsk-related losses Imparred transactions are classified as
potential problem exposure, non-perdforming exposure or noninterest-earning
exposure and the expasures are generally managed within credit recavery units
The nsk management committees of the Bank determine the adequacy of
allowances, taking into consideration whether the levels are sufficrent for credit
losses and whether allowances can be released or If they should be increased

Non-performing loans

A loan 1s considered impaired when the Bank believes it 1s probable that it will be
unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan
agreement A loan is classified as non-performing when the contractual payments
of principal and/or mferest are 1n arrears for 90 days A loan can also be classified
as non-performing If the contractua! payments of principal and/or interest are less
than 90 days past due, based on the judgment of the respective credit officer The
Bank continues to accrue interest for collection purposes, hawever, a
corresponding provision agamnst the accrual 1s booked through the consolidated
statement of Income In addition, for any accrued but unpaid interest at the date
the loan 15 deemed non-performing, a corresponding provision is bocked against
the accrual through the consolidated statement of Income At the time a loan 1s
deemed non-performing and, on a periodic basis, the remaining principal 1s
evaluated for collectibility and an allowance 1s established for any shortfall between
the net recoverable amount and the remaining pnncipal balance

A loan can be further downgraded to noninterest-earning when the callection of
interest 1s In such a doubtful state that further accrual of interest 1s deemed
inapproprate At that time and on a penodic basis going forward, any unreserved
remaiming principal balance 15 evaluated for collectbiiy and an additional
provision 15 established as required A write-off of a loan occurs when it 1s
determined that there 1s no possibility to recover the principal Wnie-offs also occur
due to sales, settiements or restructunngs of foans or when uncertainty as to the
repayment of etther principal or accrued interest exists

Generally, a loan may be restored to performing status when all delinguent principal
and Interest payments become current in accordance with the terms of the loan
agreement and certain performance entena are met These policies are applied
worldwide

Risk management
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Total impatred loans, gross declined CHF 1 0 billion for the Bank in 2006, as Total
non-performing foans decined CHF 531 million and Total other impaired loans
declined CHF 499 milhion This reduchon was a result of the continued favorable
credit environment as well as continued settlements and recovenes

Potential problem foans

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Bank had Potentral problem loans
amounting to CHF 399 million and CHF B36 million, respectively These loans are
considered potential prablem loans because, although interest payments are being
made, doubt exists as to the tming and/or certainty of the repayment of
contractual principal These loans are classified as imparred

The followi~g table sets forth tre mpaired fcan portfol o for e Bank

December 31, m CHF m 2006 A5
Non-performing ioans 17 1,174
Noninterest-eaming loans 456 730
Total non-performing loans 1,373 1,904
Restructured loans 8 70
Potential problem loans 399 836
Total other impaired loans 407 906
Total impaired loans, gross 1,780 2,810
Valuation allowances as a % of

Total non-performing loans 850% 1032%
Total impaired loans, gross 733% 69 9%

Credit provisions

The Bank mantains valuation allowances on Joans that it considers adequate to
absorb losses arnsing from the existing credit portfolio Valuation allowances are
deducted from Total assets, while provisions are included in Total habilities The
Bank prowdes for credit Josses based on a regular and detaled analysis of every
counterparty, taking collateral value into consideration If uncertainty exists as to
the repayment of erther principal or Interest, a vaiuation allowance is either created
or adjusted accordingly Credit provisions are reviewed on a quarterly basis by
senior management

In determining the amount of the credit prowsions, loans are assessed on a case-
by-case basis, and the following factors are considered

— The financial standing of a cusiomer based on financial and business
information, including a realistic assessment of the likelihood of repayment of
the loan within an acceptable period of time considering the net present value
of future cash flows,

-~ The extent of the Bank's other commitments to the same customer,

- The realizable far value of any collateral for the loans,

- The recovery rate, and

- The costs associated with obtaining repayment and realization of any such
collateral

Judgment is exercised in determining the extent of the valuation allowance and
1s based on management's evaluation of the risk in the portfolio, current economic
condrtions, recent loss expenence, and credit and geographic concentration trends
Vulnerable sectors continue to be tracked and monitored closely, with active
management leading to the requirement of collateral, the purchase of credit
protection facilities and/or the tightening of credit terms or maturities where
appropriate
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Loan valuation allowances and provisions for inherent credit losses

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies” (SFAS 5), the inherent loss allowance 1s eshmated
for all loans not specifically identified as impaired, which on a portfolio basis are
considered to contan probable inherent foss Inherent losses i the consumer
portiolio are determined by applying a historical loss expenence, adjusted to reflect
current market conditions, to unimpared homogeneous pools based on nsk rating
and product type Commercial loans are segregated by risk, industry or country
rating in order to estimate the inherent losses Inherent losses on loans and
lending-related commitments are estimated based on histonical loss and recovery
expenence and recorded in valuation allowances and provisions A prowvision for
nherent loss for off-balance sheet lending related exposure (contingent liabilibes
and irrevocable commitments) 1s also determined, using a methodology similar to
that used for the ioan portfolio

Summary of loan valuation allowance experience

Net reductions of the loan valuation allowance in 2006 were CHF 116 million
compared to net reductions of CHF 126 million n 2006 Net reductions of the loan
valuation allowance in 2006 were a result of the favorable credit environment, as
well as the release of valuation allowances no longer required While the credit
environment 1s likely to remain favorable in the near term, the Bank does not expect
these benign conditions to continue

Tre followr g table sels fonh the movements in Ine a owance for loan losses for the Bark

Risk management

n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Balance January 1 1,965 2,697 4,154
Change in scope of consolidation 0 0 (24)
Met additions/{releases) charged to the consoldated statements of income (116) (126) 70
Gross write-offs (696) (802 (1,612)
Recovenes 140 132 56
Net write-offs (556) (770)  (1,556)
Provisions for interest a7 69 87
Foreign currency translation mpact and other adjustments, net (35) 95 (34)
Balance December 31 1,305 1,965 2,697

Prowsion for credi fasses disclosed in the Bank's consolidated statements of income also includes provisions for lending-related exposure of CHF 19 miflion, CHF (8) milton and CHF O

milien for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectvely

Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity and Asset and Liability Management

Organization

The Group finances its operations in a manner consistent with its business mix,
capitalization and ratings and in ine with 1ts asset and hability and nsk management
policies Liquidity and capiial management 1s coordinated at the Group level
through CARMC CARMC has pnmary oversight responsibility for iquidity, capital
and funding This commttee, which meets on a quarterly basis, includes the Chief
Executive Officers of the Group and the Investment Banking, Private Banking and
Asset Management divisions, the Chief Financial Officer (CFQ) and the Chief Risk
Officers (CROs) of the Group and the Bank, the Chief Operating Officer of the
Bank and the Treasurer CARMC reviews the capital situahon, balance sheet
development and current and prospective funding and defines and monitors
adherence to internal Treasury nsk hmits and capital and hiquidity targets
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Implementation of CARMC's decistons is monitored through monthly reports for
the attention of the CRQs, CFQ, Treasurer and other senior management

Liquidity Management

The Bank manages liquidity so as to ensure that sufficient funds are esther on-hand
or readly avatlable on short notice in the event that it experiences any imparment
in vts ability to borrow in the unsecured debt markets In this way, the Bank seeks
to ensure that, even n the event of a iquidity dislocation, 1t has sufficient funds
to repay matunng habilities and other obligations so that it 1s able to carry out its
business plans with as hitle disruption as possble

The Bank has access io stable deposit-based core funds, the interbank markets
and secured funding through the repurchase and securities lending markets
Historically, the Bank’s deposit base has proven extremely stable and 1s compnsed
of a dersified customer base, including retall and private bank deposits and
wholesale and inshtutional deposits In a stressed liquidity environment, the Bank
could access the secured funding markets

The majonty of the Bank's assets — principally trading inventories that support its
nvestment banking business — are highly lquid, consisting of secunties inventores
and collateralized receivables, which fluctuate depending on the levels of
proprietary trading and customer business Collateralized recewvables consist
prmanly of secunties purchased under agreements to resell and securities
borrowed, both of which are primanly secured by government and agency
secunities, and marketable corporate debt and equity secunties In addition, the
Bank has significant recevables from customers and broker-dealers, which tum
over frequently To meet client needs as a securties dealer, the Bank may carry
significant levels of trading inventones

As part of sts Swiss domeshc business, the Bank provides residential and
commercial mortgages and secured and unsecured advances to a wide range of
borrowers, including individuals, small and medium-sized corporate entities and
utiliies in Switzerland, Swiss public enbties and local and regional gavernments
These assets are generally in the form of fixed customer-based term loans and
loans callable on demand after a contractual notice period These assets are well
diversified by geography, customer type and instrument Other assets include loans
to corporate and other institutional clients, money market holdings and foreign
exchange positions held directly in the Bank's consolidated balance sheets

The Bank’s other assets include less iquid assets such as certain mortgage whole
loans, distressed secunties, high-yield debt secunties, asset-backed secunties, and
prvate equity and other long-term nvestments These assets may be relatively
dlquid at times, especially during perads of market stress

The principal measure used to monitor the hquidity position of the Bank 1s the
“liquidity barometer”, which estimates the time horizon over which the adjusted
market value of unencumbered assets (including cash) exceeds the aggregate
value of maturing unsecured liabilities plus a conservative forecast of anticipated
contingent commitments The Bank's objective, as mandated by CARMC, s to
ensure that the liquidity barometer 1s mantained at a sufficient leve! such that, in
the event that the Bank 1s unable to access unsecured funding, it will have
sufficient liquidity for an extended period  The liquidity barometer parameters reflect
various hquiddy assumptions, which are reviewed penodically and, f needed,
updated

The Bank's objective 1s to ensure that the hquidity barometer equals or exceeds
a time honizon of 120 days The liquidity barometer reflects the relative stability
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of the unsecured funding base Non-deposit habilties are measured at ther
contractual matunties because historically, nvestors in publicly 1ssued debt
secunties and commercial paper are highly sensiive to hiquidity events, such that
the Bank beheves access to these markeis would be quickly diminished
Conversely, the Bank’s retal and institutronal deposit base 1s measured using
contractual maturites, which have been adjusted io refiect behavioral stability
Histoncally, this core deposit base has proven extremely stable, even in stressed
markets The conservative parameters the Bank uses in establishing the time
honzon assumes that business franchise assets will not be sold to generate cash,
no new unsecured debt can be issued and funds, which are assumed to be trapped
because of regulatory restnctions, are not avallable to be distributed upstream n
a stressed hquidity environment Contingent commitments include such things as
commitments to invest in private equity funds, letters of credit, credit rating-related
collateralization requirements, backup liquidity ines provided to asset-backed
commercial paper conduits and committed credit faciities to clients that are
currently undrawn The adjusted market value of unencumbered assets includes
a conservative reduction from market value, or *haircut,” reflecting the amount that
could be realized by pledging an asset as collateral to a third-party lender in a
secured funding transaction The Bank regularly stress tests its liquidity resources
using scenarios designed to represent highly adverse conditions

The Bank mamntains two large secondary sources of liquidity The firstis via a large
portfolio of hquid fixed income securiies, which Is segregated and managed to
provide for emergency lquidity needs only This liquidity portfolio 1s maintained at
a level well beyond regulatory requirements and could provide a significant source
of hguidity for an extended period in the event of stressed market conditions In
addition to these assets held directly in the Bank, the Bank maintains another large
source of secondary liquidity through the Bank’s principal broker-dealers and other
requlated entiies The Bank has histoncally been able to access significant iquidity
through the secured funding markets (secunties sold under agreements to
repurchase, securities loaned and other collateratized financing arrangements),
even In periods of market stress  The Bank continually monttors 1is overall iquidity
by tracking the exient to which unencumbered marketable assets and alternative
unsecured funding sources exceed both contractual obligations and antieipated
contingent commitments

The Bank's liguidity contingency plan focuses on the specific actions that would
be taken in the event of a cnsis, including a detaled communication plan for
crediors, investors and customers The plan, which 1s regularly updated, sets out
a three-stage process of the specific actions that would be taken

- Stage | - Market disruption or Group / Bank event
- Stage Il - Unsecured markets partially inaccessible
- Stage Ill - Unsecured funding fully inaccessible

In the event of a hquidity cnsis, a meeting of the Liguidity Cnisis Commuttee would
be convened by Treasury fo activate the contingency plan The Liquidity Crisis
Committee’s membership includes senior business line, funding and finance
department management This committee would meet frequently throughout the
cnsis to ensure the plan is executed

Pursuant to the centralization of funding at the Bank, the secured bilateral
committed credit arrangements between vanous third-party banks and Bank
subsidianies will not be renewed As of December 31, 2008, the Bank mantaned
eight such credit facilibes that collectively totaled USD 3 95 billon These faciities
require the relevant subsidianes to pledge unencumbered marketable securities

Risk management
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to secure any borrowings Borrowings under each faciity would bear interest at
short-term rates related fo erther the Federal Funds rate, LIBOR or other money
market 1ndices and can be used for general corporate purposes The faciities
contain customary covenants that the Bank believes will not impair s abibiy to
obtain funding

Asset and Liability Management

Global Treasury also oversees corporate policy with respect to non-trading book
interest rate and foreign exchange exposure, as well as a range of other important
policy areas including debt matunity profile, nternal and external capitahization and
intercompany funding

Operational risk

Operational rsk 15 the nsk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events The Bank's pnmary aim
1s the early entification, recording, assessment, monitoring, prevention and
mitigation of operational nsks, as well as tmely and meaningful management
reporting Where appropriate, the Bank transfers operational nsks to third-party
Insurance companies

Operational nsk 1s inherent in most aspects of the Bank's actwvities and comprises
a large number of disparate nsks While market and credit nsk are often chosen
for the prospect of gan, operational nsk 15 normally accepted as a necessary
cansequence of doing business In companson to market or credit nsk, the sources
of operational nsk are difficult to identify comprehensively and the amount of nsk
is also intrinsicatly difficult to measure The Bank therefore manages operational
nsk differently from market and credit nsk The Bank believes that effective
management of operational risks requires a common bank-wide framework with
ownership residing with the management responsible for the refevant business
process Addiionally, the Bank has estabhshed a central team within the Chief Risk
Officer area that focuses on the coordinabon of consistent policy, tocls and
practices throughout the Bank for the management, measurement, monitoring and
reporting of relevant operabonal risks This team 15 also responsible far the overall
operational nsk framework, measurement methodology and capital calculations
Knowledge and expenence are shared throughout the Bank to mantan a
coordinated approach

Within the Bank, each indwidual business area and management level takes
responsibility for its own operational nsks and provides adequate resources and
procedures for the management of those nsks Operational nsk 1s thus controlled
through a netwark of controls, procedures, reports and responsibilites  In
addition to the quarterly firm-level CARMC meetings covenng operational nisk,
operational nsk exposures are discussed at dwisional nsk management
commitiees, which have senior staff representatives from all the relevant
functions The Bank utiizes a number of firm-wide tools for the management,
measurement, montoring and reporting of operational nsk These include  self-
assessments, the callection, reporhng and analysis of internal and external loss
data, and key nsk indicator reporting

The Bank has employed the same methodology to calculate ERC for operational
nsk since 2000 and plans to use a similar methodology for the Advanced
Measurement Approach under the Basel Il Accord This methodology is based upon
the identification of a number of key nsk scenarios that describe all of the majar
operational nsks that the Bank faces Groups of semior staff review each
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scenano and discuss the likelihood of occurrence and the potenbil severity of loss
Internal and external loss data, along with certain busimess environment and internal
control factors (for example, self-assessment resulis and key risk indicators) are
considered as part of this process Based on the output from these meetings, the
Bank enters the scenano probabilities and seventies into an event model that
generates a loss distnbution Insurance mitigation 1s included 1n the capital
assessment where appropnate, by considering the level of insurance coverage for
each scenario, Incorporating haircuts as appropnate Based on the loss distnbution,
the level of capital required to cover operational nsk can then be calculated

Legal risk

The Bank faces significant legal nsks in its segments and business areas The
financial services Industry is operating in a challenging legal and regulatory
environment with a tigh level of scrutiny from regutators and clients around the
world The volume and amount of damages claimed 1n itigation, and the penalties
and fines sought by regulators aganst financial services firms, are increasing
substantially

Legal nsks in the investment banking business include, among other things,
disputes over the terms of irades and other transactions in which the Bank acts
as principal, potential liability under secunties law or other law for matenally false
or misleading statements made in connection with transactions in which the Bank
acts as underwriter, placement agent or financial adviser, potential hability for the
“fairness opinions” and other advice the Bank provides to participants in corporate
transactions, disputes over the terms and conditions of complex trading
arrangements, disputes over sales and trading practices, and disputes concerning
the adequacy or enforceability of documents relating to some of the Bank's
transactions The Bank faces the possibility that counterparties in complex or nisky
trading transactions will claim that the Bank improperly falled to inform them of
the nsks or that they were not authorzed or permitted fo enter into these
transactions with the Bank and that thewr obligations to the Bank are not
enforceable The Bank is also subject to clams ansing from disputes with
employees for, among other things, discnmination or harassment These nsks often
may be difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magniiude often
remain unknown for substanhal penods of time

The Bank seeks to minimize legal nsk through the adoption of compliance and
other policies and procedures, continual refinement of controls ever business
practices and behavior, extensive employee training sessions, the use of
appropnate legal documentation and the involvement of the legal and complance
department and outside legal counsel

Changes In laws, rules or regulations affecting the Bank's operations, or n the
interpretation or enforcement of such laws, rules and regulations, may adversely
affect its results The Bank may be matenally affected not only by regutations
applicable to 1t as a financial senices company, but also by regulations of general
apphcation

Risk management
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Reputational risk

The Bank's policy 1s to avoid any actien or transaction that brings with it a
potentially unaccepiable level of nsk of damage to the Bank’s reputation

Reputational nsks may anse from a vanety of sources, including the nature or
purpose of a proposed transacton, the identity or nature of a potential client, the
regulatory or political cimate 1n which the business will be transacted or significant
public attention surrounding the transaction rtself Where the presence of these
or other factors gves rise to potential reputational nsk for the Bank, the relevant
business proposal 15 required to be submitted to the Reputational Risk Review
Process This involves a vetting of the proposal by senior management and iis
subsequent referral to one of the Reputational Risk Approvers, each of whom 1s
independent of the business segments and who has authonty to approve, reject
orimpose conditions on the Bank's participation
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Consohdated financial statements

Consolidated statements of income

Reference to
Year ended December 31,0 CHF m notes 2008 2005 2004
Interest and dvidend income 5 49,392 36,361 25,637
Interest expense 5 (43,423) (28822) (18363
Net interest iIncome 5 5,969 6,539 7,274
Commussions and fees 7 16,379 13,273 192,353
Trading revenues [§ 9,162 5,693 3,505
COiher revenues 7 5,102 3,626 2,638
Total noninterest revenues 30,643 22,592 18,496
Net revenues 36,612 29,131 25,770
Provision for ¢credit losses (97) (134) 70
Compensatien and benefits 7 15,132 13,444 11,650
Other expenses 7 8,776 9,635 7677
Total aperating expenses 23,908 22,979 19,327
Income from continuing operations before taxes, minority interests,
extraordinary tems and cumulative effect of accounting changes 12,801 6,286 6,373
Income tax expense 21 2,137 658 1,106
Minonty interests 3,620 2,064 1,113
Income from continuing operabions before extraordinary items
and cymulative effect of accounting changes 7.044 3,563 4,154
Exiraordinary items, net of tax @249 0 0
Cumulatve effect of accounting changes, net of tax [} 12 {18}
Net income 7,020 3,575 4,138

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financral statements are an integral part of these statements
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Consolidated balance sheets

Caonsolidated financiaf statements

Reference to
Degember 31,0 CHF m notes 2006 2005
Assels
Cash and due from banks 27,865 19,945
Inferest-beanng deposits with banks 3,910 4,245
Central bank funds sold, secunties purchased under resale agreements and secunties borrowing transactions 8 318,572 352,703
Secunties recewved as colfateral 32,310 23,791
Trading assets 6 449,422 412,097
of which encumbered 141,404 151,785
Investment secunties 9 20,304 24,163
of which encumbered 54 2,080
Other investments 10 20,188 9,761
Loans, net 11 190,883 169,599
Allowances for loan lasses 1,305 1,965
Premises and equipment 12 5,443 5,084
Goodwill 13 9,889 10,471
Other intangible assets 14 475 451
Other assets 16 147,503 97,506
of which encumbered 26,426 4,860
Total agsets 1,226,764 1,130,756

Liabiities and shareholder's equity

Deposits 17 384,224 347,33%
Central bank funds purchased, secunties sold under repurchase agreements and secunties lending transactions 8 288,442 309,777
Obligation 1o retum secuntes recened as collateral 32,310 23,791
Trading habiities 6 197,936 194,204
Shart-term borrowings 16,287 16,291
of which reporied at far value 2,764 -
Long-term debt 18 144021 126,860
of which reported at far value 44,208 -
Other labilities 19 117,836 78,423
Mincnty interests 18,963 9,283
Total habilihes 1,200,719 1,104,968
Share capital 4,400 4,400
Additional paid-in capital 19,593 18,770
Retaned eamings 11,652 7,045
Treasury shares, at cost (6,149} (1,899)
Accurmulated other comprehensive income/(loss) 20 (3,451) (2,530}

Total shareholder’s equity

26,045 26,788

Total kabilities and shareholder’s equity

1,226,764 1,130,756

Commitments and conlingencies ¢efer to notes 21, 26 and 31

2006 2005

Additional share information
Par value, in CHF

100 00 10000

Shares 1ssued

43,996,652 43,996,652

The accompanying notes to the consalidated financial statements are an Integral part of these statements
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Statements of changes in shareholder’s equity

Accumulated

other

Additonal Treasuy  compiehen-

Common shares Common pad-n Retaned shares, swve rcome/
in CHF m, except common shares outstanding outstanding shares capital camngs atcost ? (loss} Total
Balance December 31, 2003 43,996,662 4,400 19,499 1,745 (2,431) (2,462} 20,751
Net income - - - 4,138 - - 4,138
Other comprehenswe income/(loss), net of tax - - - - - (847T) (847}
Repurchase of treasury shares - - - - (1.414) - (1,414
Share-based compensation - - (144 - 714 - 570
Cash dwidends pad - - - (510) - - (5100
Other® - - (619) n - - {620)
Balance December 31, 2004 43,096,652 4,400 18,736 5,372 (3,131) (3,309) 22,068
Net income - - - 3,575 - - 3,575
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax - - - - - 7T 777
Repurchase of treasury shares - - - - (171} - (7Y
Share-based compensation - - 30 - 1,407 - 1,437
Cash dwidends paid - - - (1,802) - - (1,902)
Cther - - 4 - - - 4
Balance December 31, 2005 43,896,602 4,400 18,770 7,045 (1,895) {2,532) 25,788
Net income - - - 7,020 - - 7,020
Cumulatve effect of accounting changes, net of tax - - - 45 - (306) (261)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax - - - - - (613) (613)
Issuance of treasury shares - - 4) - - - 4)
Repurchase of treasury shares - - - - (4,664} - (4,664)
Share-based compensation - - 846 - 410 - 1,256
Dwidends on share-based compensation - - (19) - - - 19
Cash dwidends paid - - - (2,458) - - (2,458)
Balance December 31, 2006 43,996,652 4,400 19,593 11,652 (6,149) (3,451) 26,045

Y The Bank s total share capdai consists of 43,996,652 regstered shares with nominal vaiue of CHF 100 00 per share and 15 fully pad Each share 1s entitled to one vote The Bank has
no wammanis or corvertible nghts on its own shares outstanding 2 Reflects Credt Swisse Group shares which are reported as treasury shares Those shares are held fo economically
hedge share award obligatons 3 Sybstanbally relates to the deconsolidation of vanable interest entibes under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No
46 as revised (FIN 46(R))

Comprehensive income

Year ended December 31 in CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Net income 7,020 3,575 4,138
Other comprehensive ncome/{loss), net of tax €13 77 847)
Comprehensive income 6,407 4,352 3,291

The accompanying notes io the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

Consolidated financiat statements

Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Operating activities of continuing operations

Net ncome 7,020 3,575 4,138
Income from continuing operations 7,020 3,575 4,138
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash prowvided by/(used in)

operating activities of conttnuing operations

Impairment, depreciation and amortization 288 894 974
Provision for credit losses [¢:14] (134} 70
Deferred tax provision 585 (595) (297)
Share of net income {rom equity methed investments 2 (54) (69)
Cumulatve effect of accounting changes, net of tax [H (12 16
Trading assets and habilibes (25,848) (7,249}  (48,799)
(Increase)/decrease n accrued interest, fees recevable and other assets (60,763) {30,027 (27.804)
Increase/{decrease) n accrued expenses and other liabilibes 28,294 6,095 20,666
Other, net 2,227 1,004 514
Tota! adjustments (54,632) (30,072) (54,728)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities of continuing operations (47,592) (26,497) (B0,591)
Investing activities of continuing operations

{Increase)/decrease in Interest-beanng deposits with banks 330 (571) 206

{Increase)/decrease In central bank funds sold, secunties purchased under resale agreements

and secuniies borrawing transactions 9,841  (47,562) (29.672)
Purchase of investment secunbes (1,641) (12,409) (16,336)
Praceeds from sale of invesiment secunties 1,234 412 1,226

Maturbes of rvestment secunties 3,533 6,081 20,481

Investments in subsidianes and other mvestments (6,541)  (2203) {2281
Proceeds from sale of other investments 1,705 1,483 1,637

(Increase)/decrease In loans (26,477) (17,957) (9,669)
Praceeds from sales of loans 3,142 2,158 1,994

Capital expenditures for premises and equipment and intangible assets (1,488) {901) (806)
Praceeds from sale of premises and equipment and intangible assels 34 44 6

Other, net a5 261 (144)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing actvbes of continuing operations (16,233)  (71,254) (34,028)

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements

Credit Suisse Annua! Report 2008 33



Consohdated financat statements

Consolidated statements of cash flows - continued

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004

Financing activities of continuing operations

Increase/(decrease) in deposits 51,154 40,790 44,029

Increase/(decrease) n short-term borrowings 483 (936) 3,168

Increase/(decrease) n central bank funds purchased, secunties sokd under repurchase

agreements and secunties lending transactions (1,392) 36,976 21,204

Issuances of long-term debt 76,596 51,170 39,520
Repayments of long-term debt (49,402) (29,110) {(16,306)
Issuance of treasury shares [CY) 0 0
Repurchase of treasury shares (4,664) (71} (1,414)
Dwvidends paid/capital repayments (including minonty interesi and trust preferred secunties) (2,528) (1,804) (513)
Other, net 1,970 84) (481)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities of continuing operahons 72,213 86,730 89,207
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and due frem banks (468) 3,260 (2,118)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and due from banks 7,920 2,239 2,470
Cash and due from banks at beginrung of year 19,945 17,706 15,236
Cash and due from banks at end of year 27,865 19,945 17,706
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash pad during the year for income taxes 1,481 1,586 1,119
Cash pad dunng the year for interest 41,609 27,892 18,210
Assets acquired and liabilittes assumed in business acquisitions

Fair value of assets acquired 199 1,554 159

Far value of liabiities assumed 199 1,364 76
Assets and liabiliies sold in business divestitures

Assets scld [+] 0 65
Liabilities sofd 0 51

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial

statements

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Credit Suisse (the Bank)
are prepared In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (US GAAP) and are stated in Swiss francs (CHF) The
financial year for the Bank ends on December 31 Certain reclassifications have
been made to the prior year’s cansohdated financial statements to conform to the
current year's presentation and had no impact on Net mcome or Total shareholder’s

equity

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management 1s required to
make estimates and assumphons that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilties and the disclosure of contingent assets and habilites at the dates of the
consolidated balance sheets and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
dunng the reporting penod Actual results could differ from those estimates

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Bank
and its subsidiaries The Bank's subsidiaries are entities in which 1t holds, directly
or indirectly, mare than 50% of the voting nights or where it exercises control The
Bank also consolidates variable interest entittes (VIEs) where the Bank 1s the
primary beneficiary in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No 46, as revised (FIN 46(R)) The effects of
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated

The Bank accounts for imvestments in which it has the ability to exercise sigmificant
influence, which generally are investments in which the Bank holds 20% to 50%
of the voting nghts, using the equity method of accounting These investments are
classified as Other investments, while the Bank's share of the profit or loss, as
well as any imparment losses on the investee, if applicable, are included n Other
revenues

Where a Bank subsidiary 1s a separate legal entity and determined to be an
investment company as defined under the American Institute of Certfieg Public
Accountants (AICPA) Investment Company Guide, interests in other entities held
by this Bank subsidiary are not consolidated and carred at fair value

Foreign currency translation

Transactons denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
related entity are recorded by remeasuring them in the functional currency of the
related entity using the foreign exchange rate on the date of the transaction At
the dates of the consolidated balance sheets, monetary assets and habilities, such
as recewvables and payables, are reported using the year-end spot foregn
exchange rates Foreign exchange rate differences are recorded in the
consolidated statement of iIncome

For the purpose of consclidation, the assets and habiites of the Bank’s
companies with functional currencies other than CHF are translated into CHF
equivalents using year-end spot foreign exchange rates, whereas revenues and
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expenses are translated using the weighted average foreign exchange rate for the
year Translation adjustments ansing from consolidation are included in
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (ACCI) wathin Total shareholder’s

equity

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly Iquid instruments with onginal
maturities of three months or less, which are held for cash management
purposes For purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the Bank’s
cash and cash equivalents are cash and due from banks

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements

Purchases of securities under resale agreements (reverse repurchase agreements)
and secunties sold under agreements to repurchase substantially identical
secunties (repurchase agreements) normally do not constitute economic sales and
are therefore treated as collateralized financing transactions and are camed at the
amount of cash disbursed or received, respectively Reverse repurchase
agreements are recorded as collateralized assets while repurchase agreements are
recorded as labillies, with the underying secuntes sold continuing to be
recognized In Trading assets or lnvestment securities Assets and liabiliies
recorded under these agreements are accounted for on an accrual basis, with
inferest earned on reverse repurchase agreements and interest incurred on
repurchase agreements reported in Interest and dividend tncome and Interest
expense, respectively Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements are
netted if they are with the same counterparty, have the same matunty date, settle
through the same clearing insiitution and are subject to the same master netting
agreement

Secunities lending and borrowing (SLB) transactions

Securties borrowed and securities loaned that are cash-callateralized are included
in the consolidated balance sheets at amounts equal to the cash advanced or
receved W securities received in an SLB transaction as collateral may be sold or
re-pledged, they are recorded as secunties recewed as coliateral and a
corresponding kability to return the secuntty I1s recorded Fees and interest recewved
or pad are recorded in Inferest and diwdend mcome and Inferest expense,
respectively, on an accrual basis

Trading assets and habilities

Trading assets and labiities include debt and equity secunties, derivative
instruments, loans held in broker/dealer entities, commodities and precious metals
[tems mncluded in the trading portfolio are carned at farr value and classified as held
for trading purposes based on management's intent for the indwidual tem Regular-
way security transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis

Fair value 1s defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a
llability settied between knowledgeable, willing parties 1 an arm's-length
transaction other than an involuntary hquidation or distressed sale Quoted market
prces are used, when avallable, to measure far value In cases where quoted
market prices are not avatable, fair value 1s eshmated using valuation models that
consider prices for similar assets or similar liabilibes and other valuation
techniques

Unrealized and realized gains and losses on trading positions, including amortization

of the premum/discount ansing at acquisition of debt secunities, are recorded in
Trading revenues
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Derivatives

Freestanding dervative contracts are carried at far value in the consolidated
balance sheets regardless of whether these mstruments are held for trading or nsk
management purposes Commitments fo onginate mortgage loans that will be held
for sale are considered denvatives for accounting purposes When derivative
feaiures embedded i certain contracis that meet the definition of a dervative are
not considered clearly and closely related to the hest instrument, either the
embedded feature, is accounted for separately at far value or the entire contract,
including the embedded feature, 1s accounted for at far value In both cases,
changes in farr value are recorded in the consolidated statement of income Once
separated, the dervative 1s recorded 1n the same line item in the consolidated
balance sheet as the host instrument

Denvatives classtfied as trading assets and liabilities include those held for trading
purposes and those used for nisk management purposes that do not qualify for
hedge accounting Denvatives held for trading purposes anse from proprietary
trading actwity and from customer-based actwity Changes in realized and
unrealized gains and losses and interest flows are included in Trading revenues
Denvative contracts designated and gualfying as far value hedges, cash flow
hedges or net investment hedges are reported as Other assets or Other kabilities
and hedge accounting 1s apphed

Farr values recorded for denvative instruments do not indicate tuture gans or
losses, but rather the unrealized gains and losses from valuing all dervatives at a
particular point in time  The fair value of exchange-traded denvatives 1s typically
derwed from observable market prices and/or observable market parameters Farr
values for over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives are determined on the basis of
internally developed proprietary models using vanous input parameters Where the
input parameters cannot be validated using observable market data, reserves are
established for unrealized gans and losses evident at the inception of the contracts
so that no gain or loss 1s recorded at inception Such reserves are amorhzed to
income over the life of the instrument or released into iIncome when observable
market data becomes avallable Derwative contracts are recorded on a net basis
per counterparty, where an enforceable master neting agreement exisis Where
no such agreement exists, replacement values are recorded on a gross basis

Where hedge accounting 1s applied, the Bank formally documents all relationships
between hedging instruments and hedged items, including the nsk management
objectives and strategy for undertaking hedge transactons At inception of a hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the hedge relationship 1s formally assessed to determine
whether the dernvatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes 1n far values or cash flows of hedged items atinbutable to
the hedged nsk The Bank discontinues hedge accounting prospectively in the
following circumstances

() 1t 1s determined that the dervative 1s no longer effective in offsetting changes
in the far value or cash flows of a hedged tem (ncluding forecasted
transachions),

(1) the denvative expires or 1s sold, terminated, or exercised,

() the dernvative 1s no longer designated as a hedging instrument because 1t 1s
unlikely that the forecasted transaction will occur, or

() the Bank otherwise determines that designation of the derivative as a hedging
instrument 1s no longer appropnate

For denvatives that are designated and qualfy as far value hedges, the carrying
value of the underlying hedged items 1s adjusted to farr value for the nsk being
hedged Changes in the farr value of these derivatives are recorded in the same
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line item of the consolidaied statement of income as the change n far value of
the nsk being hedged for the hedged assets or habilities to the exient the hedge
is effective The change in farr value representing hedge ineffectiveness 1s recorded
separately in Trading revenues

When the Bank discontinues farr value hedge accounting because 1t determines
that the denvative no longer qualifies as an effective fair value hedge, the denvative
will continue to be carned in the consolidated balance sheets at its fair value, and
the hedged asset or liabifity will no longer be adjusted for changes in farr value
attnbutable to the hedged nsk Interest-related fair value adjustments made to the
underlying hedged items will be amortized to the consolidated statement of income
over the remaining life of the hedged item Any unamortized interest-related farr
value adjustment 15 recarded in the consolidated statement of income upon sale
or extinguishment of the hedged asset or lability, respectively Any other farr value
hedge adjustments remam part of the carrying amount of the hedged asset or
hability and are recognized in the consolidated statement of income upon
disposition of the hedged item as part of the gain or loss on disposition

For hedges of the variability of cash flows from forecasted transactions and floating
rate assets or hiabilities, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of a
designated denvative 1s recarded in AOC! These amounts are reclassified into the
line item In the consolidated statement of income in which the hedged 1tem 15
recorded when the vanable cash flow from the hedged ttem impacts earmings (e g ,
when penodic settlements on a vanable rate asset or liabiity are recorded in the
consolidated statement of income or when the hedged item 1s disposed of) The
change In fair value representing hedge ineffectiveness 1s recorded separately in
Trading revenues

When hedge accounting i1s discontinued on a cash flow hedge, the net gain or loss
will remain in AOCI and be reclassified into the consolidated statement of income
in the same period or perods dunng which the formerly hedged transaction 1s
reported in the consolidated statement of income When the Bank discontinues
hedge accounting because it s probable that a forecasted transacton will not occur
within the specified date or period plus two months, the dernvative will continue to
be carried in the consolidated balance sheets at its fair value, and gains and fosses
that were previously recorded in AOC! will be recogmzed immediately in the
caonsolidated statement of income

For hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, the change in the fair value
of the hedging denvative is recorded 1n AOC, to the extent the hedge 1s effective
The change in fair value representing hedge ineffectiveness 1s recorded in Trading
revenues The Bank uses the forward method of determining effectiveness for net
investment hedges, which results in the time value portion of a foreign currency
forward being reported in AOC!, to the extent the hedge 1s effective

Investment securities

Investment securies include debt secunties classified as held-to-matunty and debt
and marketable equity secunities classified as available-for-sale Regular-way
security transactions are recorded on a trade date basis

Debt secunties where the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold such
secunties to matunty are classified as such and are carrted at amortized cost, net
of any unamortized premium or discount

Debt and equity secunties classified as available-for-sale are carned at fair value

Unrealized gains and losses, which represent the difference between fair value and
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amortized cost, are recorded in AOC! wathin Total shareholder’s equity Amounts
reported in ACC!I are net of income taxes

Amortzation of premiums or discounts is recorded in Inferest and dividend ncome
using the effective yield method through the maturity date of the secunty Gains
or losses on the sales of securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded in
Realized gains/(losses) from mvestment secunties, net at the time of sale on the
basis of the weighted average methed

Recognition of an impairment loss on debt securiies 1s recorded in the consclidated
statement of income If a decline In far value below amorhzed cost 1s considered
other-than-temporary, that 1s, amounts due according to the contractual terms of
the secunty are not considered collectible, typically due to a detenoration in the
creditworthiness of the 1ssuer No imparment Is recorded in connection with
dechnes resutting from changes in market interest rates to the extent the Bank
has the intent and ability to hold the debt secunty for a reasonable pernod of time
sufficient far a forecasted recovery of the decline in market value below cost

Recogmtion of an impairment loss on equity securites 1s recorded in the
consolidated statement of income If a decline n fair value below the cost basis of
an investment 1s considered other-than-temporary The Bank generally considers
unrealized losses on equity secunities to be other-than-temporary if the fair value
has been below cost for more than six months or by more than 20%

Recognition of an impairment loss for debt or equity securities establishes a new
cost basis, which 1s not adjusted for subsequent recoveries

Unrealized losses on avallable-for-sale secunities are recognized in the consolidated
statement of income when a decision has been taken to sell a secunty

Other investments

Other investments include equity method investments and non-marketable equity
secunties such as private equity and restricted stock investments, certan
investments 1n non-marketable mutual funds for which the Bank has neither
significant influence nor control over the investee, and real estate held for
investment

The valuation for non-marketable equity secunties depends on the type of entity
in which the securities are held Non-marketable equity secunties held by the
Bank’s subsidiaries that are determined to be investment companies as defined
in the AICPA Investment Company Guide or broker/deater entities, in each case,
to the extent held by separate legal entites, are carned at their estmated far value,
with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of income The
Bank's other non-marketable equity secunties are carried at cost less other-than-
temporary impairment

Real estate held for investment 1s carned at cost less accumulated depreciation
and 1s depreciated over its estmated useful life, generally 40 to 67 years Land
1s carned at historical cost and 1s not depreciated

Loans

Loans held-io-matunty

Loans which the Bank intends to hold untl matuniy are carned at ouistanding
principal balances and past due interest, net of the following items unamartized
premiums, discounts on purchased loans, deferred loan ongination fees and direct
loan ongination costs on onginated loans Interest income 1s accrued on the unpaid
principal balance and net deferred premiums/discounts and fees/costs are
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generally amortized as an adjustment to the loan yield over the term of the related
loans

Allowance for loan losses on loans held-to-matunty

The Allowance for loan losses 1s compnised of two components probable credit
losses tnherent in the portfolio and those losses specifically identified Changes
in the Allowance for loan losses are recorded in the consclidated statement of
income In Provision for credit fosses and in Interest income (for provisions on past
due interest)

Many factors can affect the Bank's estimate of the Allowance for loan losses,
including volatility of default probabilities, rating migrations and estimated loss
seventy The component of the allowance representing probable losses inherent
in the portfolto 1s for loans not specifically \dentified as impared, which, on a
portfolio basis, are considered 1o contain probable inherent loss The estimation
of this component of the allowance for the consumer portfolio involves applying
histoncal loss expenence, adjusted to reflect current market condmions, to
homogenous loans based on nisk rating and product type To estimate this
component of the allowance for commercial loans, the Bank segregates loans by
nsk, industry or country rating Excluded from this estimation process are
consumer and commercial loans that have been specifically identified as impaired
For lending-related commitments, a provision for losses 1s estimated based on
historical loss and recovery expenence, which I1s recorded in Other habilitres
Changes in the estimated calculation of josses for lending-related commitments
are recorded in the consolidated statement of income in Provision for credit losses

The estimate of the component of the allowance for specifically identified credit
losses on impaired loans is based on a regufar and detailed analysis of each loan
i the portfolio considenng collateral and counterparty sk The Bank considers
a loan 1mparred when, based on current information and events, it i1s probable that
the Bank will be unable to collect the amounts due according to the contractual
terms of the loan agreement For certain non-collateral dependent impaired loans,
impairment charges are measured using the present value of estmated future cash
flows For collateral dependent impaired loans, impairment charges are measured
using the value of the collateral

A loan 1s classified as non-performing no later than when the contractual
payments of principal and/or interest are more than 90 days past due However,
management may deterrine that a loan should be classified as non-performing
notwithstanding that contractual payments of principal and/or interest are less than
90 days past due For non-performing loans, for any accrued but unpaid interest
at the date the loan 1s classified as non-performing, a provision is recorded in the
amount of the accrual, resulting 1n a charge to the consoldated statement of
income In addrtion, the Bank continues to add accrued interest recevable to the
loans balance for collection purposes, however, a provision 1$ recorded resuliing
in no interest income recogniton On a regular basis thereafter, the outstanding
principal balance 1s evaluated for collectibility and a provision 1s established, as
necessary

A loan can be further downgraded to noninterest-earning when the collection of
interest 1s considered so doubtful that further accrual of interest 1s deemed
tnappropnate At that time, and on a regular basis thereafter, the outstanding
principal balance, net of provisions previously recorded, 1s evaluated for collechbility
and additional provisions are established as required Wnte-off of a loan cccurs
when 1t 1s considered certain that there 1s no possibilty of recovenng the
outstanding principal Recoveries of loans previously written off are recorded based
on the cash or estimaled fair market value of other amounts received
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The amortization of net loan fees or costs on impaired loans s generally
discontinued duning the pencds in which matured and unpaid interest or principal
1s outstanding On settlement of a loan, if the loan balance 1s not colfected 1n full,
an allowance 15 established for the uncollected amount, if necessary, and the loan
15 then written off, net of any deferred loan fees and costs

Interest collected on non-performing loans and neninterest-earning loans 1s
accounted for using the cash basis or the cast recovery methed or a combination
of both, as appropriate

Generally, a non-performing loan may be restored to performing status only when
delinquent principal and interest are brought up to date in accordance with the
terms of the loan agreement and when certain performance cntena are met

Lease financing transactions where the Bank 1s the lessor are classified as Loans
Unearned income 1s amortized to Inferest and dividend income over the lease term
using the effective interest method

Loans held-for-sale

Loans, which the Bank has the intent and ability to sell in the foreseeable future,
are considered held-for-sale and are carned at the lower of amortized cost or
market value determined on erther an indwvidual method basss, or in the aggregate
for pools of similar loans if sold or secuntized as a poot Loans held-for-sale are
included in Other assets

Purchased impaired loans

Purchased loans for which it 1s probable at acquisition that all contractually required
payments will not be received are recorded at their net purchase price and no
allowances are carried over The excess of the estimated cash flows to be collected
over the amount paid 1s accreted into interest income over the estimated recovery
penod when reasonable estimates can be made about the timing and amount of
recovery The Bank does not consider such {oans to be impaired at the time of
acquisition Such loans are deemed impaired only after acquisition if the Bank's
estimate of cash to be recewed decreases below the estimate that existed at the
time of acquisttion Increases in the estimated expected recovery 15 recorded as
a reversal of allowances, If any, and then recognized as an adjustment of the
effective yield of the loan

Premises and equipment

Premises are carrnied at cost less accumulated depreciation and are depreciated
over their estmated useful hives, generally 40 to 67 years Land 1s carned at
historical cost and 1s not depreciated Alterations and improvements to rented
premises are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful
lves Other tangible fixed assets such as computers, machinery, furmishings,
vehicles and other equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over
therr estimated useful lives, generally three to five years

The Bank capitalizes costs relating to the acquisition, installation and development
of software with a measurable economic benefit, but only if such costs are
identifiable and can be rehably measured The Bank depreciates capitalized
software costs on a straight-ine basis over the estimated useful life of the
software, generally not exceeding three years, taking into consideration the effects
of obsolescence, technology, competition and other economic factors

The Bank reflects finance leasing activities for which it 1s the lessee by recording
an asset in Premises and equipment, and a corresponding liability in Other habilities
at an amount equal to the smaller of the present value of the minmum lease
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payments or fair value, and the leased asset 1s generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset's estimated useful ife or the lease term

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired entity over
the estimated fair value of its net assets acquered at the acquisition date Goodwill
is not amorbzed, rather it 1s tested for iImparment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances mdicate that Goodwilf may be impaired
Goodwill 1s allocated to the Bank's reporting units for the purposes of the
impairment test

Other intangible assets may be acquired mdmadually or as part of a group of assets
assumed in a business combination Other intangible assets include but are not
hmited to patents, icenses, copynghts, trademarks, branch networks, mortgage
servicing nghts, customer base and deposit relationships Acquired intangible
assets are intially measured based on the amount of cash disbursed or the farr
value of other assets distrbuted Other infangible assets that have a finite useful
Iife are amortized over that period Other intangible assets acquired after January
1, 2002, that are determined to have an indefinite useful life, are not amortized
Beginning January 1, 2006, mortgage servicing nghts are included in Unamortized
other intangible assets and are carried at far value, with changes recognized
through earnings in the penod in which they occur Prior to this date, morigage
servicing nights were classified as Amortized other intangible assels Mortgage
servicing nghts represent the nght to perform specified mortgage servicing
activities on behalf of third parties Mortgage servicing nghts are either purchased
from third parties or retained upon sale of acquired or onginated loans

Recognition of impairment losses on tangible fixed assets and other
intangible assets

The Bank evaluates Premises and equipment and Other intangible assets for
impairment losses at least annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable If the
asset 1s considered not to be recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded in Other
expenses to the extent the fair value of the asset 15 less than its carrying amount
Recognition of an impairment loss on such assets establishes a new cost base,
which 1s not adjusted for subsequent recoveres in value

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and labiliies are recorded for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and labihties at the dates of the consolidated balance sheets and their respective
tax bases Deferred tax assets and habilities are computed using currently enacted
tax rates and are recorded in Other assets and Other habilihes, respectively Income
tax expense or benefit is recorded 0 Income tax expense/(benefit), except to the
extent the change relates to transactions recorded directly in Total shareholder’s
equity Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance, if necessary, to
the amount that management believes will more likely than not be realized
Deferred tax assets and labilihes are adjusted for the effect of changes in tax laws
and rates in the period in which changes are approved by the relevant authonty
Deferred tax assets and llabilities are presented on a net basis for the same tax-
paying component within the same tax junsdiction

For further information on the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which

1s effective as of January 1, 2007, see note 2 “Recently 1ssued accounting
standards — FIN 48 "
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Life settlement contracts

Life settlement contracts are initially recognized at the transachion price and are
recorded in Trading assets unless the Bank elects to apply the investment method
Subsequently, the contracts which are not accounted for under the investment
method are carmed at fair value

Under the investment method, the contracts are inihally recognized at the
transaction price plus any directly related external costs and are recorded n Other
investments Subsequently, all continuing premium payments made are capitalized
unless the aggregated carrying value exceeds far value in which case an
imparment allowance is established such that the carrying value does not
exceed far value

Other assets

Derivative instruments used for hedging

Denvative tnstruments are carned at far value The farr values of dervative
instruments held for hedging are included as Other assets or Other habilities in the
consolidated balance sheets The accounting treatment used for changes in fair
value of hedging derivatwves depends on the designation of the denvative as erther
a farmr value hedge, cash flow hedge or hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation Changes in fair value representing hedge ineffectiveness are reported
in Trading revenues

Other Labilities

Guaraniees

In cases where the Bank acts as a guarantor, the Bank recognizes in Other
habilitres, at the inception of a guarantee, a labiily for the farr value of the
obligations undertaken n 1ssuing such a guarantee, including tts ongoing
obligation to perform over the term of the guarantee in the event that certan events
or conditions occur

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

Credit Suisse Group sponsors a Group defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland
that covers eligible employees of the Bank domicted in Switzerland The Bank also
has single-employer defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension
plans in Switzertand and other countries around the world

For the Bank’s participation in the Group defined benefit pension plan, no
retirement benefit obligation 1s recognized in the consolidated balance sheet of the
Bank and defined contribution accounting 1s applied, as the Bank 1s not the
sponsoring enbity of the Group plan

For single-employer defined benefit plans, the Bank uses the projected uni credit
actuanal method to determine the present value of its projected benefit obligations
and the current and past service costs related to its defined benefit and other post-
retirement benefit plans The measurement date used by the Bank tc perform the
actuanal revaluabons 1s September 30

Certain key assumptions are used in performing the actuanal valuations These
assumphions must be made concerning the future events that wil determine the
amount and timing of the benefit payments and thus require significant judgment
and estimate by Bank management Among others, assumptions have to be made
with regard to discount rates, expected return on plan assets and salary
increases

The assumed discount rates reflect the rates at which the pension benefits could
be effectively setfled These rates are determined based on yields of high-qually
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corporate bonds currently avadable and are expected to be avallable during the
penod to maturity of the pension benefits In countries where no deep market in
high-quality corporate bonds exists, the estimate 1s based on governmental bonds
adjusted to include a nsk premium reflecting the additional nsk for corporate bonds

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1s determined on a plan-by-
plan basis, taking into account asset allacation, histoncal rate of return, benchmark
indices for similar type pension plan assets, long-term expectations of future
returns and investment strategy

Health care cost trend rates are determined by reviewing external data and the
Bank's own historical trends for health care costs Salary increases are determined
by reviewing external data

Beginning 1n 20086, the funded status of the Bank’s defined benetit postretirement
and pension plans are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet The
previously unrecognized actuarnal gains and losses, prior service costs or credits
and net transition assets or obligations are recognized in AOC! within Total
shareholder’s equity For further information, see note 2 “Recently tssued
accounting standards — SFAS 168 "

Actuanial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the projected benefit
obhigaton or the market value of plan assets and unrecognized pnor service costs
and transition obligations and assets are amortized to net penodic pension and
other post-retirement cost on a straight-ine basis over the average remaining
service Iife of active employees expected to recewe benefits

The Bank records penston expense for defined contribution plans when the
employee renders service to the company, essentially comnciding with the cash
contrtbutions to the plans

Share-based compensation

Through December 31, 2002, the Bank accounted for its employee share-based
compensation program under the intrinsic value method in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued
1o Employees” (APB 25) Under APB 25, for shares granted as compensation in
relatton to the annual bonus that vested immediately upon grant, compensation
expense was recognized in the applicable performance year in which the award
was earned For shares granted as retention incentive awards, compensation
expense was recognized over the required service penod on a straight-line basis
For share awards granted, compensation expense was measured based on the
number of shares granted and the market value of the share at the date of grant
No compensation expense was generally recogrized for share options because
they were granted with an exercise price greater than or equal to the market pnce
at the date of grant

Through December 31, 2004, the Bank accounted for all equity-based
compensation awards granted to employees and existing awards modified on or
after January 1, 2003, at far value in accordance with the fair value recognition
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No 123,
“Accounting for Stock-based Compensation (SFAS 123) as Amended by SFAS
No 148, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation — Transibion and Disclosure
— An Amendment of FASB Statement No 123" (SFAS 148) Compensation
expense was measured at the grant or modification date based on the farr value
of the award and recogmized in the consolidated statement of Income over the
required service period on a straight-line basis Share optrons outstanding as of
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December 31, 2002, if not subsequently modified, continued to be accounted for
under APB 26

Effective January 1, 2005, the Bank early adopted, using the modified prospective
method, SFAS No 123 (Revised 2004), “Accounting for Stock-based
Compensation” (SFAS 123(R)) Under the madified prospective method for all
share-based equity awards granted to employees and existing equity awards
madified on or after January 1, 2005, compensation expense 1s measured at grant
date or modification date based on the farr value of the number of awards for which
the requisite service 15 expected to be rendered and I1s recognized In the
consolidated statement of income over the required service period on a straight-
line basts For all outstanding unvested equity awards as of January 1, 2005, that
were previously accounted for under APB 25, compensation expense is measured
based on the onginal grant date farr value of the award and 1s recognized over the
remaining requisite service pertod of each award on a straight-line basis There
wauld have been no impact on Net mncome as reported in 2004 f all outstanding
awards were accounted for at far value under SFAS 123

The Bank uses the tax law ordering approach to determine the portion of the total
tax expense that relates to windfall tax benefits that are to be recorded in addttional
paid-in capital In additton, it elected to use the practical transifion option allowed
under FASB Stalf Position (FSP) No FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related
to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards,” in determining
the amount of windfall tax benefits recorded in Additional paid-m capital ansing
on awards that were fully vested prior 1o the adoption of SFAS 123(R)

Compensation costs for share-based equity awards with only a service condition
that affects vesting and that are subject to graded vesting are recognzed on a
straight-line basis over the service period for the entire award Further, upon
adoption of SFAS 123(R), recognition of compensation costs 1s accelerated to the
date an employee becomes eligible for retrement For awards granted to
retirement-elgible employees prior fo the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Bank's
palicy 1s to record compensation cost over the requisite service period

Certain employees own nonsubstantive equity interests tn the form of carried
interests in private equity funds managed by the Bank Expenses recognized under
these ownership interests are reflected in the consolidated statement of income
in Compensation and benefits

The Bank has certain option pians outstanding, primarily related to 1999 and prior
years, which include a cash settlement feature For those plans, hability award
accounting will continue to be applied until settlement of the awards

Own shares and own bonds

The Bank’s shares are whelly-owned by the Group and are not subject to trading
The Bank may buy and sell Credit Suisse Group shares, own bonds and
derivatives on Credit Suisse Group shares within its normal trading and market-
making activities In addition, the Bank may hold Credit Suisse Group shares to
physically hedge commitments ansing from employee share-based compensation
awards Credit Suisse Group shares are reported as Trading assets, unless those
shares are held to economically hedge share award obligations Hedging shares
are reported as Treasury shares, resulting in a reduction to Totaf shareholder’s
equity Denvatves on Credit Suisse Group shares are recorded as assets or
habilittes and carmed at far value Dividends receved on Credit Suisse Group
shares and unrealized and realized gains and losses on Credit Suisse Group shares
are recorded according to the classification of the shares as Trading assets or
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Treasury shares Purchases of bonds ongnally 1ssued by the Bank are recorded
as an extinguwshment of debt

Net interest income

Interest ncome and interest expense ansing from interest-beanng assets and
habilities other than those carned at far value or the lower of cost or market
(LOCOM) are accrued, and any related net deferred premwums, discounts,
origination fees or costs are amortized as an adjustment to the yield over the hife
of the related asset and lability Interest from debt secunties and dividends on
equity secunties camed as Trading assels and Trading habiities are recorded in
Interest and dividend income See *Loans* above for further information on interest
on loans

Commissions and fees

Fee revenue 1s recognized when all of the following critena have been met
persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, services have been rendered, the
price 1s fixed or determinable and collectibility 1s reasonably assured Commussions
and fees earned for investment and pertfolio management, custamer trading and
custody services are recognized at the time or over the perniod that the related
service Is provided Performance-related fees are recogmized at the end of the
measurement penod when the contractually agreed thresholds are met

Revenues from underwnting and fees from mergers and acquisitions and other
corporate finance adwisory services are recorded at the time the underlying
transactions are substanhally completed and there are no other contingencies
assocliated with the fees Transaction-relaied expenses are deferred untl the
related revenue 1s recognized

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authonties are
accounted for on a net basis

2 Recently issued accounting standards

Recently adopted accounting standards

EITF 04-5, FSP SOP 78-9-1 and EITF 96-16

In June 2005, the FASB ratified Emerging issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No 04-
5, *Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Pariners as a Group,
Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Pariners Have
Certan Rights® (EITF 04-5) EITF 04-5 provides a framework for evaluating
whether a general partner or a group of general partners controls a limited
partnership and therefore should consolidate it EITF 04-5 states that the
presumption of general pariner control would be overcome only when the imited
partners have substantive *kick-out nghts” or *participating nghts " These nghts
would allow a simple majonty of the limited partners to dissolve or liquidate the
partnership or otherwise remove the general partner ‘without cause” or effectively
participate in significant decisions made i the ordinary course of the partnership
business EITF 04-5 was effective upon ratification for all newly formed hmited
partnerships and for existing limited partnership agreementis that have been
modified The guidance was effective for the Bank with respect to existing
unmodified parinerships as of January 1, 2006

As a result of the ratification of EITF 04-5, EITF Issue No 896-16, “Investor's
Accounting for an Investee When the Investor Has a Majonty of the Voting Interest
but the Minonty Shareholder or Shareholders Have Certan Approval or Veto Rights”
(EITF 96-16) was updated and FSP No SOP 78-9-1, “Interaction of AICPA
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Statement of Position 78-9 and EITF lssue No 04-5" (FSP SOP 78-9-1) was
issued The amendments to EITF 96-16 were effective on a prospective basis upon
issuance, whereas, similar to EITF 04-5, FSP SOP 78-8-1 was effective upon
issuance for all new partnerships formed and for existing partnership agreements
modified after June 29, 2005, and was effective for the Bank wrth respect to
existing unmodtied parinerships as of January 1, 2006

The changes to EITF 96-16 and the provistons of EITF 04-5 and FSP SOP 78-
9-1 in effect dunng 2005 did not have a matenal impact on the Bank’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows As of January 1, 2006, the Bank
increased 1ts assets and habihties by CHF 8 2 billion, primanly due to the
consolidation of certain unmodified pnvate equity partnerships which existed prior
to June 29, 2005

FIN 46, FIN 46(R) and FIN 46(R)-¢

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No 46, "Consolidation of Vartable Interest
Entities - An Interpretation of ARB No 517 (FIN 46}, which requires the Bank to
consolidate all VIEs for which rt1s the pnmary beneficiary, defined as the entity that
will absorb a majonty of expected losses, receive a majonty of the expected residual
returns or both In December 2003, the FASB modified FIN 46, through the
issuance of FIN 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entihes - An
Interpretation of ARB No 51" (FIN 46(R)), to provide companies with the option
of deferning the adoption of FIN 46 to pencds ending after March 15, 2004, for
certain VIEs As of December 31, 2003, the Bank consolidated all VIEs under FIN
46 for which it 1s the primary beneficiary, with the exception of certain private equity
Investment companies, mutual funds and VIE counterparties to certain denwvatives
transactions that were subject to deferral under FIN 46(R) As a result of the
adoption of FIN 46(R) as of March 31, 2004, the Bank consalidated certan private
equity funds with third-party and employee investors, resulting in an increase n
assets and liabilities of CHF 1 5 billon The effect of inihally adopting FIN 46(R)
was reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle In the 2004
results of operations as an after-tax loss of CHF 16 million In addition, the Bank
deconsolidated certain entities that issue redeemable preferred secunbies as of
March 31, 2004 For further information on VIEs, see note 27 “Transfers and
servicing of financial assets *

In Aprit 2008, the FASB issued FSP No FIN 46(R)-6, “Determtning the
Variability to Be Considered in Applying FASB Interpretation No 46(R)" (FSP FiN
46(R)}-6) FSP FIN 4B(R)-6 provides guidance regarding how contracts or
arrangements that create or reduce vanabiity should be assessed when
determining 1if they are VIEs and when assessing the need for consoldation of
VIEs FSP FIN 46(R)-6 requires that evaluations ot the vanabiity created or
absorbed in an entity from its contracts or arrangements be based on an analysis
of the entity’s design In evaluating the design of an entity, an analysis must be
performed as to the potential nsks to which the entrty 1s exposed as well as the
nsks that the entity was designed tc create and pass along to its interest holders
based on the purpose for which the entity was formed The guidance of FSP FIN
46(R)-6 was adopted by the Bank and applied effective July 1, 2008, to all new
entities as well as entrhes previously analyzed under FIN 46(R} when a
reconstderation event occurs FSP FIN 46(R)-6 did not have a matenal impact on
the Bank's tinancial conditron, results of operations or cash flows

SFAS 154

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections — A Replacement of APB Opinion No 20 and FASB Statement No
3" (SFAS 154) SFAS 154 requrres retrospective application, unless impracticable,
to pnar-penod financial statements for voluntary changes in accounting principles
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and changes requtred by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual
crcumstances in which the proncuncement does not include specific transition
provisions This statement also requires that a change in depreciation, amortization
or depletion method for long-lived, nonfinancial assets should be accounted for
as a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in accounting principle
(1 e, as a retrospective applicatton) The gurdance for reporting the correction of
an error In previously 1ssued financial statements and the change of an accounting
estimate does not change from APB Opinion No 20, “Accounting Changes ”
SFAS 154 was effective for the Bank as of January 1, 2006 The adoption of
SFAS 154 did not have a matenal impact on the Bank's financial condition, results
ot operations or cash flows

SFAS 155

In February 2006, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybnd
Financral Instruments” (SFAS 155), which amends SFAS No 133, "Accounting
for Denvative Instruments and Hedging Activibes” (SFAS 133) and SFAS No 140,
*Accounting for Transters and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabiities” (SFAS 140) Under SFAS 155, hybrnd financial instruments which
contan embedded dervatwes that would otherwise require bifurcaton may be
accounted for at farr value, with changes in far value recognized in the
consolidated statement of income The farr value designation may be applied on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, however, the election to apply far value
accounfing s irrevocable SFAS 155 is effective for those instruments acquired
or issued on or after an entity's fiscal year beginming after September 15, 20086,
with early adoptron permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year for which an entity
has not previously 1ssued interm financial statements SFAS 155 allows limited
retrospective apphication for existing bifurcated hybnd financial instruments The
Bank elected to early adopt SFAS 155 as of January 1, 2006, and the impact of
adoption was an increase to the Bank's consolidated retained earnings of CHF 33
million, which included gross gains after tax ot CHF 119 million and gross losses
after tax of CHF 86 millon, and a corresponding decrease to the Bank's
consolidated habibes of CHF 33 milhon

SFAS 156

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No 156, “Accounting for Servicing of
Financial Assets” (SFAS 158), which amended SFAS 140 SFAS 156 requires
that ail separately recognized servicing rights after the effective date be inially
measured at far value and permits separately recognized servicing nights to be
accounted for at far value In subsequent periods with changes in fair value
recognized In the consolidated statement of income SFAS 156 permits an
irrevocable election to apply fair value measurement for classes of servicing nights
based on the different valuation and risk characteristics of the underfying assets
and the method in which the economic nisks are managed SFAS 156 1s
effective on a prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after September 15,
2006, with early adoption permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year for which
an entity has not previously 1ssued intenim financral statements SFAS 156 allows
imited retrospective application for existing separately recognized servicing
rnghts The Bank elected to early adopt SFAS 156 as of January 1, 2006 The
adoption of SFAS 156 did not have a matenal impact on the Bank’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows

FSP FTB 8§5-4-1

in March 20086, the FASB issued FSP No FTB 85-4-1, “Accounting for Life
Settlement Contracts by Third-Party Investors” (FSP FTB 85-4-1) FSP FTB 85-
4-1 allows a contract-by-contract election 1o account for life settlement contracts
on either a far value basis, with changes in far value recognized in the
consolidated statement of income, or through use of the investment method Under
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the investment method, the imtial investment and continuing costs are capitalized
and no income 1s recognized untl death of the insured party The guidance of FSP
FTB 85-4-1 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2006, with early
adoption permitted, however, upon adoption, limited retrospective application of
the measurement guidance 1s required The Bank elected to easly adopt FSP FTB
85-4-1 as of January 1, 2006, and the impact of adoption was an increase to the
Bank's consalidated assets and retained earnings of CHF 27 million

SFAS 158

In September 2006, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No 158, *Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans - An Amendment of
FASB Statements No 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)" (SFAS 1568) SFAS 158 requires
an employer to

(1) recognize in the statement cf financtal condition the funded status of a defined
benefit plan on a prospective basis,
recogruze as a component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the
actuarnal gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that anse durning the
penod but are not recognized as compenents of net periodic benefit cost
pursuant o SFAS No 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS BT)
or No 108, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than
Pensions” (SFAS 106) Amounts recognized in ACCH, including gamns or losses,
prior service costs or credits and transition assets or obligations remaining from
the inihial application of SFAS 87 and SFAS 106, are to be adjusted as they
are subsequently recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost,
() measure the defined benefit plan assets and obligations at the date of the
employer’s fiscal year-end statement of financial condition, and
() disclose in the notes to the financial statements additional information about
certain effects on net periodic benefit cost for the next fiscal year that anse
from delayed recognition of the gains or losses, prior service costs or credils
and transition asset or obligation

([

)

SFAS 158 recognition provisions associated with the funded status of a defined
benefit plan are effective as of the end of the fiscal year ending after December
16, 2008 The provision to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the
date of the employer's fiscal year-end statement of financial condition 1s effective
tor fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008, with early adoption permitted

The cumulative effect of the Bank adopting the recognitron provisions of SFAS 158
as of December 31, 2006, was an after-tax decrease in AOCI and consohdated
net assets of CHF O 3 billion For further infermation on the impact of initially
applying SFAS 158, see nate 20 “Accumulated other comprehensive income” and
note 24 “Pension and other post-retirement benefits "

The Bank did not early adopt the measurement date provisions and 1s evaluating
the impact of those provisions for adoption in 2008

SAB 108

In September 2006, the US Secunties and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued
Staft Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No 108 on Quantiiying Misstatements (SAB 108)
SAB 108 requires registrants to use both a balance sheet approach and an income
statement approach when quantifying and evaluating the matenalty of a
misstatement In addition, SAB 108 provides guidance on correcting errors under
this approach as well as providing transition guidance on correcting errors that
existed prior to apphication of SAB 108 The guidance in SAB 108 1s effective for
the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006, with early adoption
permitted The adoption of SAB 108 as of December 31, 2006, did not have a
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material impact on the Bank's financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows nor were any pnor penods restated

SOP 03-3

In December 2003, the AICPA 1ssued SOP 03-3, “Accounting for Certain Loans
or Debt Secunties Acquired in a Transfer” (SOP 03-3) SOP 03-3 provides
guidance on the accounting for differences between contractual and expected cash
flows from the purchaser's inibial investment in loans or debt securiies acquired
mn a transfer, if those differences are attnbutable, at least in part, to credit quality
Among other things, SOP 03-3

(1) prohibits the recognrhion of the excess of contractual cash flows over cash flows
expected to be collected through an adjustment of yield, loss accrual or
valuation allowance at the time of purchase,

(n) requires that subsequent increases in expected cash flows be recognized
prospectively through an adjustment of yield, and

() requires that subsequent decreases in expected cash flows be recognized as
an impairment

In addition, SOP 03-3 prohibits the creation or carrying over of a valuation
allowance in the initral accounting of all loans and debt secunities within its scope
that are acquired n a transfer SOP 03-3 became effective for the Bank as of
January 1, 20056 The adoption of SOP 03-3 did not have a matenal impact on
the Bank’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows

Standards to be adopted in future periods

FIN 48

In July 2008, the FASB issued FIN No 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109" (FIN 48) FIN 48
addresses the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions by prescribing a
consistent recognition threshold and measurement attribute for income tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in an income tax return FIN 48 also
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting 1n interim penods, disclosure and transrtion

FIN 48 requires a two-step process in evaluating income tax posiions In the first
step, an enterprise determines whether it 1s more likely than not that an income
tax posttion will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related
appeals or itigation processes, based on the technical meris of the position
Income tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are
then measured to determine the amount of benefit eligible for recognition in the
financial statements Each income tax position 1s measured at the largest amount
of benefit that 1s more hkely than not o be realized upon ultimate settlement

The provisions of FIN 48 are effeciive for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2006 The adoption of FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, did not result in a
matenal change to the Bank's financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows

SFAS 157

In September 2006, the FASB i1ssued SFAS No 157, *Fair Value Measurements”
(SFAS 157) SFAS 157 establishes a single authontative definttion of far value,
sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires additional disciosures
for instruments carned at fair value The statement applies only to farr value
measuremenis which are already required or permitted by other accounting
standards it will affect current practice by eliminating the EITF Issue No 02-3
“Issues Involved n Accounting for Denvative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes
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and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities” {(EITF
02-3) guidance which prohibits the recognition of gains or losses at the inception
of denvative transactions whose fair value 1s prnimarly estimated based upon
unobservable market data SFAS 157 will also eliminate the use of blockage
factors on nstruments that trade in an active market by brokers, dealers and
investment companies that have been applying the applicable AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guides SFAS 157 15 effective for financial statements i1ssued for fiscal
years begmning after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted The Bank
15 currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157

SFAS 158

In February 2007, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No 159, “The Far Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabiities — Including An Amendment of FASB
Statement No 115" (SFAS 159) SFAS 159 creates an alternative measurement
treatment for certamn {inancial assets and financial habilities that permits fair value
to be used for initial and subsequent measurement with changes in far value
recognized in earnings The availlability of this allernative measurement treatment
15 referred to as the far value option The statement also provides for addibional
financial statement presentation and disclosures relating to the alternative
measurement treatment SFAS 159 15 effective as of the beginning of the first
fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted
The Bank 1s currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 159

3 Business developments and subsequent events

The Bank had no significant divestitures in 2008, 2005 and 2004 The Bank had
one significant acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2006, which is
discussed below There were no significant acquisitions in 2005 and 2004

Acquisitions

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Bank signed an agreement to acquire a majornty
interest in the Brazihan asset manager Hedging-Griffo Hedging-Gniffo 1s a leading
asset management company with a large and well-established client base and also
serves high-net-worth individuals through its private banking platferm in Brazil This
transaction 15 expected to close by the middle of 2007, subject to regulatory
approval The Bank expects to acquire the remaintng interests over a period of five
years

Significant shareholders
The Group was informed through disclosure notificattons on September 19 and
20, 2006 that AXA S A 's holdings of Credit Suisse Group's shares have exceeded
5% of the voting nghts entered in the Commercial Register All outstanding shares
have the same voting nghts

Subsequent events

On March 26, 2007, Credit Suisse Group and the Bank expect to 1ssue full,
unconditional and several guarantees on a subordinated and senmior basis,
respectively, of Credit Suisse (USA), Inc's outstanding SEC-registered debt
secunbes In accordance with the guarantee, if Credit Suisse (USA), Inc fails to
make any himely payment under the agreements governing such debt securities,
the holders of the debt securnities may demand payment from either the Bank or
Credit Susse Group, without fust proceeding agawnst Credit Suisse (USA), Inc
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4 Segment information

Overview

The Bank 1s a global financial services company domiciled 1n Switzerland
Effective January 1, 2006, the Bank aligned 1ts organizational structure to its new
strategic orientation As a result of this realignment, the Bank’s business consists
of three segments Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management
The three segments are complemented by Shared Services, which provides
support tn the areas of finance, operations, legal and compliance, msk management
and iformation technology

The segment information reflects the Bank's reportable segments as follows

- Investment Banking supplies investment banking and secunties products and
services to corporate, institutional and government clients around the world
Its products and services include debt and equity underwnting, sales and
trading, mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, corporate sales, restructurning
and investment research

— Prwvate Banking offers comprehensive advice and a broad range of wealth
management solutions, including pension planning, life Insurance products, tax
planning and wealth and inhentance advice, which 1s tailored to the needs of
high-net-worth indviduals worldwide In Switzerland, 1t supplies banking
products and services to high-net-worth, corporate and retail clients

~ Asset Management supphes products from the full range of ivestment classes
(money market, fixed-income, equities, balanced and alternative investments)
to meet the needs of institutional, government and private chents globally

Minonty interest-related revenues and expenses resulting from the consolidation
of certain pnivate equity funds and other entities in which the Bank does not have
a significant econamic interest In such revenues and expenses are not reported
in the segments Net income 1s unaffected by the consolidation of these entities
due to offsetting minenty interests

For purpose of presentation of reportable segments, the Bank has included
accounts of affliate entities wholly owned by the same parent which are managed
together with the operating segments of the Bank These affiliate entities include
certain bank and trust affiiates, pnmanly managed by Private Banking Income
from continuing operations before taxes, minonty interests, extracrdinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes of these non-consolidated affiiate entities
included in the segment presentation for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 were CHF 994 milhon, CHF 791 milion and CHF 665 million,
respectively For the same periods net revenues of these non-consolidated affiliate
entibes included in the segment presentation were CHF 2,141 millon, CHF 1,855
million and CHF 1,678 million, respectively Also for the same periods, Total assets
of these non-consolidated affihate entities included in the segment presentation
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 were CHF 44 9 billan and CHF 41 2 billion
respechvely

Revenue sharnng and cost allocation

Responsibility for each product 1s allocated to a segment, which records all related
revenues and expenses Revenue-sharing agreements govern the compensation
received by one segment for generating revenue on behalf of ancther These
agreements are negotiated penodically by the relevant segments on a product-by-
product basis
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Certain administrative, finance and information technology services are managed
by a Shared Services function, while cerfain services (pnmanly processing) are
based within the segments The Shared Services function is fully allocated to the
segments In addition, supplying segments recewve compensaticn from the
recipient segment on the basis of service level agreements and transfer payments
Service level agreements are negotiated penodically with regard to each indwidual
service

The aim of the revenue-sharing and cost alfocation agreements 15 to reflect the
pricing structure of unrelated third-party transactions

Taxes
The Bank’s segments are managed and reported on a pre-tax basis

Net revenues

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2006 04
Irvesiment Banking 20,465 15,547 13,741

Prvate Banking 11,678 10,495 5,952
Asset Management 2.861 2,801 2,548
Adjustments 12 1,604 288 471)
Credit Suisse 36,612 9,131 25,770

Y Adustments represent certain consolidating entnes and balances including those relating 1o items that are managed but are not legally owned by the Bank and vice-versa and certain
expenses that were not allocated to the segments @ Includes minenty imerest-related revenues of CHF 3,663 milion, CHF 2,074 mifion and CHF 1,088 milkan n 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectvely, from the consohidation of certain prvate equity funds and other entites in which the Bank does not have a significant economic interest in such revenues

Income from continuing operations before taxes, minonty interests,
extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting changes

Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2005 2005 2004

Investment Banking 5,851 1,599 2,023

Prvate Banking 4,596 3,966 3.7

Asset Management 508 1,006 816

Adjustments v2 1,746 (285  (183)
Credit Suisse 12,801 6,288 6,373

" Ady P t certan consold: entnes and balances including thase relating to tems that are managed but are not legally owned by the Bank and wice-versa and certain

expenses that were not allocated to the segments 2 Includes minanty interest income of CHF 3,560 millon, CHF 2 042 milion and CHF 1,072 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectvely, from the consolidation of certain prvate equity funds and other entites in which the Bank does not have a sigrvficant econommic nterest in such income @ Dunng 2005 the
Bank recorded a CHF 650 million charge related to certan share-based compensation-related adjustments, which was not allacated to the segments, 1o reflect the difference between the
accounting treatment used for reporting aperating segment resuits and the treatment as per SFAS 123(R)

Total assets

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005

Investment Banking 1,046,557 957,513

Prvate Banking 340,741 208,117

Asset Management 20,448 21,572

Adjustments (180,982) (146,446)
Credit Stisse 1,226,764 1,130,756

¥ Adustments rep cerlan consclidating entnes and bal ncluding those relating to tems that are managed but are not legally owned by the Bank and vice-versa and certain
expenses that were not allocated to the segments
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Segment reporting by geographic location
The following tables set forth the consolidated resulis by geographic location,
based cn the location of the office recording the transactions This presentahon
does not reflect the way the Bank 1s managed

Net revenues

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Switzerdand 8,832 B,043 7,261
EMEA 8,002 7,054 6,360
Amencas 16,126 11,5695 10,188
Asia Pacific 2,652 2,239 1,961
Total net revenues 36,612 24,131 95,770
Income from continuing operations before taxes, minority interests,

extraordinary tems and cumulative effect of accounting changes

Yezar ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Switzerland 3,184 2,147 1,612
EMEA 2,068 1,388 1,227
Amencas 7,232 2,515 3,14
Asia Pacific 317 036 393
Income from continuing operatons before taxes, minorty interests,

extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting changes 12,801 6,286 6,373
Total assets

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Switzerland 147,137 138,738
EMEA 388,809 365,275
Amencas 578,738 522,722
Asia Pacific 112,080 104,021
Total assets 1,226,764 1,130,756

The designaton of total assets by regon is based upon costumer domicile
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5 Interest and dividend iIncome and interest expense

Tre follow.~g 1able sets fe~b e detais of interes. and g ndend ncorre a~d mnterest expense

Year ended Cecember 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Interest income on ioans £,952 5,498 4,751
Interest income on nvestment secunties 667 490 374
Interest and dvidend income on trading assets 17,554 13,764 12,331
Central bank funds sold, secunties purchased under resale agreements and secunties borrowing transactions 19,126 12,673 6,729
Cther 5,094 2,938 1,482
Total interest and dwvidend income 48,392 35,361 25,637
Interest expense on deposits (12,268) (7,416) (3,956)
Interest expense on short-term borrowings (625) (367 (386)
Interest expense on trading habiltes (6,606) (4,845) (5,255)
Central bank funds purchased, secuntes sold under repurchase agreements and secunties lending transactions (17,881) (11,677) (5,889)
Interest expense on long-term debt (4,337) (3,671) (2,410)
Other (1,706) (848) (487)
Total mnterest expense (43,423) (28,822) (18,363)
Net interest income 5,969 6,539 7.274"
6 Trading activities

Tre followi~g table sets for'h ' e detfar's of rading-related rever.es

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2008 2005 2004
Trading revenues 9,162 5,603 3,508
Interest and dwidend income on trading assets 17,554 13,764 12,331
Interest expense on trading habilbes (6,606) (4,845) (5.255)
Trading interest income, net 10,948 8,919 7,076
Total trading-related revenues 20,110 14612 10,5681
The {ollowr g table summatizes the dela « of trading acsets and nabilies

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Trading assets

Debt secunties 214,076 195,613
Equity secuntes » 148,967 137,628
Dervatve mnstruments 57,744 55,088
Other 28,635 24,657
Totatl trading assets 449,422 412,967
Trading hiabilities

Short positions 139,899 133,001
Dervatve instruments 58,037 56,203
Total trading liabtlities 197,936 194,204

¥ Includes convertble bonds
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7 Noninterest revenues and expenses

Tre following table sets forih t~e detals of comm ss ons and fees

Year enced December 31 n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Commissions from lending business 1,590 1,146 1,019
Investment and portfolie management fees 4,41 3,904 3,874
Commissions for other secunties business 174 189 166
Commissions and fees from fiduciary actmties 4,615 4,093 4,039
Underwnting fees 2,735 2,461 2,496
Brokerage fees 4,762 3,376 3,123
Commissions, brokerage, secunties underwriting and other secunties activities 7,497 5,837 5,549
Fees for other customer services 2,677 2,197 1,746
Commissions and fees 16,372 13.273 12,353

The following table seis for*h tne details of other revenues

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2008 2005 2004
Gains/(losses) from loans held-for-sale 31 62 27
Gans/(lcsses) from long-Ived assets held-for-sale 20 25 55
Income/(loss) from equity method investrents 114 271 130
Gamns/(losses) from other investments * 4,442 2,763 1,840
Other 495 615 640
Other revenues 5,102 3,626 2,638

 Pamarly non-marketable equity securties of which the mayonty 1s related to the consolidation of certan private equily funds and other enties in which the Bank does not have a
significant econemic interest in such revenues

Tre follcw~g ahle sets forh t e details of compersation and senetit.

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Salanes and bonuses 13,373 11,879 10,272
Social secunty 845 661 695
Other 914 904 683
Compensahion and benefits 15,132 13,444 11,650

The falioaimg teble sets forh the detals of other expenses

Year ended Decernber 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Occupancy expenses 861 813 809
IT, machinery, efc 500 491 475
Depreciation expenses 807 802 99
Amortizaton and imparment of other intangible assets 182 96 55
Provisiens and losses ™ (199) 1,337 275
Commission expenses 2,122 1,798 1,639
Travel and entertainment 596 527 449
Professonal services 2,129 1,856 1,577
QOther 1,778 1,815 1,479
Other expenses 8,776 9,535 7677

 Includes provisions for kigabon in 2005 and credits for insurance settiements for ikgaton and related costs in 2006
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8 Securities borrowed, lent and subject to repurchase agreements

The folicwi~g table summarnes *he securies vorrovied or purcnases uncer agreemenrTts ¢ resell, at ther iesoeciive

canying /c .85

December 21, n CHF m

2006 2005

Central bank funds sold and secunties purchased under resale agreements

170,734 208,895

Deposits pawd for secunties bomowed

147,838 143,808

Total central bank funds sold, secunties purchased under resale agreements,
and secunties borrowing transactions

318,572 352,703

The followi~g table summanzes the secunzies len® o1 sold under agreements to repurcrase, at ther respective ca g

JEUES

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Central bank funds purchased and secunties sold under agreements to repurchase 244,544 268,226
Deposits recewed for secuntes lent 43,898 41,551

Total central bank funds purchased, secunties sold under repurchase agreements,
and secunhes lending transactions

288,442 309,777

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements represent collateralized financing
transactions used to earn Net interest income, increase iquidiy or facilitate trading
activity These instruments are collateralized principally by government securities
and money market instruments and have terms ranging from overmight to a longer
or unspectfied period of time The Bank monitors the fair value of securities
received or delivered on a dally basis For reverse repurchase agreements, the
Bank requests additional securties or the return of a portion of the cash
disbursed in response to a decline In the market value of the secuntes receved

Similarly, the return of excess securities or addrtional cash I1s requested in response
to an increase In the market value of secunties sold under repurchase agreements

Secunties barrowing and secunties lending transactions are pnncipally collateralized
by cash or marketable secunties Secunties borrowed and secunities lent that are
collateralized by cash are recorded at the amount of cash advanced and received
Secunties lending transactions aganst non-cash collateral in which the Bank has
the night to resell or repledge the collateral received are recorded at the farr value
of the collateral initally receved For securties lending transactions, the Bank
receives cash or secunties collateral in an amount generally in excess of the market
value of secunties lent The Bank monitors the market value of secunties borrowed
and secunties lent on a daly basis and additional collateral s obtained as
necessary

In the event of counterparty default, the repurchase agreement or secunties lending
agreement provides the Bank with the night to iquidate the collateral held In the
Bank's normal course of business, substantally all of the collateral receved that
may be sold or repledged has been sold or repledged as of December 31, 2006
and 2005
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9 Investment securities

Tre follew ing tables summarice *he deta’s of des” ang equiy, nvestment securnues

December 3%, n CHF m

2006 2005

Debt secuntes held-io-matunty

744 2,040

Secunties avallable-for-sale

19,560 22,123

Total investment securittes

20,304 24,163

Gross Gress

Amorlzed unrealzed unrealzed
December 31 2006 = CHF m cost gans losses Farr value
Debt secunties ssued by foreign governments 744 1 0 745
Debt securihes held-to-maturity 744 1 [1] 745
Debt secunties ssued by foreign govemments 18,900 9 590 18,319
Corperale debt securibes 617 0 g 617
Other 380 10 1 389
Debt secunbes available-for-sale 19,897 19 531 19,325
Equity securthes availlable-for-sale 181 54 0 235
Secunttes available-for-sale 20,078 73 591 19,560

Gross Gross

Amertized unrealzed unrealzed
December 31 2005 n CHF m cost gans lasses Far value
Debt secunties 1ssued by foreign governments 2,040 3 1 2,b42
Debt securities held-to-matunty 2,040 3 1 2,042
Debt secunties issued by the Swiss federal, canfonal or local governmental entities 64 2 0 66
Debt secunties 1ssued by foregn governments 21,236 95 183 21,148
Corporate debt securties 664 2 0 666
Other 62 3 0 €5
Debt secunties avalable-for-sale 22,026 102 183 21,945
Equity secuntes avallable-for-sale 169 9 0 178
Securties avallable-for-sale 22,195 11 183 22,123

The following tables set fo—h gross urrealsed losses or Imestment secunbes and the e ated tair value segrega'ed by
investment categor, and ength of tiree such vestments have been 1 a continuous unrealeed loss positon

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Tatal
Gress Gross Gross
unrealred unrealized unrealzed
December 3%, 2006, n CHF m Farr vatue lesses Fair value losses Far value losses
Debt secuntes 1ssued by foreign governments 1,353 2 16,450 588 17,803 580
Other 341 1 a 0 3 1
Debt secuntes available-for-sate 1,694 3 16,450 588 18,144 531
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Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Gross Grass Gross

unreafized urwealzed unrealized

December 31 2005 n CHF m Far valee losses Far vahe losses Faur value losses
Debt secunhes ssued by foregn govemments 1,433 1 3 0 1,436 1
Debt securities held-to-matunty 1,433 1 3 0 1,436 1
Debt secunties issued by foreign governments 14,779 144 1,953 39 16,732 183
Debt secunties available-for-sale 14,779 144 1,953 39 16,732 183

Management determined that the unrealized losses on debt secunties are
prmarlly attributable to general market interest rate, credit spread or exchange rate
movements No imparrment charges were recorded as the Bank has the intent and
ability to hold the debt secunities for a reasonable penod of ime sufficient for a
forecasted recovery of the decline in market value below cost

The foliowt g table sels forth b~e proceeds from sales, ealved gains and realved losses from avalab.e-for-sale debt

anc equity secuniies

Debit secunbes Equdy secunbes
Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004 2006 2006 2004
Proceeds from sales 1,226 383 589 8 30 637
Reahzed gans 70 20 41 2 14 27
Realzed losses 79 (B) (56) 0 (29) (2)

The foliowa~g table sets fo h {~e amorized cost far value and average y eld of wedt secunbes classihied as held-w-

matunty and availlab's-“or-sa'e

Debt secuntes held to-matunty

Debl secuntes avaiable-for-sale

Amortzed Average  Amorived Average
December 31, 2005, n CHF m cost Faur value yeld cost Farr value yield
Due within 1 year 503 503 133% 3,319 3,324 261%
Due from 1 to 5 years pLY| 249 370% 6,733 6,533 2 62%
Due from S to 10 years o] 0 - 9,845 9,468 322%
Total debt securthes 744 745 2 10% 19,897 19,325 292%

There were no debt secuntes due after ten years

10 Other investments

The folioverg table summarnzes detals of other nvestments

Becember 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Equity method investments 1,450 806
Non-markeifable equrly secuntes® 18,324 8,531
Real estate held for nvesiment 353 424
Life settlement contracts on investment method 55 0

Total other investments

20,188 9,761

" Includes prvate equity and restncted stock investments as well as certan investments in non-marketable mutual funds for which the Bank has nerther significant nfluence nor cantrol

over the iImvestee
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Non-marketable equity secunities held by subsidianes that are considered
investment companies are held by separate legal entities that are within the scope
of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investmeni Comparnies In addition,
non-marketable equity securities held by subsidiaries that are considered broker-
dealer entities are held by separate legal enbties that are subject to regulation as
broker-dealers

There were no significant non-marketable equity secunties, which have been in
a continuous unrealized loss position

The Bank performs a regular impairment analysis of real estate portfolios The
carrying values of the impaired properties were written down to therr respective
fair values, establishing new cost bases For these properties, the farr values were
measured based on either discounted cash flow analyses or external market
appraisals There were no impairment charges in 2006, 2005 and 2004

Accumulated depreciation related to Real estate held for investment amounted to
CHF 329 mdlion and CHF 380 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively

11 Loans

he following table sels for b t & delals of the aomres ¢ (Swi'zerlzand) and “oregn lean porticho

December 31 n CHF m 2006 2005
Banks 554 309
Cammercial 44,815 39,235
Consumer 68,399 64,944
Publc authonties 1,000 1,067
Lease financings 3,361 2,97%
Switzerland 118,129 108,554
Banks 8,900 7,692
Commercial 53,317 42 877
Cansumer 10,715 11,239
Publie authonties 905 1,026
Lease financings 228 138
Foreign 74,065 62,972
Loans, gross 192,194 171,526
Deferred expenses, net (6) 38
Allowance for loan losses (1,305) (1,965)
Total loans, net 190,883 169,599
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The followng table sets forth tne movements i the a owance fo” loan losses

Notes to the consohdated financial statements

w CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Balance January 1 1,965 2,697 4,154
Change n scope of consclidation 0 0 (24)
Net additons/{releases) charged fo the consolidated statements of incame (116) {126) 70
Gross wnte-offs (696) (502} {1,612
Recovenes 140 132 56
Net write-offs (556) (770} {1,556)
Prowisions for interest 47 69 87
Faresgn currency translabon impact and other adjustments, net (35) 95 (34}
Balance December 31 1,305 1,965 2,697
Tre foliow ing table sels forth detals of lhe orovsion for credd os<es charged o the consoidated statements of
nceme
Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Allowance for loan losses (118 (126) 70
Provision for fending-related off-balance sheet exposures and others 19 8) 0
Total provision for credit losses 97) (134) 70

Tre followi~qg table sets {o-th t-e detals of impaiea loans, with 2w without . spec iic allowance # loan 1s considered
impated s hen s corsicered probable ~hat the Bank wall ~ot collec. all amounts due under the loa~ terms

December 31 in CHF m 2006 2005
With a specific allowance 1,515 2,413
Without a specific allowance 265 397
Total tmpaired loans, gross 1,780 2,810
Specific allowance for impaired loans » 936 1,613
" Included in the allowances far loan losses

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Bank did not have any maternal

commitments to lend additbonal funds to debtors whose ioan terms have been

modified in troubled debt restructunings

Tre following wable sets for-h add:“cnal lcan ~formation

Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Average balance of impared loans 2,014 3,265 4,713
Interest income which was recognized 23 25 2i
Interest income recegnized on a cash basis 35 43 62
Net gans/(losses) on the sale of loans a 62 18
Total non-performing foans 1,373 1,904 2,714
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12 Premises and equipment

The follow ing table sels forth tme delaids of premises ano equipment

December 31 nCHF m 2006 2005
Buldings and improvements 3,383 3,345
Land 809 811
Leasehold improvements 1,718 1,642
Software 1,914 1,565
Equipment 3,269 3,661
Premises and equipment 11,091 11,024
Accumulated depreciation (5,648) (5,940)
Total premises and equipment, net 5,443 5,084
The carrying value of the Bank’s premises and equipment is tested for impairment
on a regular basis This revaluation process identified certain premises and
equipment {o be wniten down to therr farr values, establishing a new cost base
No significant imparment charges were recorded in 2006 and 20056 Impairment
charges of CHF 34 million were recorded in 2004
13 Goodwill
Tre {ollowi~g table sets 1g=th tne movernents of gaodwil by opera’ ng segment

Investment Private Asset Credit
in CHF m Banking Banking  Management Suisse
Balance December 31, 2004 6,568 318 2,232 9,118
Goodwill acquired dunng the year 4 4 1 56
Other 952 25 320 1,297
Balance December 31, 2005 7,524 384 2,663 10,471
Goodwill acquired dunng the year 52 1 0 53
Other" o (488) () (144 (539
Balance December 31, 2006 7,088 382 2,419 9,889

¥ Pmarly due to foreign currency translahon impact on non CHF-denominated goodwall

As a result of the integrated global bank reorganization on January 1, 2006,
Goodwill was reallocated to the new operating segments The decrease in Goodwilf
in 2006 and the increase in Goodwil! in 2005 were caused primarily by foreign
exchange fluctuations in Goodwili denominated In US dollars

62 Credit Suisse Annual Report 2006




Notes ic the conschdated financial statements

14 Other intangible assets

Tre following 1able sets ferth the delals of other ntang ove assels

2006 2005

Gross Net Gross Net

carrying Accumulated carrying camng  Accumulated carmang

December 31, n CHF m amount amaorhzation amaunit amount  amorbzabon amount
Amartized other intangible assets

Tradenames/trademarks 33 24) 9 36 (25) 1

Client relationships 388 (217) 171 556 {(192) 364

Other 116 (110) 6 133 (115) 18

Total amortized other intangible assets 537 (351) 186 725 (332) 393

Unamortized other ntangible assets 289 - 289 98 - 98

Total other intangible assets B26 (351) 475 823 (332) 491

In connection with the realignment of the Asset Management segment in 2006
and the termination of three distnbution management clients, the Bank determined
that the carrying value of Chent relationships exceeded their expected future cash
flows Thus, an imparrment charge of CHF 139 million was recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2006

As a result of s annual valuation analysis performed on Other intangible assets
in 2005, the Bank determined that the carrying value of a trademark, used in the
Asset Management segment’s private equity business, exceeded the expected
future cash flows As such, the Bank recorded an impairment charge of CHF 13
mullion for the year ended December 31, 2005

In connection with its adeption of SFAS 156 as of January 1, 2008, the Bank
reclassified mortgage servicing nights into Unamortized other intangible assets As
of December 31, 2008, the farr value of mortgage servicing nghts was CHF 181
million

The aggregate amortization expenses for 2006, 2005 and 2004 were CHF 43
miflion, CHF 96 milion and CHF 49 million, respectively

The follewing table sets forh the estimaled amorbzalicn e<penses jor other intang dle assews exishing as of December
31, 2006 for *he ned fwve jear

in CHF m

2007 37
2008 32
2009 o7
2010 21
2011 15
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15 Life settlement contracts

T~e follew ing table sels forth tre expectec realization mates fo Ife setilenent contiacts accounted for under the fu,

value method and the wvestment methoo

within wthin wathun wathin within
Degember 31 2006 Tyear  12yeas  23yeas  34dyes  45yews  Thereahter Total
Fair value method
Number of contracts 72 213 351 248 191 3,462 4,537
Carmying value, mn CHF m 3 10 7 15 9 268 316
Face value, m CHF m 3 " 23 16 1 613 877
Investment method
Number of contracts ~ - - - -~ 5 5
Carrying value, n CHF m - - - - - 55 55
Face value, n CHF m - - -~ - ~ 102 102
Realized gains on Ife settlement contracts accounted for under the far value
method amounted to CHF 113 miion On contracts that were held as of
December 31, 2006, an unrealized gawn of CHF 21 milion was recognized
The anticipated life insurance premiums to be paid for those contracts accounted
for under the investment method as of December 31, 2006, amounts to annual
payments of CHF O 8 million for each of the next five years
Central for the calculation of fair vafue for ife settlement contracts s the estimate
of mortality rates Indwidual mortality rates are typically obtained by multiplying a
base mortality curve for the general insured population provided by a professional
actuanal organizatton together with an indwvidual-specific multipher Indvidual-
specrfic multipliers are determined based on data obtained from theird-party life
expectancy data providers, which examine insured individual's medical conditions,
family histery and other factors fo arrive at a life expectancy estimate
16 Other assets
The foflcwing 1able sels ‘orh tre details of other assels
December 31 in CHF m 2006 2005
Cash collateral on denvatve instruments 14,917 14,179
Demvatwe instruments used for hedging 1,648 2,237
Brokerage recevables 49,242 36,108
Assets held-for-sale 53,346 20,871
of which loans 53,178 20,808
of which real estate 168 63
Interest and fees recewvable 8,657 7,620
Deferred tax assets 4,835 5,412
Prepad expenses 452 505
Assets held for separate accounts 9,295 5,955
Other 5111 4,619
Total other assets 147,503 97,506

As of December 31, 2008, the Bank held CHF 53 2 billion of loans held-for-sale,
which included CHF 14 3 billion in restricted loans, which represented collateral
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on secured borrowings, and CHF 4 7 billion in loans held in trusts, which are
consolidated under FIN 46(R) as a result of faled sales

The Bank acquired certain loans dunng 2006 for which there was, at acquisition,
evidence of detenioration of credtt quality since ongination and for which it was
probable at acquisition that all contractually required payments would not be
collected Those loans are held-for-sale and accounted for at LOCOM, consistent
with other loans held-for-sale No yield adjustment s recorded for the anticipated
receipt of excess cash flows over the acquisttion amount as the Bank cannot
reasonably estimate the cash flows which ultimately may be collected At
acquisition date these loans amounted to CHF 981 milon with remaining
contractually required payments of CHF 1,244 millon As of December 31, 2006,
the carrying amount of purchased impaired [oans was CHF 470 million

17 Deposits

The following table sets ferh the delaifs of domesuc (Satzerlara) anc Tore gn deposis

2006 2005
Switzer Swilzer-
December 31, n CHF m land Foreign Total fand Fereign Total
Naorinterest-bearng demand deposis 6,742 914 7.656 5,343 818 6,161
Interest-beanng demand deposits 44,147 21,715 65,862 46,764 14,167 60,931
Sawngs deposts 35,220 24 35244 37613 25 37638
Time deposits T 62,302 213,860 276,162 47,326 195283 242600
Total deposits 148,411 236,513 384924 137,046 210293 347,339

The designation of depasits In Switzerdand versus foreign deposits 1s based upon the location of the office where the deposit is recorded

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, CHF 180 million and CHF 258 million,
respectively, of overdrawn deposits were reclassified as loans As of December
31, 2006 and 2005, the Bank had CHF 274 3 billion and CHF 241 O billion,
respectvely, of indwidual Time deposits issued in Switzerland and in foreign offices
in the Swiss franc equivalent amounts of USD 100,000 or mare

18 Long-term debt

Tre following table sels foth tre amoun: of senker and subordmatec long-term debt

December 31 n CHF m

2006 2005

Senior debt

127,367 112,340

Subordinated debt

16,654 13,520

Total iong-term debt

144,02t 125,860

The Bank 1ssues both CHF- and nen-CHF-denominated fixed and varniable rate
bonds The weighted-average coupon is based on the contractual terms, although
for zero coupon bonds the yield to maturnity 1s applied The Bank uses derivative
contracts, prmanly interest rate and currency swaps, as hedges for some of its
debt 1ssues The effects of these denvatives are not included in the interest rate
range on the associated debt Included are vanous equity-linked and other indexed
instruments
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Tre following fable sels forh matunities and n1eres® ruies for senic a~o subordinaied debt

December 31 n CHF m 2007 2008 2005 201Q 2011 Thereafier Total 2006
Senor debt

Foed rate 11,058 11,470 10,891 5,703 8,837 18,012 65,969

Variable rate 7,425 13,486 13,071 7,857 7,393 12,166 61,398

Interest rates (range n %) 0-200 0237 0-125 0192 0-184 0200 -
Subordinated debt

Fixed rate 2,057 843 2,261 1,535 1,230 7.213 15,137

Variable rate 875 175 o] 0 o] 767 1,517

Interest rates (range n %) 0151 063 083 0-83 069 0-103 -
Total long-term debt 21,113 25,972 26,223 15,095 17,460 38,158 144,021
19 Other liabilities
The followt g table sets To~h 1re delaie of other laby hew
December 31 n CHF m 2008 2005
Cash collateral on dervatve imnstruments 24,038 18,763
Dervatve instruments used for hedging 959 1,452
Brokerage payables 33,196 23,074
Provisions ¥ 2,050 2.375
Restructunng liabilities 2 3
Interest and fees payable 29,195 12,610
Currer? tax liabiles 2,885 2,749
Deferred tax habilities - 466 180
Ltabilties held for separate accounts 9,295 5,955
Other 15,750 11,262
Total other llabilities 117,836 78,423

" Includes pravisions for off-balance sheet nsk of CHF 138 milion and CHF 127 millon as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectvely
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20 Accumulated other comprehensive income

The follow ing taple sets forth the movements of accumulaiea other comorehensive ~coms, net of ax

Unreakzeg Accumutated

gains/ Munemum Netpaor  other com-

Gans/losses)  Cumulatve (lasses) penson Actuanal service prehensive

on cash flow transtation on hablly gans/ cost/ ncome/

nCHFm hedges  adjusiment secuntes  adjustment (losses) {credif) (loss}
Balance December 31, 2003 a1 (2,497 262 (318) - - {2 462)
Increase/(decrease) 18 (652) (16) )] - - 652)
Reclassication adjustments, included n net income 81) [} (120 0 - ~ (195)
Balance December 31, 2004 28 (3.143) 126 (320) - - (3,309}
Increase/(decrease) (3) 1,070 2 (220) - - B49
Reclassification adjustments, included n net income 10 [¢)] (73) 0 - - (72)
Balance December 31, 2005 35 {2,082) 55 (540) - - 2,639
Increase/(decrease) {33) (728) 70 101 - - (590)
Reclassification adjustments, included in net income 3 [¢)] (i9) 0 - - (23)
Adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax - - 439 {754) e} (306)
Balance December 31, 2006 4)) (2,811} 106 [+} (754) 9 (3,451)

21 Income taxes

Tre foliowing table sets forh tre detade of the ~come From continuing operat ons before taxes In Swilzenand and
foreign ceuntres

Year ended December 31, mn CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Switzedand 3,184 2,147 1,612
Foreign 9,617 4,139 4,761
Income from continuing operations before taxes, minority interests

extraordmary tems and cumulative effect of accounting changes 12,801 6,285 ©,373

Ti e {ollowr~g tavle seis forlh [me detaills of current and dete 1ed taxes

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2605 2004
Switzerland 570 563 547
Forexgn 982 692 856
Current income tax expense 1,552 1,255 1,403
Switzerand 76 19 43
Foreign 509 (615) (340)
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 585 (596) (297)
Income tax expense 2,137 659 1,106
Income tax expense on cumulatve effect of accounting changes - 6 0
fncome tax expense/(beneft) reported m shareholders’ equity related to
Cumulative translation adjustment {58) 10 59)
Unrealzed gains/(losses) on secunties 23 3) @
Miimum penson babilty adjustment 67 (120) 20
Actuanal gans/(losses) {159) - -
Net pnor service (cost)/credit 5 - -
Gains/(losses) on cash fiow hedges (4) 1 1
Cumulatve effect of accounting changes @) - -
Share-based compensation and freasury shares (259) (3} (166)
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The followi~g table s a reconchabion of taxes computea & the Swiss statutory rale

Year ended Decerrber 3§, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Income tax expense computed at the statutory tax rate of 22% (2004 25%)" 2,816 1,383 1,593
Increase/(decrease) in income taxes resultng from
Foreign tax rate differenbal 347 {19 ™
Non-deductible amortization of intangible assets and goodwill imparrment 59 23 11
Other non-deductble expenses 312 225 125
Additional taxable ncome 37 247 195
Lower taxed income (733) 511) (589)
Income taxable to minonty nterests (783) (449) (268)
Changes in tax law and rates 3 [4))] 3
Changes in deferred tax valuation aflowance® (35) (241) 287
Other® (166) 102 (174)
Income tax expense 2,137 659 1,106

" in 2005, following changes in the Zunch cantonal tax law the statutory tax rate appficable to the Bank decreased to 22%

millon and CHF 325 milion, respectvely, resultng from the release of valuaton allowances on deferred tax assets on net aperating loss cany-forwards, offset by additions
in 2006, 2005 and 2004 rs an amount of CHF 109 mibon, CHF 131 milion and CHF 206 millon, respectively, relating to the release of tax contingency accruals following the favorable
respluton of tax matters 2005 also included a charge of CHF 146 million relating to the reversal of deferred tax assets on net operating loss carry-forwards, which was cffset by an

equrvalent release of valuaton allowances on deferred tax assets on net operating loss camy-forwards

2 In 2006 and 2005 there was a tax benefit of CHF 115
¥ Included

As of December 31, 2006, the Bank had accumulated undistnbuted earmings from
foreign subsidianes of CHF 10 1 billion No deferred tax was recorded in respect
of those amounts, as these earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested [t s
not practicable to estimate the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabtities for
these undistributed foreign earnings

Tt e followimg table sels forth e delals of the “ax effect o lemporary driferences What gi.e use to s gnir can. portons

of deerred ta< assels and defened 1ax hab tes

December 31 in CHF m 2006 2005
Employment compensation and benefits 2,126 1,588
Loans - - 184 148
Investment securities €8 219
Provisions - 1,006 1,293
Derwvatives 149 243
Real estate 80 96
NOL carry-forwards 1,985 2,861

Other 241 286
Gross deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 5,839 6,730
Less valuaton allowance (721) (8an
Gross deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance 5,118 5,839
Employment compensaticn and benefits (89 (13)
Loans (56) [G1))]
investment securties (44) an
Business combinations (174) (268)
Dernvatves (1a7) (15}
Software caprtalization 0 (3
Leasing (189) (127
Real estate (74} [(=2)]
Other (16) an
Gross deferred tax liabihties (749) 607)
Net deferred tax assets 4,369 5,232
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Tre foliowi~g wable sets forth tre ancourts and expiration dates of net operatirg loss (NOL} cary-forwards

December 31, 2006 n CHF m Tob
Due to expire wittun 1 year 46
Due to expwe within 2 1o 5 years 347
Due 1o expire within 6 1o 10 years 19
Due to expire through to 2026 3,967
Amount due to expire 4,579
Amount not due ta expire 1,329
Total net operating loss carry-forwards 5,908
The followi~g table sets iomh the movements in the valuauon allowance

in CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Balance January 1 891 1,124 1,017
Net changes (170) (233) 107
Balance December 31 EEA 891 1,124

Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable
iIncome aver the penads in which the temporary differences are deductible and tax
loss carry-forwards are realizable, management believes it is more likely than not
that the Bank will realize the benefits of these deductible differences and tax loss
carry-forwards, net of existing valuation allowances as of December 31, 2006 The
amount of the deferred tax asset constdered realizable, however, could be reduced
if estimates of future taxable income dunng the carry-forward period are reduced

Significant judgment 1s required In evaluating certain {ax posttions The Bank
accrues for tax contingencies when, despite the belief that its tax return positions
are fully supportable, certain posttions could be challenged and the Bank's
posthons may not be probable of being fully sustained Once established, tax
contingency accruals are adjusted due to changing facts and aircumstances, such
as case law, progress of tax audits or when an event occurs reguinng a change
to the tax contingency accruals Management regularly assesses the likelihood of
adverse outcomes to determine the approprnateness of provisions for ncome taxes
Although the outcome of any dispute 1s uncertain, management believes that it has
appropriately accrued for any unfavorabte outcome

Tax benefits associated with share-based compensation

Tax benefits associated with share-based compensation recorded in the
consolidated statements of income was CHF 513 million, CHF 679 million and
CHF 275 million in 20086, 2005 and 2004, respectively For further informatron
on share-based compensation, see note 22 “Employee share-based compensation
and other benefits *

If, upon settlement of share-based compensation, the tax deduction exceeds the
cumulative compensation cost that the Bank had recognized in the consolidated
financial statements, the tax benefit associated with any excess deduction I1s
constdered a *windtall” and recognized in Shareholder’s equity as Additional pard-
in capital and reflected as a financing cash inflow in the consolidated statements
of cash flows The Bank realized windfall tax benefits of CHF 252 million, CHF
46 milion and CHF 143 milion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, upon
settlement of share-based compensation However, windfall deductions of CHF
567 million relating to share-based compensation in 2005 did not result in a
reduction of income {axes payable because certain entities are in a net operating
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loss position When the income tax benefit of these deductions 1s realized, CHF
198 million tax benefit will be recorded in Additional pard-n capital

22 Employee share-based compensation and other benefits

Share-based compensabion

The Bank’s share-based compensation 1s an important part of the overail
compensation package for select employees and senior executives Share-based
compensation 1s designed to promote employee retention and align the interests
of employees and shareholders The majonty of share-based compensation 15
granted as part of the annual mcentive performance bonus subsequent to the fiscal
year to which the incentive performance bonus relates Share-based compensation
15 generally subject to restrictive features such as vesting, forferture and blocking
rules All share-based compensation awards are delivered to employees in the form
of Credit Suisse Group shares

Compensation expense

Compensation expense in any year includes a vanable compensation expense for
that year's discretionary cash performance benus and fixed expenses for share-
based awards granted n prior years Recognition in the consolidated statements
of income cof expense relating to awards granted i pror years s dependent
primarily upon the vesting period, which s determined by the plan, retirement
ehgibity of employees, moratonum pencds and certain other terms

Total compensation expense for share-based compensaton recognized in the
consolidated statements of income wn Compensation and benefits was CHF 1,597
million, CHF 2,118 milion and CHF 862 milion for 2006, 200% and 2004,
respectively The decrease in 2006 versus 2005 was due to the introduction of a
two year mimimum service perod for the 2006 grants to retirement-ehgible
employees and the recognition of less expense in 2006 as a result of the
acceleration in vesting of share-based awards granted in 2006 The increase in
2005 was primarily caused by the recognition of expense for shared-based
compensation to employees eligble for early retirement and the inthal recognition
of expense for Performance Incentive Plan (PIP) units granted in January 2005
As of December 31, 2006, the total esttmated unrecogmized compensation
expense of CHF 1,776 million related to non-vested share-based compensation
will be recognized over the remaning weighted-average requisite service penod
of 1 6 years

The Group generally repurchases its own shares in the open market to satisfy these
obligations but can also 1ssue new shares out of available conditional capital In
2006, the Group delwvered approximately 19 5 millon shares to employees The
Group expects to repurchase approximately 28 milllon shares dunng 2007 in
connection with its share-based compensation

Fair value assumptions for share-based compensation

In estimating the fair value for shared-based compensation, where an observable
independent quoted market price 1s not avarlable, the fair value 15 calculated on
the grant date based on valuation techniques and/cr oplion-pricing maodels that
most accurately reflect the substantive charactenstics of the instrument being
valued The underlymg assumptions used in the models are determined based on
management's assessment of the current market and histoncal information
avallable at the date of grant that marketplace participants would likely use in
determining an exchange price for the instruments
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The inputs for expected volathty and dwdend yield used in esbmating fair values
are based upon the imphed market volatiity and dvidend yield of traded options
on Credit Suisse Group shares, the tustonical volatility and dividend yreld of the
Group’s stock and other relevant factors that indicate how the future 1s expected
to differ from the past The expected nsk-free interest rate 1s based on the current
LIBOR rate at the date of grant that corresponds with the expected term of the
award LIBOR rates are used as a proxy for nisk-free interest rates because zero-
coupon government 1ssues do not exist in Switzerdand The expected term
represents the period of time that the awards are expected to be outstanding and
15 based on the contractual term of each instrument, taking into account
employees’ historical exercise and {ermination behavior

Tre {ollowi~g table dlustrates the significant assumplions used to estimale the tarr valoe of share optons and

Pe-ormance ncenfive Plan

Decernber 31 2006 2005 2004
Expected volatily, in % " 2480 2900 4194
Expected dwidend yield, n % 324 303 2929
Expected nsk-free interest rate, in % 236 186 201
Expected term, in years 5 5 5

"' Due to curment and changing market conditions, the Bank refined ris methodology in 2005 for estmating the expected volatikty and expected dvidend yeld o include management's

assessment of how future Impled market yields impact the overall expected assumptions

Shares

The Bank's share-based compensation in prior years has included three different
types of share awards phantom shares, langewvity premium awards (LPA), and
special awards These share awards entitle the holder to receve one Credit Suisse
Group registered share subject to continued employment with the Bank, resinciive
covenants and cancellation provisions, and generally vest between zero and three
years In 2006, the Bank introduced the Incentive Share Unit (ISU) share-based
plan descnbed below to replace the phantom share and LPA awards granted In
prior years

Phantom shares vest in three equal installments on each of the first, second and
third anniversaries of the grant date and convert to registered Credit Suisse Group
shares within 120 days of vesting or are blocked for a period of one year after the
shares vest depending on the location of the grant recipient

LPAs vest in full on the third anniversary of the grant date and esther convert to
Credit Suisse Group shares within 120 days of vesting or are blocked for a pernod
of one year after the shares vest depending on the location of the grant recipient

Special awards are generally shares granted to new employees and are in addiion
1o the annual bonus grants These special awards may contain vesting depending
on the terms of employment

The compensation expense recognized in 2006 related to shares awarded under
phantom share, LPA and special awards was CHF 1,147 millon The estimated
unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards as of December 31,
20086, was CHF 1,111 million
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fhe following table presents the share award actwities during the percos indicated

2006 2005 2004
Weighted- Wexghled- Weighted-
Number average Nuraber average Nuymber average
of share  grant-date of share grant-date of share grant-date
#wards fair vatue awards farr vahue awards fair value
I m in CHF nm n CHF nm n CHF
Outstanding January 1 465 4773 751 47 44 808 5077
Granted 26 2 72 51 229 4509 358 4708
Settled {188) 4598 459) 48 40 357 54 84
Forfeited 32 5562 (56} 4388 (58} 46 20
Qutstanding December 31 507 6070 465 4773 751 47 44
of which vested 27 - 36 - 211 -
of which unvested 480 - 429 - 540 -

Share options

Cptions were a substanbal component of the Bank’s share-based program prior
to 2004 The Bank has discontinued the practice ot 1ssumng options and the
majonity of the oniginal grants have since vested Share options were granted with
an exercise price equal to the market prce of Credit Swisse Group's shares on the
date of grant and expire after ten years

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2006, 2005 and 2004
was CHF 12 12, CHF 9 50 and CHF 14 62, respectively As of December 31,
2006, the aggregate intnnsic value of options outstanding was CHF 1,197 mullion
and the weighted-average remaining contractual term was 4 5 years As of
December 31, 2006, the aggregate intnnsic value of ophions exercisable was CHF
1,059 million and the weighted-average remaining contractual term was 4 4 years
As of the exercise date, the total intrinsic value of options exercised duning 2006,
2005 and 2004 was CHF 232 million, CHF 139 million and CHF 95 million,
respectively Cash recewved from option exercises during 2006, 2005 and 2004
was CHF 327 million, CHF 193 million and CHF 82 million, respectively

As of December 31, 2008, there were 1 9 mitlion fully vested and exercisable
options outstanding containing a cash settlement feature These options had a
weighted-average exercise price of CHF 67 38 and a weighted-average remaining
contractual term of 2 7 years Dunng 2008, there were no exercises or forfeitures
of options with a cash settlement feature and 0 4 million of these options were
settied for CHF 6 B million in cash
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The follewing table presents the share oplion actmities durng the oenods wndicated

2006 2005 2004
Weightzd Weghted- Wesghted-
Number average Number average MNumber average
of ophions exercise of oplons exercrse of aptiens exerise
inm pnee in CHF nm  pocein CHF nm pace in CHF
Qutstanding January 1 539 56 84 606 5423 654 5219
Granted 01 7160 01 48 61 03 4529
Exercised (73) 44 58 61} 3193 40 20 64
Settled 04) 59 49 - 7400 - 7400
Forfeted (0 6} 51556 06 5004 (i 5178
Expired 01 17 65 ©1nH 14 38 - -
Qutstanding December 31 45 6 5901 638 56 84 606 5423
Exercisable December 31 412 5358 50 6 5784 408 6108

Performance Incentive Plan (PIP)

As part of its annual incentive performance bonus process for 2004 and 2005,
the Bank granted performance incentrve plan units (*PIP units”) during 2005 (PIP
i} and 2006 (PIP I}, respectively PIP units are long-term retention incentive
awards requining continued empleyment with the Bank, subject to restnctive
covenants and cancellation provisions, and vest evenly over a five-year penod
Each PIP unit will settle for a specified number of Credit Suisse Group registered
shares subsequent to the fifth anniversary of the grant date based on the
achrevement of 1) earmings performance as compared to predefined targets
(“performance conditions®), and 1) share price performance compared to predefined
targets and share price performance relative to peers (“market conditons”y The
performance conditions will determine the multiplier, ranging between zero and
three for the final number of PIP units The market conditions will determine the
number af shares that each PIP urut will convert into at settlement date Ttus wall
range between zero and three shares for PIP | and zero and two shares for PIP
Il The PIP I units granted in 2005 will uitmately settle for between zero and nine
shares and the PIP Il units granted in 2006 will ulimately settle for between zero
and six shares

The achievement of the share pnce targets and relative share price performance
for PIP | 1s measured based on the Group’s average share price over a three-month
period prior to settlement and can result in the delivery of a mmimum of zero shares
at a share price below CHF 30 and a maximum of three shares at a share price
of CHF 90 or wgher The achievement of the share price targets and relatwe share
pnce performance for the PIP Il 1s measured based on the Group's average share
price over a three-manth period pricr to settlement and can result in the delivery
of a minimum of zero shares at a share price below CHF 47 and a maximum of
two shares at a share price of CHF 160 or higher

Compensation expense for employees who are eligible for retirement at the grant
date, or who become eligible for retirement dunng the scheduled vesting pened,
15 determined by taking the number of PIP units expected to vest multiphied by their
grant date farr value The farr values of the PIP | and PIP li units granted to these
employees were CHF 83 75 and CHF 145 3B, respectively These far values were
determined taking mto account the estimated outcome of both the performance
and market conditions, are fixed at the grant date, and are not remeasured or
adjusted subsequent to the grant date unless the terms and conditions of the award
are modified
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Compensation expense for employees who do not become eligible for retirement
dunng the scheduled vesting penod 15 determined by taking the number of PIP
untts expected to vest multiplied by both their grant date fair value and estimated
outcome of the performance condiion The grant date fair values of the PIP  and
PIP Il units granted to these employees were CHF 51 70 and CHF 79 87,
respectively These farr values consider an estimated outcome for the market
conditions, are fixed at the grant date and are not remeasured or adjusted
subsequent to the grant date unless the terms and conditions of the award are
modified Management reassesses Its estimate of the outcome of the performance
conditions annually and adjusts compensation expense accordingly Based on the
estimated outcome of the performance condition as of December 31, 2008, the
compensation expense reflects a conversion of each initral PIP | and PIP Il award
inte 3 0 PIP units at the end of the vesting penod However, these estimates
depend upen the market environment and the Group’s financial performance over
the remainder of the vesting perrods and, therefore, management cannot predict
whether the number of PIP units will be the maximum of three or a lesser amount

The compensation expense recognized dunng 2006 related to PIP | and PIP 1l was
CHF 450 million The esttmated unrecognized compensation expense related to
PIP | and PIP il as of December 31, 2006, 1s CHF 665 millcn None of the PIP
units were convectible as of December 31, 2006

Tre faliown g table presents the Performance Incentne Plar acthvihes ‘or the penoe ndwaled

PIP it APl

Number Number

of share of share

awards awards

nm inm

Qutstanding December 31, 2004 - -
Granted - 135
Forferled - a3
OQutstanding December 31, 2006 - 122
Granted 51 oo
Forfeited 02) 02
Qutstanding December 31, 2008 59 120

Credit Suisse Incentive Share Unit ({5U)

In January 2007, as part of the 2006 remuneration process, the Bank aligned its
share-based compensation plans and intreduced ISUs Previously granted awards
will continue te settle under therr onginal terms and are not affected by the iSU

Far each ISU granted, the emplayee will recewe at least one Credit Suisse Group
share In addition, the leverage component can deliver additional upside which wal
be determined by the monthly average Credit Suwisse Group share price over the
three year penod following grant The final vatue of each 1SU 1s paid in registered
shares of Credit Suisse Group The total number of shares received for each ISU
will equal the final value divided by the share price at matuniy (1 e , three years),
however, holders will always receive at least one Credit Suisse Group share per
iISU The total payout for each ISt 1s subject to a cap of three times the value of
a Credit Suisse Group share at grant date (CHF 86 24 per share), which 1s reached
at an average share price of CHF 132

Each 1SU will vest at a rate of one third of a share per year aver three years, with

the potential additional shares vesting on the third anniversary of the grant date,
depending on the development of the leverage component Shares will be delivered
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for vested ISUs within 120 days of each vesting date Settlement of I1SUs 1s subject
to continued employment at the Bank and certain retrement arrangements

The recogmtion of accounting expense for the 26 2 million 1SUs granted on
January 23, 2007, began in 2007 and thus had no impact on the 2006
consolidated financial statements The fair value of the ISU base component of
CHF 87 30 was based on the closing price of a Credit Suisse Group share on the
grant date The fair value of the ISU leverage component of CHF 20 85 was based
on a valuation using an expected volatility of 22 95%, an expected dividend yield
of 2 4%, an expected nsk-free interest rate of 2 6% and an expected term of three
years The estimated unrecognized compensation expense of CHF 2,327 million
will be recognized over a penod of three years, subject to the early retirement rules

23 Related parties

Credit Suisse Group owns all of the Bank’s outstanding voting registered shares
The Bank 1s nvolved m significant financing and other transactions and has
significant related party balances with subsidiaries and affiates of Credit Suisse
Group outside of the Bank The Bank generally enters mto these transactions m
the ordinary course of business and beltieves that these transactions are generally
on market terms that could be obtained from unrelated thwed parties

The following table sets fomh e detals of the Bank's *ealed party assels and iab il es

December 31 n CHF m 2006 2005
Assets

Cash and due from banks 2,458 697
interest-beanng deposils with banks RED 2,152
Central bank funds sold, secuntes purchased under resale agreements and secunties borrowing transactions 509 523
Secunties receved as collateral B o 187 0
Frading assets 369 722
Loans 7,058 3,117
Other assets 122 257
Total assets 12,682 7,468
Liabilities

Deposits 19,808 6,764
Central bank funds sold, secunties purchased under repurchase agreements and secunbes lending transactions 187 1]
Trading labilties 257 397
Short-term borrowings 133 155
Long-term deht 10,207 8,447
Other liabilities 754 877
Total habilibes 31,346 16,440
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The following table sets foh tne Bank’s relateo patly re enues and erpenses

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2008 2005 2004
Interest and dwidend income 295 90 37
Interest expense (753) (540) 228)
Net interest income {458) (450) (19
Commissions and fees @ 45 20
Other revenues 238 253 335
Total noninterest revenues 234 208 355
Net revenues (224} (152) 164
Other expenses (488) (675) (445)
Total operabing expenses (486) (675) (445)
The follow ing table sels forib tre delate of the Bank's revated parly guaantees

Year ended December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Credit guarantees and similar mstruments 77 16
Performance guarantees and similar instruments 0 80
Dernvatves 320 1637
Other guarantees 3 5
Total December 31 400 1,638
Loans to members of the Credit Suisse Board of Directors and the

Credit Suisse Executive Board

Loans to membe s ot the Bowrd of Oiroctors of Creat Swisse

in CHF m 2006 " 2005 2004
Balance January 1 17 17 16
Additions 5 1 3
Reductions ] ) (@)
Balance Decemnber 31 22 17 17
" The number of indnaduals with outstanding loars at the beginming of the year and at the end of the year was five

Loans to riembers of the Credit Susse Executve Board

n CHF m 2006 " 2005 2004
Balance January 1 12 27 22
Addrtions. 12 8 18
Reductions (2) (23) (13)
Balance December 31 22 12 27

" The number of indivduals with outstanding loans at the beginning of the year and at the end of the year was six and seven respectively

A large majonity of loans ouistanding to members of the Board of Directors of
Credit Suisse and the Credit Suisse Executive Board are mortgages or loans
against secunties Such loans are made on the same terms available to third-party
customers or pursuant to widely avallable employee benefit plans

All mortgage loans to members of the Executive Board are granted either with

vaniable interest rates or with fixed interest rates over a certain period Typically,
fixed mortgages are granted for periods of up to five years, In some cases up to
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ten years Interest rates applied are based on refinancing costs plus a margin and
interest rates and other terms are consisient with those apphcable to other
employees Loans against securities are granted at interest rates and on terms
apphcable to such loans granted io other employees Interest rates applied are
based on refinancing costs plus a margin When granting a loan to these
indmiduals, the same credit approval and nsk assessment procedures apply as for
loans to other employees

Members of the Board of Directors are not granted emplayee conditions on any
loans extended to them, but such loans are subject to conditions applied to
customers with a comparable credit standing In addition to loans extended directly
to members of the Board of Directors, the Bank has entered into financing and
other banking agreements with companies in which current members of the Board
of Directors have a significant influence As of December 31, 20086, the total
exposure to such related parfies amounted to CHF 3 6 million, mcluding all
advances and contingent habilities, and was in the ordinary course of business and
granted al arm’s-length The highest exposure to such related parties for any of
the years in the three-year penod ended December 31, 2006, did not exceed in
aggregate CHF 61 million

The Bank 1s a global financial services provider and, in particular, has major
corporate banking operations in Switzerland The Bank, therefore, typically has
relationships with many large companies including those 1in which Credit Suisse
Board members assume management functions or board member responsibiities
None of the members of the Board of Directors or companies affilated with them
have important business relationships with the Bank All relationships between
Credit Suisse and members of the Board of Directors and ther affibated
companies are In the ordinary course of business and at arm's-length

In addihon, one of the Bank's subsidianes has invested USD 60 millon in an
investment fund managed by a registered tvestment adviser owned and controlled
by two close family members of a member of the Executive Board of the Bank
The terms of the investment, including the fund’s structure and fee arrangements,
were negotiated on an arm's-length basis with the investment adviser

Other information

Liabilities due to own pension funds

Lrabilites due to the Bank's own pension funds as of December 31, 2006 and
2005 of CHF 771 milion and CHF 680 miliion, respectively, are reflected in
vanous {tabiity accounts 1n the Bank's consohdated balance sheets
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24 Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The Bank partictpates in a defined benehit pension plan sponsored by Credit Suisse
Group and has single-employer defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution
pension plans and other past-retwement defined benefit plans The Bank's pnncipal
plans are located in Switzerland, the Unifed States, and the United Kingdom The
measurement date for the Group defined benefit pension plan, single-employer
defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement defined benefit plans 1s
September 30

Group pension plan

The Bank covers pension requirements for its employees i Switzerland through
the participation in a defined benefit pension pian sponsored by Credtt Suisse
Group Various legal entities within Credit Suisse Group participate in the plan, and
the plan is set up as an independent trust domiciled In Zurich Credit Suisse Group
accounts for the plan as a single-employer defined benefit pension plan and uses
the projected unit credit actuarial method to determine the net perodic pension
expense, projected benefit obligation (PBQ), and the accumulated benefit
obligation (ABO) Following the implementation ot SFAS 158, the funded status
of the plan 1s recorded in the consolidated balance sheet The previously
unrecognized actuanal gains and losses, and pror service costs or credits are
recognized in equity as a component of AQC! The Bank accounts for the defined
benefit penston plan sponsored by Credit Suisse Group as a Group pension plan
because ather legal entities within Credit Suisse Group also participate in the plan
and the assets contnbuted by the Bank are not segregated into a separate account
or restricted to provide benefits only to employees of the Bank The assets
contnibuted by the Bank are commingled with the assets contnbuted by the other
legal entitles and can be used to provide benefiis to any employee of any
participating legal entity The Bank's contnibutions to the Group plan compnise
approximately 90% of the total assets contnibuted to the plan by all participating
legal entittes on an annual basis

The Bank accounts for the Group plan en a defined contribution basis whereby 1t
only recognizes the amounts required to be contributed to the plan durnng the
period as net periodic pensicn expense and only recognizes a liability for any
contnbutions due and unpaid No other expense or balance sheet amounts related
ta this plan are recogrized by the Bank The Bank's contrbutions are determined
using a predetermined formula based on each employee’s salary level and age and
approximates 167% of each employee’s contnbution Dunng 2006 and 2005, the
Bank contnbuted and recognized as expense approximately CHF 285 miion and
CHF 260 million, respectively If the Bank had accounted for the Group plan as
a single-employer defined benefit plan, the net pertodic pension expense
recognized by the Bank dunng 2006 and 2005 would have been lower by CHF
150 million and CHF 175 million, respectvely The Bank expecis to contnbute CHF
285 million to the Group plan duning 2007 Durning 2006 and 2005, the Bank
recognized CHF 89 million and CHF 27 million, respectively, as amortization of
unrecognized actuanal losses and pnor service cost for the Group plan

As of the measurement date, the ABO of the Group plan was CHF 10 5 billion,
the PBO was CHF 11 7 bulien and the fair value of plan assets was CHF 10 7
bilion As of December 31, 20086, the Group plan was overfunded on an ABO
basis by CHF 302 milion and underfunded on a PBO basis by CHF 895 million,
which takes into account fourth quarter cantrbutons of CHF 65 mdlion If the Bank
had accounted for the Group plan as a defined benefit plan, the Bank would have
had to recognize the underfunded status of the plan on a PBO basis of CHF 1,431
million as of December 31, 2006, as a hability in the consolidated balance sheet
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in accordance with SFAS 158, resulting in a reduchon in AOC! within Total
shareholder’s equity

The calculation of the expense and labihty associated with the defined benefit
pension plan requires an extensive use of assumptions, which include the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and discount rate as determined
by the Bank As of the measurement date, if the Bank had accounted for the
Group plan as a defined benefit plan, the expected iong-term rate of return on plan
assets would have been 6 0%, and the discount rate used in the measurement
of the benefit obligaton and the Net penodic penston cost would have been 3 25%
and 3 0%, respectvely

At the measurement date, the assets for the Group pension plan were allocated
17 6% to equities, 41 9% to debt secunties, 16 4% to real estate, 12 8% to
hquidity and 11 3% to alternative investments The target asset allocation of the
plan assets for the Group plan 1s 20% to equities, 40% to debt securities, 20%
to real estate, 16% to kquidity and 5% to alternative investments

International pension plans

Various pension plans cover the Bank's employees outside of Switzerland,
including both single-employer defined benefit and defined contribution pension
plans Retrement benefits under the plans depend on age, contnbutions and salary
The Bank's funding policy with respect to these plans 1s consistent with local
government and tax requirements The assumptions used are derived based on
local economic conditions These plans provide defined benefits in the event of
retirement, death, disability or employment termination

Other post-retirement defined benefit plans
In the United Stales, the Bank sponsors another post-retirement defined benefit
pian that provides health and welfare benefits for certain retired employees

International single-employer defined benefit pension plans
and other post-retirement defined benefit plans

Tre follomng izble sets fo th tre detals of the ne. penodic pension cost for the Ivvernational sing'e-employer detned

benefit pencion plans ara other pest-elremen. deflined verefit plans

Internaticnal single-
employer defined Other post-retrement
benefit pensicn plans defined benefit plans
Year ended December 31 in CHF m 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Service costs on benefit obligation 51 61 62 2 1 1
Interest costs on benefit obigation 129 121 107 £ 8 4
Expected retum on plan assets (139) (142) (122) - - -
Amortization of
Unrecognized transihion obhgation/(asset) n @ 5 - - -
Prior senice cost 1 1 - - - -
Unrecognezed (gans)/losses 2l 48 34 g 9 -
Net penodic pension costs 112 87 76 20 18 5
Setifement (gans)/losses (5) - - - - -
Curtalment (gans)/losses (9) - 5 - - -
Total pension costs 98 87 81 20 18 5
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The following table shows ‘ne charges r tie projected benefit obligation and the fair vaiue of plan assets dunng 2006
a~c 2006, and the amounts Included m “~e Bank's consolidated balance sheets tor the Ba~k's inferna’ onal single-
ermployer detineg benehi pension plans and ot~er post-ie'rement velfined penen plars

Intemational singie-
employer defined Other post-retrement
benefit pension plans defined benefit plans

n CHF m 2006 2005 2006 2005
Projected benefit cbligation - beginning of the measurement pernod 2,579 2,047 169 70
Projected benefit obligation of plans added in current year - 11 - -
Plan participant contnbutions - - - -
Sennce cost 51 57 2 1
Interest cost 129 121 8 8
Plan amendments - - (48] -
Settlements - - - -
Curtalments (41) - - -
Actuanal (gains)/losses 222 203 (5) 82
Benefit payments (60) (38) (7) (5]
Exchange rate (gains)/losses 14 178 1 i4
Projected henefit abligation - end of the measurement penod 2,894 2,679 137 169
Fair value of plan assets - beginning of the measurement penod 2,039 1,611 - -
Assets for plans added i current year - 7 - =
Actual retum on plan assets o 192 263 - -
Employer contnbutions 4 40 7 6
Plan participant contributions ) o B - - - .
Curtalments (42) - - ~
Benefit paymenits T 60 (38) ®®
Exchange rate gains/(losses) T [ig] 156 - -
Fair value of pfan assets - end of the measurement period 2,163 2,039 - -
Total amount recognized
Funded status of the plan (731) (540) 137 (169)
Unrecognized

Net transihan obligation/(assef) - () - -

Pror service cost - 7 - [4))]

Net actuanal {gains)/losses - 912 - o2
Fourth quarter employer contributions - 12 1 2
Amount recogmized in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31 (731) 389 (136) (76)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of
Prepaid beneft costs - 1 - -
Accrued benefit hiability (731} (418) (136) (76)
intangible asset - 7 - -
Accurnulated other comprehensive loss - 799 - -
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31 (731) 389 (136) (76)

of which other assets? - - - -

of which other habilhes (731) - {136) -
Accumulated benefit obligation - end of the measurement penod 2,736 2,434 - -

" Reflects new requirements applied pros as of December 31, 2006
q applied pl

In 2007, the Bank expects to contnbute CHF 24 million to the international single-
employer defined benefit pension plans and CHF 9 miton fo other post-
retirement defined benefit plans

As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, there were no matenal amounts of Credit
Suisse Group debt and equity secunties included in plan assets for the international
single-employer defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement defined
benefit plans
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As of December 31, 2006, the Bank adopted SFAS 168, which requwes an
employer to recogrnize in the statement of financial position the funded status of
a defined benefit plan on a prospective basis The table below provides an overview
of these required adjustments to the consolidated balance sheet positions of the
Bank For further information on SFAS 158, see note 2 *Recently 1ssued
accounting standards — SFAS 158 *

The fallowirg tavle sets forth tre changes 1n the corsodated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008 a:sing fom the

agopte~ of SFAS 158

Before After

apphcahon applicabon

in CHF m of SFAS 158 Adusiments of SFAS 158
Other intangible assets including intangible assets for minimum pension hability 477 (2) 475
Cther assets including prepaid pension/post-retirernent cost 147,768 (265) 147,503
Other labiibies including accrued pension/post-retirement cost and deferred income taxes 17,797 39 117,836
Accumulated other comprehensive Income/(loss), net of tax (3.145) (308)  (3.451)

As cf the measumement date, the projected cerefit obligation {PBO), accunulaled benet : obligation (ABO), and farr
value of plan assets for the miernalional sing.e-employer de ineu benelit pensic plans with a PBG in excess of plan

asse 5 and wiin an ABO in excess of plan assels were as follows

PBO exceeds ABD exceegs
fair value farr value
of plan assets of plan assets
September 30 n CHF m 2006 2005 2006 2005
Projected benefit obligation 2,886 2,579 1,935 2,508
Accumulated benefit obligation 2,729 2,434 1,818 2,381
Fair value of plan assets 2,147 2,038 1,227 1,972

As of December 31, 2006, CHF 754 million of actuanal losses and CHF 9 million
of prior service credits included n AOC! have not yet been recognized as a
component of Net periodic pension costs As of December 31, 2006, no net
transition obligation 1s included n AOCI and as a consequence, no further
amortization will be recorded in Net periodic pension costs In the 2007 fiscal year,
the Bank expecis to recognize CHF 55 million of AOC! as components of Net
penodic pension costs

Assumptions

The weighted-average assumphons used n the measurement ot the beneht cbligavon and net penodic pension cost for
the internaboral single~emproger defined benefit pension pans as of the measurement dale were as follues

September 30 n % 2006 2005
Benefit obligations

Discount rate 52 51
Salafy mcreases A4 49
Net benefit pension cost

Discount rate 51 56
Salary increases 42 4%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assels T2 7%

As of Seplember 30, 2006 and 2005, an annual weighted-average discount rate
of 58% and 5 5%, respectively, was assumed in measuring the other post-
retirement defined benefit obligation For 2006 and 2005, an average discount
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rate of 5 5% and 6 0%, respectively, was assumed in measuring the other post-
retirement defined benefit costs

In determming other post-retirement defined benefit costs for 2006 and 2005, an
annual weighted-average rate of 10 0% in the cost of covered heaith care benefits
was assumed The rate 1s assumed to decrease gradually to 4 5% by 2012 and
remain at that level thereafter A 1% increase or decrease In the health care cost
trend rate assumption would not have had a material impact on the amount of the
accumulated post-retirement defined benefit obligaton or expense in 2006 or
2005

Plan assets and investment strategy

The follewrg table sels forth tne weighted-a erage asset allocaton ¢t * -e Bank's internzaonal single-erployer dehined

benefif pension plars as of the measurement date

Seplember 30, n % 2006 2005
Equity securhes 447 573
Debt secunties 498 212
Real estate 02 44
Altematve nvestments 02 68
lnsurance 49 31
Liquichty 02 72
Total 1000 1000

The Bank’s miernational single-employer defined benefit pension plans employ a
tota! return investment approach, whereby a diversified mix of equity and fixed
income secunties and alternative Investments are used to maximize the long-term
return of plan assets while incurnng a prudent level of nsk The intent of this
strategy 1s to outperform plan liabilities over the long term in order fo minimize plan
expenses Risk tolerance 1s established threugh careful consideration of plan
Irabilities, plan funded status and corporate financial condition Furthermore, equity
investments are diversified across Swiss and non-Swiss stocks as well as among
growth, value, and small and large capitalizabion stocks Other assets, such as real
estate, private equity and hedge funds, are used to enhance long-term returns
while improving portfolio diversification Denvatives may be used to take market
exposure, but are not used to leverage the portfolic beyond the market value of
the underlying investments Investment nsk 1s measured and monitored on an
ongoing basis through periodic asset/liability studies and quarterly investment
portfoho reviews To imit investment risk, the Bank's international single-employer
defined benefit pension plans follow defined strategic asset allocation guidelines
Depending on the market conditions, these guidelines are even more imited on
a short-term basis

82 Credit Suisse Annua! Report 2006



Notes to the cansolidated finangial statements

The swverghied-average warge” asset allocabon of tne Bank s wmiernal omal single-emoloyer defined penett pension plan
asse’s as cf the measwrement date was

September 30, 2006, %

Equity secunties 450
Debt secunties 500
Real estate 00
Alternatve investments oo
Insurance 50
Liquidity 00
Total 1000

Estimated future benefit payments for defined benefit pension

and other post-retirement defined benefit plans

The foliowing tabie presents berefit payments for internatioral s ngle-employer defined verefit pension plans and oiher
post-retreme » cefined benefi plans espectes lo be pad, w- c¢h inciude the e'fect of expected 1uiuie sersce o tre
years naiIcEes

Defired  Cther post-
benefit retrement

pension defined
n CHF m plans  benefit plans
2007 63 8
2008 &7 g
2009 71 je)
2010 72 10
2011 73 10
Thereafter 380 55

Defined contribution pension plans

The Bank also contributes to various defined contribution pension plans primarily
in the United States and the Unied Kingdom but also in other countres
throughout the worid The contrbutions to these plans durng 2006, 2005 and
2004 were CHF 247 millron, CHF 237 milion and CHF 111 million, respectively

25 Derivatives and hedging activities

Dervatives are generally either privately negotiated OTC contracts or standard
contracts transacted through regulated exchanges The Bank's most frequently
used freestanding dervative products, entered inte for trading and nsk
management purposes, include interest rate, cross-currency and credit default
swaps, nterest rate and foreign currency ophons, foreign exchange forward
contracts, and foreign currency and interest rate futures

Further, the Bank enters into contracts that are not considered dernvatives in their
entirely but include embedded denvatve features Such transactions primardy
include 1ssued and purchased structured debt instruments where the return may
be calculated by reference to an equity secunty, index, or third-party credit risk,
or that have non-standard interest ar foreign currency terms

On the date the denvative contract 1s entered into, the Bank designates the
dervative as belonging to one of the following categonies

() trading actwities,
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(1) a nsk management transachon that does not qualify as a hedge under
accounting standards (referred to as an economic hedge),

{1 a hedge of the farr value of a recognized asset or hability,

(w)a hedge of the vanability of cash flows to be received or pad related to a
recognized asset or hability or a forecasted transaction, or

(v) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation

Trading activities

The Bank 1s active in most of the principal trading markets and transacts in many
popular trading and hedging products As noted above, this includes the use of
swaps, futures, options and structured products (custom transactions using
combinations of dervatives) in connection with its sales and trading activities
Trading activities include market-making, positioning and arbitrage actvities The
majonty of the Bank’s dervatwes held as of December 31, 2006 were used for
trading activities

Economic hedges

Economic hedges arnse when the Bank enters into dervative contracts for its own
nsk management purposes, but the contracts entered into do not quahfy for hedge
accounting under US GAAP These economic hedges include the following types

— interest rate denvatives to manage net interest rate nsk on certain core banking
business assets and habilities,

— foreign exchange dernvatives to manage foreign exchange risk on certain core
banking business revenue and expense items, as well as on core banking
business assets and habilities, and

- credit denvatives to manage credit sk on certan loan portfolios

Hedge accounting

Fair value hedges

The Bank designates farr value hedges as part of an overall interest rate nsk
management strategy that incorporates the use of denvatve instruments to
minimize fluctuations in earnings that are caused by interest rate volatiity

In additron to hedging changes in fair value due to interest rate nisk associated with
fixed-rate loans, repos and long-term debi instruments, the Bank uses

— cross-currency swaps to convert foreign currency denominated fixed rate
assets or llabilities to floating rate functional currency assets or labiihes, and

— foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency nisk
associated with available-for-sale securties

Cash flow hedges

The Bank uses cash flow hedging strategies to mitigate its nisk to vanability of cash
flows on loans, deposits and other debt obhigations by using interest rate swaps
to convert vanable rate assets or llabilities to fixed rates The Bank also uses cross-
currency swaps to convert foreign currency denominated fixed and floating rate
assets or habilities to fixed rate assets or habilities based on the currency profile
that the Bank elects to be exposed to This includes, but 1s not limited to, Swiss
francs and US dollars Further, the Bank uses denvatives to hedge its cash flows
assoclated with forecasted transactions

The maxmum length of time over which the Bank hedges 11 exposure 1o the
vanabilly in fufure cash flows for forecasted transactions, excluding those
forecasted transactions related to the payment of vanable interest on existing
financial instruments, 1s 22 months
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et investment hedges

The Bank typically uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge selected net
investments 1n foreign operations The objective of these hedging transactions 1s
to protect against adverse movements In foreign exchange rates

Hedge effectiveness assessment

The Bank assesses the effectiveness of hedging relatonships both prospectively
and retrospectively The prospective assessment 1s made both at the incepbion of
a hedgmng relationship and on an ongoing basis and requires the Bank to justify
its expectation that the relationship will be highly effective over fuiure perods The
retraspective assessment s also perfarmed on an ongoing basts and requues the
Bank to determine whether or not the hedging relationship has actually been
effective If the Bank concludes, through a retrospective evaluation, that hedge
accounting 1s appropriate for the current perod, then 1t measures the amount of
hedge ineffectiveness to be recognized in earnings

The followirg tadle sels forth tne detaily of farr vaue cash flow are net inves'nent hedges

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Fair value hedges
Net gan/(loss) on the neffectve porton 2 21 13
Cash flow hedges
Net gain/(loss) on the neffectve porton 0 1 0
Expected reclassfication from AOCI into eamings dunng the next 12 months 4] 1 1
Net investment hedges
Net gain/(loss) on hedges included in AQCI (93) (178) (113
26 Guarantees and commitments
Guarantees
The folicwing lavles sel fo th tre detads of corr ngent habilibes associated with guaranees
Matunty n Matunity Matunty Matuniy of

jess than between between greater Total gross. Total net Carmying Coltateral
Cecember 31 2006, n CHF m lyear 3to3years 3toSyears than 5 years amount ameount value receved
Credit guarantees and similar instruments 3,153 1,396 2,175 3,196 9850 7,450 8 4,581
Performance guaramr;t?es and similar instruments 3.657 4,307 1,048 1,883 10853 9,687 162 3,069
Secunties lending indemnifications 36,834 o] 0 0 36,834 36,834 0 36,834
Demvatives 41,465 69,135 437,067 122,858 670526 570,526 4,828 -
Other guarantees 2,584 397 132 213 3,326 3,326 0 1,356
Total guatantees 87,693 75,165 440,420 128,151 731,429 727,823 4,994 45,840

Maturty n Maturry Matuy  Matunty of

less than between between greater  Total gross Total net Campng Coliateral
December 31 2005, n CHF m lyear 1to3years 3toSyears ‘hanSyears amount amount * valye recenved
Credit guaraniees and similar instruments 2,928 1,222 2,136 2,898 9,182 65,822 1 3,128
Pertormance guarantees and similar instruments 3.838 1,891 1,152 1,227 8,108 7,258 233 3,644
Secuntties lending ndemnifications 35,456 0 0 0 35,456 35,456 o 35,456
Dervatves 61,287 81,340 216,787 60,740 430,154 430,154 4,076 -
Other guaraniees 2,326 457 122 207 3,112 3n2 0 1,548
Total guarantees 105,835 94,910 220,197 65,070 486,012 482,802 4,320 43,776

® Tatal net amount 15 computed as the gross amount less any participations @ Collateral for denvatives accounted for as guarantees 1s not considered sigruficant
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Credit guarantees and similar instruments

Credit guarantees and similar instruments are contracts that require the Bank to
make payments should a third party fail to do so under a specified existing credit
obkgation For example, in connection with ifs corporate lending business and other
corporate activibies, the Bank provides guarantees to counterparties in the form
of standby letters of credit, which represent obligations to make payments to third
parties If the counterparties fail to fulfill therr obligations under a borrowing
arrangement or other contractual obligation

As part of the Bank’s commercial mortgage actmities in the United States, the
Bank sells certain commercial and residential mortgages that it has onginated or
purchased to the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) and agrees to
bear a percentage of the losses should the borrowers fail to perform The Bank
also 1ssues guarantees that require it to reimburse the FNMA for losses on certain
whole loans underlying mortgage-backed securities 1ssued by the FNMA

The Bank also prownides guarantees ta VIEs and other counterparties under which
it may be required to buy assets fram such entities upon the occurrence of certain
tnggenng events

Performance guarantees and similar instruments

Performance guarantees and simiar instruments are arrangements that require
contingent payments to be made when certain performance-related targets or
covenants are not met Such covenants may include a customer's obligation to
deliver certain products and services or to perform under a construction contract
Performance guarantees are frequently executed as part of project finance
transactions

Under certain circumstances, the Bank has provided investors in pnivate equity
funds sponsored by a Bank entity guarantees of patential abligations of certain
general pariners to return amounts previcusly paid as carried interest to those
general partners To manage Its exposure, the Bank generally withholds a portion
of carned interest distnbutions to cover any repayment obligations In addition,
pursuant to certain contractual arrangements, the Bank is obligated to make cash
payments to certain investors in certain private equity funds If specified
performance thresholds are not met

Further, as part of the Bank's residential mortgage securitizaton activities in the
United States, the Bank may guarantee the collection by the servicer and
remittance to the secuntization trust of prepayment penalties

Securnties lending mdemnifications

Secunties lending indemnifications are arrangements in which the Bank agrees to
indemnify securities lending customers against losses incurred in the event that
secunty borrowers do not return secunties subject to the lending agreement and
the collateral held 1s wsufficient to cover the market value of the securities
borrowed

Denvatives

Denvatives disclosed as guarantees are 1ssued In the ordinary course of business,
generally in the form of wntten put options and credit default swaps Derivative
contracts that may be cash seftled, and which the Bank has no basis for concluding
that 1t 15 probable that the counterparties held the underlying instruments at the
inception of the confracts, are not considered guarantees under FIN No 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantfees of Indebtedness of Others — An Interpretation of FASB
Staiements No 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No 34 *
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For denvative contracts executed with counterparties which generally act as
financial intermediaries, such as investment banks, hedge funds and secunty
dealers, the Bank has concluded that there 1s no basis to assume that these
counterparties hold the underlying instruments related to the denvative contracts
and, therefore, does not report such contracts as guarantees

The Bank manages Hs exposure to these derivatives by engaging n varous
hedging strategies to reduce its exposure For some contracts, such as wniten
interest rate caps or foreign exchange optons, the maximum payout 15 not
determinable as interest rates or exchange rates could theorelically nse vathout
lmit For these contracts, notional amounts are disclosed i the table above in
order to provide an indication of the underlying exposure In addition, the Bank
carries all derivatives at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets

Other guarantees

Other guarantees include bankers' acceptances, residual value guarantees,
deposit insurance, contingent considerations In business combinations, the
minimum value of an investment in mutual funds or prvate equity funds and all
other guarantees that are not allocated to one of the captions above

Deposit-aking banks 10 Swiizertand and certan other European counines are
required to ensure the payout of privileged deposits in case of specified
restnictions or compulsory iquidation of a deposit-taking bank Upon occurrence
of a paycut event, the Bank'’s contribution will be calculated based on its share of
privieged deposits in proportion to total privileged deposits These deposit
insurance guarantees are refiected in Other guarantees in the table above The
Bank believes that the likelihood of having to pay under these agreements s
remote

Disposal-related contingencies and other indemnifications

The Bank has certain guarantees for which ifs maximum contingent hability cannot
be quantified These guarantees are not reflected in the table above and are
discussed below

Disposal-related contingencies

In connection with the sale of assets or businesses, the Bank scmetimes provides
the acquirer with certain indemnification prowisions These indemnification
provisians vary by counterparty in scope and duration and depend upon the type
of assets or businesses sold These indemnification provisions generally shift the
potential nsk of certan unquantifiable and unknowable loss contingencies (e g ,
relating to lihigation, tax and inteilectual property matters) from the acquirer to the
seller The Bank closely monitors all such contractual agreements in order to
ensure that indemnification provisions are adequately provided for i the Bank's
consolidated financial statements

Other indemnifications

The Bank provides indemnifications to certain counterparties in connection with
its normal operating actmvities, for which tt Is not possible fo estimate the maximum
amount that it could be obligated to pay As a normal part of 1ssuing 1ts own
secunties, the Bank typically agrees to reimburse holders for additional tax
withholding charges or assessments resufting fram changes 1n applicable tax laws
or the interpretation of those laws Securities that include these agreements to pay
additional amounts generally also include a related redemption or call prowision If
the obhgaton o pay the addihonal amounts result from a change n law orits
interpretation and the obligation cannot be avoided by the 1ssuer taking reasonable
steps to avoid the payment of additional amounts Since such potential obligations
are dependent on iuture changes in tax laws, the related liabilities the Bank may
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incur as a result of such changes cannot be reasonably estimated In iight of the
related call provisions typically included, the Bank does not expect any potental
llabilhies in respect of tax gross-ups to be matenal

The Bank 1s a member of numerous secunties exchanges and clearing houses and
may, as a resu't of (ts membership arrangements, be required to perform if another
member defaults The Bank has determined that it i1s not possible to estimate the
maximum amount of these obligations and believes that any potential requirement
to make payments under these arrangements 1s remote

Lease commitments
The {ollowing table sets foah tre detals of future minimum operabng lease commitments under ror-cancelakle
operat ng leases as o~ Becember 37, 2008

n CHF m

2007 639
2008 582
2009 523
2010 485
2011 450
Thereafter 4,758
Future aperating lease commitments 7,437
Less minimum nen-cancellable sublease rentals 1,125
Total net future minimum lease commitments 6,312

The foilowing table sets fc h t~e delalls of -em al expense o ali operaling leases

Year ended December 31, n CHE m 2006 2006 2004
Minimurmn rental expense 673 672 683
Sublease rental mcome (158) (146) (149)
Total net rental expense 515 526 544

Other commitments
Tre followi~g tabler set i th e datads of clhe comnutments

Malunty n Matuny Matiy  Malunty of

less than between between greater  Tokl gross Total net Colateral
December 31, 2006, n CHF m fyewr 1lo3years JloByears thanSyeas amount amount " recewed
Irrevocable commitments under documentary credits 5,305 18 23 0 5,346 4,965 2,705
Loan commitments 167,907 14,464 28,625 14,641 295,537 224,225 132,452
Farward reverse repurchase agreements 5,535 122 0 40 5,697 5,687 5,697
Other commitments 1,095 184 275 3,263 4,847 4,847 12
Total other commitments 179,842 14,788 28,923 17,874 241,427 239,734 140,966
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Matunty in Matunty Matunty Matunty of

less than between between greater Total gross Total net Coltateral
Oecember 3%, 2005, n THF m Tyear Vio3years 3JtoSyears thanDyeans amount amount ¥ receved
Irrevocable commitments under documentary credits 5,215 26 43 ¢] 5,284 4,981 2,733
Loan commitments 132,180 16,831 29,236 14,060 192,297 192,026 115,178
Forward reverse repurchase agreements 16,472 0 0 0 15,472 15,472 15,472
Other commitments 603 738 278 1,043 2,862 2,862 483
Total other commitments 153,470 17,595 29,557 15,293 215,915 215,341 133,866

 Total net amount 1s computed as the gross amount less any parkcipabens

lrrevocable commiments under documentary credits

Irrevocable commitments under documentary credits include exposures from trade
finance related to commercial letters of credit under which the Bank guarantees
payments to exporters against presentation of shipping and other documents

Loan commilments

Loan commitments include unused credit facilities that cannot be revoked at any
time wathout prior notice Commitments to onginate mortgage loans that wilt be
held for sale are considered dervatives for accounting purposes and are not
included in this disclosure Such commitments are reflected as dernvatives in the
consolidated balance sheets

Forward reverse repurchase agreements

Forward reverse repurchase agreements represent transactions in which the inihal
cash exchange of the reverse repurchase transactions takes place on specified
future dates

Other commitments

Other commitments include private equity commitments, firm commitments in
underwriting securities, commitments ansing from deferred payment letters of
credit and from acceptances in circulabon and habilities for calls on shares and
other equity instruments
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27 Transfers and servicing of financial assets

As part of the normal course of business, the Bank enters into secuntization
transactions and uses VIEs pnmanly for this purpose

Secuntization activity

The Bank onginates and purchases commercial and residentral morigages for the
purpose of securitization The Bank sells these mortgage loans to qualified special
purpose enhities {QSPEs) or other VIEs, which are not consolidated by the Bank
These QSPEs 1ssue secunties that are backed by the assets transferred to the
QSPEs and pay a return based on the returns on those assets Investors in these
mortgage-backed securities typically have recourse to the assets in the QSPEs
The investors and the QSPEs have no recourse to the Bank's assets The Bank
15 an underwniter of, and makes a market in, these securities

The Bank purchases loans and other debt obligaticns from clients for the purpose
of secuntization The loans and other debt obligahons are sold by the Bank directly,
or indirectly through affiiates, to QSPEs or other VIEs that 1ssue Collateralized debt
obligations (CDQs) The Bank structures, underwntes and makes a market in these
CDOs CDOQs are secuntes backed by the assels transferred o the CDO VIEs and
pay a return based on ihe returns on those assets Invesiors typically have recourse
to the assets in the CDO VIEs The investers and the CDO VIEs have no recourse
to the Bank’s assets

The followir g taple summanizes proceeds receved from secanbzalion frusts and pre-iax gans recogniced by the Ba ¥

on secuni zabors

Year ended December 31, In CHF m 2006 2005 2004
Commercial mortgage-backed securies (CMBS)

Proceeds from secuntizations 30,089 17,939 13,396
Gains on securitizations ? 704 411 435
Residential mortgage-backed secunties (RMBS)

Proceeds from secuntizations 46,023 69,942 53,799
Gains on secuntzations Y 55 72
Collateralized debt ocbhgations (CDO)

Proceeds from secuntezabions 10,343 8,183 5,316
Gans on secuntzabons 120 164 44
Other asset-backed secunties (ABS)?

Proceeds from secuntzations 5,503 10,518 9,775
Gans on secuntzabons 50 el 5

1 Includes underwnting revenues, daferred ongination fees, gains or kusses on the sale of collateral to the QSPE or VIE and gans or losses on the sale of the newty issued secunties to
third parbies, but excludes net interest revenues on assels prior 1 secuntizaton The gains or losses on the sale of the collatera 1s the difference between the lair value on the day pror o

the secuntzaton pnang date and the sale prce of the loans ? Prnmarily hame equity loans

The Bank may retain inferests in these secuntized assets in connection with s
underwriting and market-making actvities The Bank's exposure inits secunbization
actvities 1s generally hmited to its retaned interests Retaned Interests n
securitized financial assets are included at far value in Trading assets m the
consolidated balance sheets Any changes in the farr value of these retained
interests are recogrized n the consolidated statement of Income The farr values
of retained nterests are determined using farr value estimation techniques, such
as the present value of estimated {future cash flows that incorporate assumptions
that market participants customarily use m these valuation techmgues The Bank
does not retain materal servicing responsibilibies from its secuntization transactions

Gains and losses on secuntization fransactions depend In part on the carrying
values of mortgages and CDOs involved in the transfer, and are allocated between
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the mortgages and CDOs sold and any retained interests according to the relative
fair values at the date of sale

Key econom ¢ assumpthions used n meastang at the cate of secunitizabon the Tar va've of re reta red nferests

resulling from coro eles secu lizations were as © ows

2006 2005
December 31 CMBS "  RMBS coo ? ABS CMBS " RMBS cDho 2 ABS
Weighted-average Iife, i years 32 34 54 36 51 79 54
Prepayment speed assumpbon (in rate per annum), in % * - 0920 - 250 - 0-56 2 - 250
Cash flow discount rate (in rate per annum}, n % © 10-319 0-397 0-215 263 54-144 0-395 9°2-141 36-166
Expected credit bosses (in rate per anhum), in % 16-280 0297 0-17 0 217 10101 0-353 51-102 07-123

Tre following table sels foh tre fain value of retaned miterests mom secunnizanons. «e, eccrem ¢ assumphons used o
delerrune the fai value and the sensiiv iy o e far value to immediate adverse cranges in those assumphions

Decemnber 31, 2006, n CHF m, excepl wheré mdicated MBS ! RMBS cDO 2 ABS
Carmrying amount / far value of retaned interests 634 4,293 744 66
Weghted-average Iife, in years 3g 42 60 14
Prepayment speed assumpbon (in rate per annumy, m % - C-748 - 250680
Impact on farr value from 10% adverse change - (190) - (10
Impact on far value from 20% adverse change - (36 0) - (30
Cash flow discount rate (n rate per annum), n % * 10-148 65215 42-145 262
Impact on fair value from 10% adverse change (74) ®B17 (103) -
Impact on far value from 20% adverse change {16 1) {122 0) (19 4} (1 3)
Expected credit losses (in rate per annumy), n % 21-108 04-07 01-106 215
Impact on far value from 10% adverse change (27) (63) (53 -
Impact on far value from 20% adverse change (54) {114 (105} [4B<)]

" Ta deter prepayment, commercial mortgage %oans typically have prepayment protection in the form of prepayment lockouts and yeld mantenances

% CDOs are generally structured

to be protected from prepayment nsk # Prepayment speed assumption (PSA) 1s an industry standard prepaymeant speed metne used for projecting prapayments over the Iife of a
residential morigage loan PSA utibzes the Constant Prepayment Rate (CPR) assumptions A 100% prepayment assumpbon assumes & prepayment rate of 0 2% per annum of the
outstanding pnncipal balarce of mortgage lpans in the first month This increases by 0 2% thereafter dunng the term of the morigage kian, leveling off to a CPR of 6% per annum

beginning in the 30th month and each month thereafter dunng the term of the morigage ban 100 PSA equals § CPR

“ The rate 15 based on the weighled-average yeld on the

retained interest 9 of whuch CHF 55 millien, or 9%, CHF 570 miion or 13%, CHF 82 milion er 11%, and CHF 66 million, ar 100% relating to CMBS, RMBS, CDO and ABS,

respectvely 1s non-Investment grade

These sensitiviles are hypothetical and do not reflect the benefits of hedging
actvities Changes in fair value based on a 10% or 20% vanation in assumptions
generally cannot be extrapolated because the relatienship of the change in
assumplion to the change in farr value may not be iinear Also, the effect of a
vanation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the retained interests 1s
calculated without changing any other assumption In practce, changes in one
assumption may result in changes in other assumptions (for example, increases
in market interest rales may resuli in lower prepayments and increased credit
losses), which might magnily or counteract the sensitivities

Vanable interest entities

FIN 48(R) requires the Bank to consolidate all VIEs for which 1t 1s the primary
beneticiary, defined as the entity that will absorb a majonty of expected losses,
recewve a majonty of the expected residual returns, or both

The Bank consolidates all VIEs for which 1t 15 the primary beneficiary
As a notmal part of its business, the Bank engages in transachons with enbties

that are considered VIEs These transactions tnclude selling or purchasing
assets, acting as a counterparty in derivatives transactions and providing hquidity,
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credit or other support Transachions with VIEs are generally executed to facihiate
secuntization activities or to meet specific clrent needs, such as providing iquidity
or investment opportunities, and as part of these actvities, the Bank may retan
interests in VIEs In general, investors in consolidated VIEs do not have recourse
to the Bank in the event of a default, except where a guarantee was provided to
the invesiors or where the Bank 1s the counterparty to a denvative transachon
involving VIEs

As of December 31, 2006, the Bank consolidated all VIEs for which 1t 1s the
primary beneficiary under FIN 46(R) Net income was unaffected as offsetting
minonty interests were recorded in the consolidated statements of income

The Bank's involvement with VIEs may be broadly grouped into three primary
categories CDOs, Commercial paper conduits {CP conduits) and Financial
intermediation

The followirg table sets fo-ih the lotal assels by category related o VIEs consolda.ed as a resuit of ne Bank bemng the

pumary beaehoary

December 31, in CHF m 2006 311206
Collateralzed debt obkgations 6,538 2,600
Commercial paper conduits 1 1
Financial intermedaton 15,186 13,836
Total assets related to consolidated VIES 21,725 16,437
The bllowing table sots for n the total assels by cateqory re'sted to non-conso'idated VIZs

December 31, n CHF m 2006 311205
Colateraized debt obhgations 15,636 20,515
Commercial paper conduits 7.038 8,528
Financial intermediation 90,584 76,824
Total assets related to hon-consoiidated VIEs 113,258 105,867

Collateralized debt obligations

As part of 1ts siructured finance business, the Bank purchases loans and other debt
obligations from and on behalf of clients for the purpase of secuntization The loans
and other debt obligations are sold fo GSPEs or VIEs that 1ssue CDOs VIEs 1ssue
CDOs to fund the purchase of assets such as investment-grade and high-yield
corporate debt instruments The Bank engages in CDO transactions to meet chent
and investor needs, earn fees and sell financial assets

In connection with its CDO activities, the Bank may act as underwnter, placement
agent or asset manager and may warehouse assets prior to the closing of a
transaction The Bank may also act as a derivatives counterparty to the VIEs and
may invest in portions of the notes or equity 1ssued by the VIEs The Bank also
participates in synthetic CDO transactions, which use credit default swaps to
exchange the underlying credit nsk instead of using cash assets 1n a separate legal
entity The CDO entittes may have actively managed (open) portfolios or siatic or
unmanaged (closed) portfolios

The Bank has consolidated all CDO VIEs for which it is the pnmary beneficiary
resulting in the inclusion by the Bank of approxmately CHF 6 § bilion and CHF
2 6 billon of assets and liabilities of these VIEs as of December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively The increase in Total assets consolidated
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primarly reflected the application of FSP FIN 46(R)-6 The beneficral interests
issued by these VIEs are payable solely from the cash flows of the related
collaterat, and the creditors of these VIEs do not have recourse to the Bank in the
event of default

The Bank also retains certain debt and equity interests in open CDQO VIEs that are
not consolidated because the Bank 1s not the primary beneficiary The Bank's
exposure In these CDO transactions typically consists of the interests retained in
connection with its underwrting or market-making activities The Bank's maximum
loss exposure i1s generally equal to the carrying value of these retained interests,
which are reported as Trading assets and carried at farr value and totaled CHF 1 7
bidlion and CHF 1 Q biliion as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,
respectively

Commercial paper conduits

The Bank continues to act as the administrator and provider of Iiquidity and credit
enhancement facilibes for several CP conduits These CP conduits purchase
assets, prnmarly recewables, from clents and provide hquidity through the
1ssuance of commercial paper backed by these assets The chents prowide credit
support to investors of the CP conduits in the form of over-cotlateralization and
other asset-specific enhancements as described below The Bank does not sell
assets to the CP conduts and does not have any ownership interest in the CP
condurts

The Bank's commitments to CP condurts consist of obligations under hquidity and
credit enhancement agreements The liquidity agreements are asset-speciiic
arrangements, which require the Bank to purchase assets from the CP conduits
in certain circumstances, such as if the CF conduits are unable to access the
commercial paper markets Credit enhancement agreements, which may be asset-
specific or program-wide, require the Bank to purchase certain assets under any
condition, including default In entering inte such agreements, the Bank reviews
the credit nsk associated with these transactions on the same basis that would
apply to other extensions of credit

As of December 31, 2006, the Bank's maxmum loss exposure to non-
consalidated CP conduits was CHF 12 5 bilian, which consisted of CHF 7 0 billion
of funded assets and the CP conduits” commitments to purchase CHF & 5 brllion
of additional assets As of December 31, 2005, the Bank's maxmum loss
exposure was CHF 14 2 hillon

The Bank believes that the kelihood of incurring a loss equal to this maximum
exposure 15 ;femote because the assets held by the CP conduits, after gmvng effect
to related asset-specific credit enhancement pnmarily provided by the clients, must
be classified as investment grade when acquired by the CP conduits

Financial intermediation

The Bank has signficant mvolvement with VIEs in its role as a financial
intermediary on behalf of clhents These activities include the use of VIEs to
structure vanous fund-inked products to provide chents with investment
opportunities in alternative investments In addition, the Bank prowides financing
to client-sponsored VIEs, established to purchase or lease certain types of assets
For certain products structured to provide chents with investment opportumties,
a VIE holds underlying investments and 1ssues secunities that provide investors with
a return based on the performance of those investments The investors typically
retain the nsk of loss on such transactions but the Bank may prowide principal
pratection on the securities to hmit the investors' exposure to downside nsk
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As a financial intermediary, the Bank may adminmister or sponsor the VIE, transfer
assets to the VIE, provide collateralized financing, act as a denvatives counterparty,
advise on the transaction, act as investment adwisor or investment manager, act
as underwnter or placement agent or provide credit enhancement, hquidity or other
support to the VIE The Bank alsc owns secunties 1ssued by the VIEs which have
been structured to provide clients with investment opportunities, for market-making
purposes and as investments The Bank's maximum loss exposure to non-
consolidated VIEs related to Financial infermediafion actwibies was CHF 19 1 tullion
and CHF 12 6 bilion as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,
respectively, which represents the notional amount of any guarantees from the
Bank and the fair value of all other Bank interests held, rather than the amount
of Tofal assets of the VIEs Further, the Bank considers the likelthood of incurnng
a loss equal to the maximum exposure to be remote because of the Bank's nisk
mitrgatron efforts, including hedging strategies, and the nisk of loss that 1s retamned
by investors

28 Financial instruments

Concentrations of credit risk

Credit nsk concentratrons anse when a number of counterparties are engaged in
similar business, activites, or the same geographic region, or when they have
similar economic features that would cause ther ability to meet contractual
obligations to be similarly impacted by changes in economic conditions

The Bank regularly monitors the credit nsk portfohio by counterparties, industry,
country and products to ensure that such potential concentrations are identified,
using a comprehensive range of quantitative tools and metncs Credit hmits relating
fo counterparties and products are managed through counterparty imits which set
the maximum credit exposures the Bank 15 wilhng to assume to speciiic
counterparties over specified periods Country imits are established to avoid any
undue country nsk concentration

From an industry point of view, the combined credit exposure of the Bank s
dversified A large porbon of the credit exposure is with indwidual chents,
particularly through residential mortgages in Switzerland, or relates to transactions
with financial mstitutions In both cases, the custemer base i1s extensive and the
number and vanety of transactions are broad For transactions with financial
institutions, the business 1s also geographically diverse, with operations focused
in the Americas, Europe and, to a lesser extent, Asia Pacific

Fair value of financal instruments

The disclosure requirements of SFAS No 107, *Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments” (SFAS 107), encompass the disclosure of the far values
of financial mstruments for which it 1s practicable to estimate those values, whether
of not they are recognized n the consohdated financial statements SFAS 107
excludes all non-financial instruments such as lease transactions, Real estate,
Prermises and equipment, Fquily method investments and pension and benefit
obligations

Quoted market prices, when avalable, are used as the measure of fair value n
cases where quoted market prices are not avallable, farr values are determined
using present value estimates or other valuation techniques, for example, the
present valye of estimated expected future cash flows using discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved, ophion-pricing models, matnx pnicing, option-
ad|usted spread models and fundamental analysis Fair value estimation techniques

94 Credit Suisse Annus! Repost 2006



Notes to the consclidated financial statements

normally incorporate assumptions that market participants would use n therr
estimates of values, future revenues, and future expenses, including assumptions
about interest rates, default, prepayment and volatiity Since assumptions are
inherently subjective 1n nature, estimated fair values cannot be substantiated by
comparnson {o independent market quotes and, in many cases, estimated far
values would not necessarily be realized in immediate sales or settlement of the
nstruments

For cash and other lqutd assets and money market papers maturing within three
months, far values are assumed to approximate book values, gven the short-term
nature of these instruments For those items with a stated matunty exceeding three
months, far values are calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis

For non-impaired Loans where quoted market prices are avallable, farr values are
based on such prices For vanable rate Loans which re-pnce within three menths,
book values are used as reasonable estimates of farr values For other non-
impaied Loans, far values are estimated by discounting contractual cash flows
using market interest rates for Loans with similar charactenstics For impaired
Loans, book values, net of valuation adjustments, approximate fair values

The securies and precious metals trading portfelio 1s carned in the consolidated
balance sheets at far value

Fair values of denvative instruments used for hedging, financial investments from
the banking business and non-consolidated participations are based on quoted
market pnices Where these are not available, far values are based on the quoted
market pnces of comparable instruments, or are estimated by discounting
estimated future cash flows or by using other valuation techniques

For deposit insirumenis with no stated matunty and those with eriginal matunties
of less than three months, book values are assumed to approximate farr values due
to the shori-term nature of these habilities For deposit instruments with a stated
matunty exceeding three manths, far values are calculated using a discounted cash
flow analysts

For medium-term notes, bonds and mortgage-backed bonds, farr values are
estimated using quoted market prices or by discounting the remaining contractual
cash flows using a rate at which the Bank could i1ssue debt with a stmilar remaining
maturity as of the dates of the consolidated balance sheets
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Tre following table sets fon t~e carning va Les a~a fne estimated far values of the Bank s financial ns‘ruments
recognized o the consolioated balance sheels

2006 2005
December 31, n CHF m Bogk value Fair value  Book vaue Far value
Financial assets
Central bank funds sold, securities purchased under resale agreements
and secunties borrowing transactons 318,572 318576 352,703 352,634
Secunties receved as collateral 32,310 32,310 23,71 23,791
Trading assets 449,422 449,422 412997 412997
Investment secunties 20,304 20,306 24,163 24 165
Loans 190,883 192,160 169599 172,860
Other financial assets * 194,105 184,106 125568 125,631
Financial habilites
Deposits 384924 387,803 347,33¢ 349,373
Central bank funds purchased, secunties sold under repurchase agreements
and secunties lending transactions 288,442 287,645 309,777 309,596
Obligation to retum secunties receved as collateral 32,310 32,310 23,73 23,791
Trading labilties 157035 197,936 194204 194,004
Short-term bormowings 16,287 16,287 16,291 16,302
Long-term debt 144,021 144,805 125,860 127,025
Other financial labilites 117,370 117,370 78,242 78,242

" Includes cash and due from banks interest-beanng deposits with banks, brokerage recenables, loans held-for-sale, cash collateral on denvatve instruments, nterest and fee receivables
and non-marketable equity secunties for which the camying value is a reasonable estmate of the far value ™ Includes brokerage payables cash collateral on dervative instruments
interest and fee payables for which the carmang value 1s a reasonable eskmate of the far value

29 Assets pledged or assigned

The followi~g table sels fomh tre details of assels pledgeo or assigned

December 31 w CHF m 2006 2005
Book value of assets pledged and assigned as collateral 261,133 204,640
of which assets provided with the nght to sell or repledge 200,193 182517
Fair value of collateral receved with the nght to sell or repledge 622,761  £03,069
of which sold or repledged 508,862 575,703

The Bank had recewed collateral in connection with resale agreements, securnhes
lending and loans, denvative transactions and margined broker loans A substantial
portion of the collateral received by the Bank had been sold or repledged in
connection with repurchase agreements, secunties sold not yet purchased,
secunties borrowings and loans, pledges to cleanng organizations, segregation
requirements under securihies laws and regulations, denvatve transactions and
bank loans

The follewsng table shows oiner informat on

December 31, o CHF m 2006 2005
Cash restncted under foreign banking regulations 17,290 13,090
Swiss National Bank Liquidity 1 requrred cash reserves 1,472 1,438
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30 Capital adequacy

The Bank, on a consolidated basts, 1s subject to nsk-based capital and leverage
guideltnes under Swiss Federal Banking Commussion (Eidgenossische
Bankenkommission, or EBK) and Bank for International Settlements (BIS)
gudelines These guidelines are used to evaluate nsk-based capital adequacy
Since January 1, 2004, the Bank has based its capital adequacy calculations on
US GAAP, as permitted by EBK newsletter 32 (dated December 18, 2003) The
EBK has advised the Bank that it may continue to include as Tier 1 capital CHF
6 2 bilien of equity from VIEs (non-cumulative perpetual preferred secunties and
trust preferred secunties) that have been deconsolidated under FIN 46{R)

According to EBK and BIS capital requirements, total regulatory capital ts
comprised of two cateqones Ter 1 capital compnises shareholder's equity
according to US GAAP, and the equity from VIEs as described above Among other
items, this 1s adjusted by anticipated dividends, the Bank's holdings of Credit
Suisse Group shares outside the trading book, goodwill, pensions and an
adjustment for the Bank’s investment in insurance entities Tier 1 capital 1s
supplemented for capital adequacy purposes by Tier 2 capital, which consists
primanly of perpetual and dated subordinated debt instruments The sum of these
two capital tiers, less non-consolidated participations in the industries of banking
and finance, equals total avalable capital Under both EBK and BIS guidelines, a
bank must have a ratio of total eligible capital to aggregate risk-weighted assets
of at least 8%, of which the Tier 1 capital element must be at least 4%

The ratios measure capital adequacy by companng eligble capital with nsk-
welghted assets positions, which include consolidated balance sheet assets, net
posittons n securties not held in the trading portfolio, ofi-balance sheet
transactions converted into credit equivalents and market positions in the trading
portfalio

The Bank's consolidated BIS Tier 1 ratio was 11 4% as of December 31, 2006,
an increase from 98% as of December 31, 2005 Risk-weighted assets
increased compared to December 31, 2005 due to increases in lending actvities
and QTC denvatives partially offset by a decrease in banking book secunties Tier
1 capital increased CHF 6,037 million from December 31, 20056 mainly due to the
positive contributton of Nef income The Bank's shareholder's equity increased
from CHF 25 8 billion as of December 31, 2005 to CHF 26 O billion as of
December 31, 2006 This was primarily due to the full year Net mncome partially
offset by the payment of dwidends, an increase in Credit Suisse Group shares held
to meet share award obhgations and the change in US GAAP pension accounting
This change requires an employer to recognize the funded status of a defined
benefit plan in the consolidated balance sheet, which reduced shareholders' equity
by CHF Q 3 billion but had no effect on Tier 1 capital For further information on
the change in pension accounting, see note 2 “Recently 1ssued accounting
standards — SFAS 158 "

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Bank was adequately capitalized under
the regulatory provisions outlined under both EBK and BIS guidelines
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Ihe following table sets forth tne detarls of BIS data (nsk-we ghted assels, capral and ra s}

December 31, in CHF m, except where ndicated 2006 2005
Risk-weighted postions 218,927 200,904
Market nsk equvalents 12,746 12,499
Risk-weighted assets 232,673 213,403
Total shareholder’s equity 26,045 25,788
Reconcikaton to tier 1 caprtal

Non-cumulatve perpetual preferred secunties 1,065 1,044

Investment in insurance entities (22) 02

Adjustments for goodwll, mnonty interests, disaliowed unrealzed gans on farr value measurement,

own shares, dvidend accruals and penswons (488) (6,257}
Tier 1 capital 26,600 20,563

of which non-cumulatrve perpetual preferred secunties 1,065 1,044
Tier 2 capital

Upper Tier 2 6,140 4964

Lower Tier 2 7,440 5,875
Tier 2 capital 13,580 10,839
Less deductions (1,739) (1,587)
Total BIS regutatory capital 38,441 29,815
Tier 1 ratio 11 4% 96%
Total BIS regulatory capita! ratio 16 5% 14 0%

Broker-dealer operations

Certain Bank broker-dealer subsidianies are also subject to capital adequacy
requirements As of December 31, 2006, the Bank and its subsidianes complied
with all applicable regulatory capital adequacy requirements

Dividend restrictions

Certain of the Bank's subsidiaries are subject to legal restrictions governing the
ameunt of dividends they can pay (for example, pursuant to corporate law as
defined by the Swiss Code of Obligations) As of December 31, 2006, the Bank
was not subject to restnctions on its ability to pay dividends

31 Litigation and other contingencies

In accordance with SFAS No 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” the Bank
recorded in 2005 a CHF 960 million (USD 750 miilion) charge before tax (CHF
624 milion after tax) in Investment Banking 1o increase the reserve for prvate
Iihigation involving Enron, certain IPO allocation practices, research analyst
independence and other related Itigation The charge was i addition to the reserve
for these private itgation matters of CHF 702 million (USD 450 mullton), before
tax, onginally established in 2002, and brings the total reserve for these private
Itigation matters to CHF 1 2 billion (USD 1 O billion) as of December 31, 2008,
after deductrons for settlements

The Bank 15 also involved in a number of other judicial, regulatory and arbitration
proceedings concerring matlers ansmng i connechon wath the conduct of ws
businesses These actions have been brought on behalf of various classes of
claimants and, unless otherwise specified, seek damages of matenal and/or
indeterminate amounts The Bank believes, based on currently available informatien
and advice of counsel, that the results of such proceedings, in the aggregate, are
not likely fo have a matenal adverse effect on its financial condition but might be

98 Credit Suisse Annual Report 2006




Notes to the consolidated financial statements

matenal to operating results for any particular penod, depending, n part, upon the
aperating resulis for such period

It ts inherently difficult to predict the outcome of many of these matters In
presenting the consolidated financial statements, management makes estimates
regarding the cutcome of these matters and records a reserve and takes a charge
to income when losses with respect to such matters are probable and can be
reasonably estimated Estimates, by thewr nature, are based on judgment and
currently available information and involve a variety of factors, including, but not
limited to, the type and nature of the liigation, ctaim or proceeding, the progress
of the matier, the advice of legal counsel, the Bank's defenses and its expenence
in similar cases or proceedings, as well as its assessment of matters, including
settlements, involving other defendants in similar or related cases or proceedings

Further charges or releases of hbigation reserves may be necessary in the future
as developments in such tigation, claims or proceedings warrant
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32 Significant subsidiaries and associates

Significant subsidiaries
As of Decerrper 37 2006

% of equiy Capital
capita) held Company name Domicile Currency nm
100 AJP Cayman Lid George Town, Cayman lstands JPY 80256
100 Banco Credit Suisse (Mexico} S A Mexico City, Mexico MXN 679 4
100 Banco de Investimentos Credit Suisse (Brasil} S A Sap Paulo, Brazd BRL 164 8
100 Boston RE Lid Hamilton, Bermuda usD 20
100 Candlewood Capital Partners LLC Wilmington, United States usD 15
100 Casa de Bolsa Credit Suisse (Mexico) S A de CV Mexico Ciy, Mexico MXN 0741
100" City Bank Zunch, Switzerand CHF 75
100 CND Secuntization LLC Wilmington, Unrted States usD 1834
i00 Column Canada Financial Corp Toronto, Canada usp oo
100 Column Finangial, Inc Witrmngton, United States usD 00
100 Credrt Suisse (Australia) Limited Sydney, Australia AUD 341
100 Credit Suisse (Bahamas) Limited Nassau, Bahamas usD 120
100 Credit Suisse (Deutschland) AG Frankfurt, Germany EUR 60 0
100 Credit Suisse (France) Pans, France EUR 529
100 Credit Suisse (France} Helding S A Pars, France EUR 85
100 Credt Suisse (Gibraltary Ltd Gibraltar, Gibraltar GBP 50
100 Credit Suisse (Guemsey) Limited St Peter Port, Guernsey usD 61
100 Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong, China HKD 62853
100 Credit Suisse (Infemational) Holding AG Zug, Switzerland CHF 375
100 Credit Suisse (faly} Sp A Milan, ltaly EUR 678
100 Credit Suisse (Monaco) S A M Monte Carlo, Monaco EUR 120
100 Credit Suisse (Singapore) Limited Singapore, Singapore SGD 6213
100 Credit Suisse (UK) Limited London, United Kingdom GBP 1023
100 » Credit Suisse (USA), Inc Wimington, United States usb 00
100 Credt Suisse Asia Pacific Services (Singapore} Pte Ltd Singapare, Singapore SGD 52
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management (Australia) Limited Sydney, Austraba ALD 03
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management {Deutschland) GmbH Franktust, Gemany EUR 26
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management (France) S.A Pans, France EUR 316
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management (Polska) S A Warsaw, Poland PLN 56
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management (UK) Holding Limuted Londan, United Kingdom GBP 142
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management Fund Holding {(Luxembourg) S A Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 296
100 Credt Suisse Asset Management Fund Sernce (Lux) S.A Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 15
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management Funds Zunch, Switzerland CHF 70
100 Credt Suisse Asset Management Funds Sp A Milan, Italy EUR 50
100 Credtt Suisse Asset Management Funds UK Lsmited Londan, United Kingdem GBP 05
100 Credt Suisse Asset Management Holding Europe (Lux) S A Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 326
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management intemational Holding Zunch, Swizerand CHF 200
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management Ltd London, United Kingdom GBP 00
100 Credtt Suisse Asset Management Lid Tokyo, Japan JPY 00
100 Credit Suisse Asset Management SIM S p.A Milan, taly EUR 70
100 Credd Suisse Asset Management, LLC Wimington, United States uso 5139
100 Credit Susse Bond Fund Management Company Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 03
100 Credit Suisse Capital LLC Wimington, United States usb 7376
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% of equily Captal
caprial held Cornparty name Domictle Curency nm
100 Credit Suisse Energy LLC Wimington, United States usb 00
100 Credit Suisse Equities (Australia) Liruted Sydney, Australia AUD 625
100 Credit Suisse Equity Fund Management Company Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 03
100 Credit Susse Financial Corperation Wilmington, United States usb 0o
100 Credit Suisse First Boston {Latam Heldings) LLC George Town, Cayman Istands Uso 238
100 Credit Suisse First Boston Australa (Finance) Limited Sydney, Australia AUD 100
100 Credit Suisse Frrst Boston Equiies Limited Londan, United Kingdom GBP 150
100 Credit Suisse First Boston Finance (Guemsey) Lid St Peter Port, Guernsey ush 02
100 Credit Suisse First Boston Finance BV Amsterdam, The Netherlands EUR 00
100 Credit Suisse First Boston Morigage Capital LLC Wilmington, United States uso 3566
100 Credit Suisse First Boston Private Equity, Inc Wilmington, United States usb a0
100 Credit Swisse Fust Boston RAFT, LLC Wilmington, United States UsD 00
100 Credit Suisse Fund Management S A Luxembourg, Luxembgurg CHF 03
100 Credit Suisse Futures (Hong Kong) Limited Hang Kong, China HKD 2658
100 Credit Suisse Holdings (Australia) Limited Sydney, Australia AUD 420
100 Credit Suisse Holdings (Mauntus) Limited Part Lows, Mauntius uUsD 571
100 Credit Suisse Holdings (USA), Inc Wilmington, United States usD 184 7
100 Credit Suisse Investment Bank (Bahamas) Limited Nassau, Bahamas usD 269
100 Credit Suisse Investment Products (Asia Pacific) Ltd George Town, Cayman Islands UshD 00
100 Credit Suisse Leasing 924, L P New York, United States uso 850
100 Credit Suisse Life & Pensions AG Vaduz, Liechtenstein CHF 150
100 Credit Suisse Life (Bermuda) Ltd Hamilton, Bermuda usob 10
100 Credit Suisse Loan Funding LLC Wilmington, United States usb 00
100 Credit Suisse Management LLC Wilmington, United States uso ao 9
100 Credit Suisse Money Market Fund Management Company Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 03
100 Credit Susse Porffolio Fund Management Company Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 03
100 Credit Susse Premium Fiance Corp Sacramento, United States usb 00
100 Credit Suisse Premium Finance LLC Wilrmington, Unied States usb 01
100 Credit Suisse Pnncipal Investments Ltd George Town, Cayman [skands JPY 33240
100 Credit Suisse Prvate Advisors Zurech, Swizedand CHF t50
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Canada), inc Teronto, Canada CAD 34
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Europe) bimited London, Urited Kingdom UsD 273
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong, China HKD 309
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Japan) Ltd Tokyo, Japan JPY 73,1000
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Singapore) Pte Limted Singapore, Singapore SGD 300
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (Thaland) Limited Bangkok, Thatand THB 3310
100 Credit Suisse Secunties (USA) LLC Wilmington, United States uUsb  7,1322
100 CS Investments (Singapore) LLP Singapore, Singapore AUD 05
100 CS Non-Tradibonal Products Ltd Nassau, Bahamas uso 01
100 DLJ Capital Corporation Wilmington, United States UsD 40
100 DLJ Captal Funding, Inc Wilmingion, United States usD 00
100 OLJ International Capital George Town, Cayman Istands usb a0
100 DL Mortgage Caprlal, Inc Wilmington, United States ush 00
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As of December 3, 2006

% of equily Capital

capital held Company name Comucle Cumency nm

100 Glenstreet Corporation N V Curagao, Netherlands Antilles GBP 200

100 J O Hambro Investment Management Limited London, United Kingdom GBP 00

100 Merban Equity Zug, Switzertand CHF 01

100 Peart Investment Management Limited Nassau, Bahamas usp 01

100 SPS Holding Corporaticn Wilmington, United States uso 01

100 Swiss Amencan Corporation New York, United States UsD 389

100 Swiss Amencan Secunties Inc New York, United States usD 00

CJSC Bank Credit Suisse (Moscow) (formerly known as ZAO

100 Bank Credit Suisse Fist Boston) Moscow, Russia usD 378

99 Credit Suisse Wealth Management Limited Nassau, Bahamas usD 50

80 Column Guaranteed LLC Wilmington, United States usD 334

80 » Credit Suisse International Londan, United Kingdom uUsD 682 3

78 Park Acguisiions Limited Cardiff, United Kingdom GBP 03
Credit Suisse Secunties {India) Prvate Limited {formerly known as

75 Credit Suisse First Beston (India) Securties Private Limited) Mumbal, India INR g798

58 Credit Suisse (Luxembourg) S A Luxembourg, Luxembourg CHF 430

o» Credit Susse EBC AG Zunch, Switzerland CHF 17

In the normal course of s business the Bank has significant ievolvernent with VIEs and prvate equity funds In order to provde meaningful disclosure the significance of these entibes to

the Bank 1s reflected through the inclusion of the entity into which these entities are consolidated

" Effectve January 2007, the Bank merged this subsidiary infa ds new consumer financing business Bank-now AG  ® 43% of vating nghts held by Credit Susse Group Guemsey

Branch ¥ Remaining 20% directly held by Credit Swisse Group @ 100% owned by Credit Suisse Group but consolidated inta Credit Suisse under FIN 46

Significant associates (Value according to the Equity Method)
As of Decemroer 2° 2006

Equiy interest
m % Company name Domicle

120 Absolute Europe AG Zug, Switzerland

0"  Absolute Managers AG Zug, Switzerland

4% Absalute Prvate Equity AG Zug, Switzerland

6" Absolute US AG Zug, Switzerland

150 Asian Dwersified Total Retum LOC

George Town, Cayman slands

25 ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Company Ltd

Beying, China

19 SIS Swiss Financial Services Group AG

Zunch, Switzerand

17 Telekurs Holding AG, Zurich Zurich, Swizertand
140 USFR Limited Duration Company George Town, Cayman Islands
33 Bank Hofmann AG Zurich, Switzedand

" The Bank retains significant influence through Board of Directors representation
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33 Significant valuation and income recognition differences between US

GAAP and Swiss GAAP (true and fair view)

The Bank’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with US GAAP For a detalled description of the Bank's accounting policies please
see note 1 *Summary of significant accounting policies "

The Swiss Federal Banking Commission requires Swiss-domiciled banks which
present therr financial statements under erither US GAAP or International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) to provide a narratve explanation of the major
differences between Swiss GAAP and its primary accounting standard

The principle provisions of the Banking Ordinance and the Guidelines of the Swiss
Federal Banking Commission geverning financial statement reporting (Swiss
GAAP) differ In certain aspects from US GAAP The following are the major
differences

Scope of consolidation

Under US GAAF, the Bank deconsolidated certarn entities that 1ssue redeemable
preferred secunties under FIN 46(R) Under Swiss GAAP, these entities would
continue to be consolidated as the Bank holds 100% of the voting nghts

Under Swiss GAAP, majonty-owned subsidiaries that are not considered long-term
investments or do not operate in the core business of the Bank are etther
accounted for as financial Investments or as equity method investments US GAAP
has no such exception relating to the consolidation of majonty-owned subsidiaries

Discontinued operations

Under US GAAP, the assets and liabilities of an entity held-for-sale are separated
from the ordinary balance sheet captions into a separate discontinued operations
itemn and are measured at the lower of the carrying value or farr value less cost to
sell Under Swiss GAAP, these positions remain in ther imbial balance sheet
captions until disposed of and are valued according to the respective captions

Real estate held for investment
Under US GAAP, Real estate held for invesiment 1s valued at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairments

For Swiss GAAP, Real estate held for investment that the Bank intends 1o hold
permanently ts also accounted for at cost less accumulated depreciation If the
Bank does not, however, intend to hold real estate permanently, real estate Is
accounted for at LOCOM

Investments in securnities

Available-for-sale secunities

Under US GAAP, available-for-sale secunties are valued at fair value Unrealized
halding gains and losses (including foreign exchange) due to fluctuations in fair
value are not recorded In the consolidated statements of income but reported in
AQOCI, which 1s part of Total shareholder’s equify Declines in far value below cost
deemed to be other-than-temporary are recognized as imparment losses through
the consolidated statements of income The new cost basis will not be changed
for subsequent recovenes In farr value

Under Swiss GAAP, avallable-for-sale securities are accounted for at LOCOM wath
market fluctuations where required recorded in Other revenues Foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognized as Trading revenues
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Non-marketable equity secuniies are valued at cost less other-than-temporary
impairment or at fair vatue (depending on the status of reporting entity) under US
GAAP, whereas under Swiss GAAP non-marketable equity secunbes are
accounted for at LOCOM

Impatrments on held-to-maturity securities

Under US GAAF, declines in farr value of held-to-maturty secunties below cost
deemed to be other-than-temporary are recognized as impairment losses through
the consolidated statements of income The impairment cannot be reversed in
future penods

Under Swiss GAAP, impairment losses recognized on held-to-maturity secunties
should be reversed up to the amortized cost If the fair value of the instrument
subsequently recovers The reversal s recarded in the consclidated statements of
Income

Trading posittions

Under both US GAAP and Swiss GAAP, positions classified as frading assets are
valued at fair value Under US GAAP, this classification 1s based on management'’s
intent for the specific nstrument, whereas the prevailing critena under Swiss GAAP
15 the active management of the specific instrument

Bifurcation of precious metal loans

Under US GAAP, precious metal loans and deposits are considered hybnd
instruments US GAAP permits such instruments to be carried at fair value with
changes recorded in the consolidated staternent of Income  Alternatively, under US
GAAP as precious metals are considered a commodity, which 1s not clearly and
closely related to a loan or deposit host, the embedded denvative may be bifurcated
under US GAAP and cared at far value with the host instrument carned on an
accrual basis

Under Swiss GAAP, precious metal loans and deposits are not considered hybnd
instruments Precious metals are rather considered a currency, not a commodity
accounted for at fair value

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill amortization

Under US GAAP, goodwill is not amorbized but must be tested for impairment on
an annual basis or mare frequently if an event oaccurs or circumstances change that
indicate that goodwill may be impaired

Under Swiss GAAP, goodwill ts amortzed over its useful hie, normally not
exceeding five years, except in justified cases {up to 20 years} In addrtion, goodwill
15 tested for imparment

Intangible assets with indefinite lives

Under US GAAP, intangible assets with indefinite iives are not amortized but are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently If events or changes in
crrcumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired

Under Swiss GAAP, intangibles assets with indefinite lives are amortized over a
useful ife, up to a maximum of five years Additionally, these assets are tested
for impairment

Pensions and post-retirements benefits
Under US GAAP, the liability and related pension expense 1s determined based on

the projected umit credit actuarial calculation of the benefit obligation Under Swiss
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GAAP, the liabilty and related pension expense 1s determined based on the
required contributions defined by Swiss law and any additional contnbution
mandated by the pension fund trustees

Reserves for general banking risks

Under Swiss GAAP, reserves for general banking nsks are recorded as a
separate component of Total shareholder’s equity US GAAP does not allow
general unallocated provisions

Nontrading assets measured at fair value

Under US GAAF, the following nontrading assets are measured at far value
Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs), Life Settlement Contracts (LSC) and hybnid
instruments Changes in value are reported in the consolidated statement of
income  Under Swiss GAAP, MSRs and LSC are measured at LOCOM Hybnd
mstruments are bifurcated for Swiss GAAP purposes
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Repart of the Independent Registered Public Accounting firm

hcansc

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdelar SA

Audit Financial Services

Badenerstasse 172 P C Box Telephone +41 44 249 31 31

CH-8004 Zunch CH 8026 Zurnch Fax +41 44 24823 18
Internet www kprng ch

Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting firm to the General Meeting of

Credit Suisse, Zurich

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Credit Suisse and subsidiar-
1es (“the Bank™) as of December 3 [, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of
income, changes in shareholder’s equity, comprehensive income, and cash flows, and notes
thereto, for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006 These consohi-
dated financial statements are the responstbility of management and the Board of Directors

Our tesponsibility 1s to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualifica-
tion and independence

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States} and Swiss Auditing Standards Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures i the financial statements An audit also includes as-
sessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentatton We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opnion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the financial position of the Bank as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the re-
sults of 1ts operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006, in conformity with U § generally accepted accounting principles and com-
ply with Swiss law

Ia accordance with Swiss law, we recommend that the consolidated financial statements submit-
ted to you be approved

As discussed in Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2006 the Bank chan-
ged its method of accounting for defined benefit pension plans, in 2005 the Bank changed its
method of accounting for share-based compensation and 1n 2004 the Bank changed its method
of accounting for certam vanable interest entities

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA Z 2 Z

David L Jahnke Rebert § Overstreet
Audrtor in charge

Zunch, Switzerland
March 23, 2007
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Parent company financial review

The Credrt Suisse Parent Company (the Parent Company) recorded Net operating
income of CHF 12,122 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared
to CHF 12,198 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 After deduction
of Operating expenses fotaling CHF 7,035 million representing an increase of CHF
306 million, or 5%, 1n comparison with the previous year, Gross operaling profit
was CHF 382 million, or 7%, lower than in 2005 and amounted to CHF 5,087
milhon

Depreciation of non-current assets of CHF 455 million, and Valuation adiustments,
provisions and losses of CHF 30 million, resulted in Profit before extraordinary
ttems and taxes of CHF 4,602 million The Parent Company recorded Net profit
of CHF 3,687 millon for the year ended December 31, 2006, reflecting an
increase of CHF 179 million, or 5%, compared to the prior year

Net interest income increased year-on-year by CHF 284 million, or 6%, to CHF
4,789 milhon Net commussion and service fee actvilies decreased by CHF 111
milhon to CHF 4,855 million Net trading income decreased year-on-year by CHF
157 million, or 12%, to CHF 1,120 million The Parent Company reported Net
other ordinary income of CHF 1,358 million, a decrease of CHF 92 mullion, or 6%,
compared to the previous year

Operating expenses were up CHF 306 miltion on the previous year to CHF 7,035
million Personnel expenses increased by CHF 632 million, or 15%, to CHF 4,887
mithon Property, equipment and admimistrative costs totaled CHF 2,048 million,
a decrease of CHF 326 million, or 14%, compared to the previous year

Depreciation of non-current assets amounted to CHF 455 million, an increase of
1% versus the CHF 449 millen for 2005 Valuation adjustments, prowvisions and
losses amounted to CHF 30 milhon compared to CHF 122 million in the previous
year

Extraordinary tncome for the year ended December 31, 2006 mncluded a CHF 137
million release of provisions

At the Annual General Meeting on May 4, 2007, the registered shareholder will

be asked to approve the Board of Dwectors’ proposed appropriation of retained
earnings, which included a divtdend of CHF 10 million
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statements

Income statement

Year evded Decerbes 31, m CHE m Refesence to notes 2006 ARG
Results from interest business

Interest and discount income 18,474 12,163
Interest and dwidend income from {rading portfolio 1,957 1,371
interest and dwdend ncome from financial mvestments 09 640
Interest expense (16,551} (9,669)
Net interest income 4,789 4,506
Results from commission and service fee actvities

Commission income fram lending transactions 573 1,018
Secunties and investment commissions 4,200 3,850
Other commussion and fee income 538 556
Commission expense (456) 518)
Net commission and service fee actwties 4,855 4,966
Net trading income 1 1,120 1,277
Other ordinary income

Income from the disposal of financial iInvestments 160 172
Income from participations 933 969
Income from real estate 38 42
Other ordinary income 437 330
Other ordinary expenses 210) 63
Net other ordinary income 1,358 1,450
Net operating income 12,122 12,198
Operating expenses

Persorinel expenses 4,987 4,355
Property, equipment and administrative costs 2,048 2,374
Total operating expenses 7.035 6,729
Gross operating profit 5,087 5,469
Depreciaton of non-current assets 455 449
Valuation adjustments, prowisions and losses 30 122
Profit before extraordinary tems and taxes 4,602 4,898
Extracrdinary income 1 149 28
Extraordinary expenses 1 (105) 34
Tos (959) (1,384
Net profit 3,687 3,508
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Balance sheet before appropriation of retained earnings

Reference
December 31, m CHF m to notes 2006 2005
Assels
Cash and cther liquid assets 2,193 2,085
Money market papers 2,238 12,207
Due from banks 247,234 206,407
Due fiom customers 143,258 114,252
Morigages 88,851 85,007
Secunties and precious metals {rading portfolic 36,925 33,993
Financial investments 27,308 30,6842
Participations 17.820 17,631
Tangble foed assets 2,837 2,771
Intangible assets 1,274 1,265
Accrued income and prepad expenses 3,082 3,027
QOther assets 16,006 15,002
Total assets 589,026 524,205
of which subordinated assets a3a 203
of which assets in respect of participations and qualified shareholders 289,304 202,97
Liabibies and shareholder's equity
Liabilties in respect of money masket papers 56,271 62,613
Due to banks 180,427 151,342
Due to customers, savings and investment deposits 35,220 37,596
Due to customers, other depasits 207,322 168,406
Medium-{erm notes 710 528
Bonds and mortgage-backed bonds 50,490 48,348
Accrued expenses and deferred income 7.144 5,421
Other labilties 16,282 15,934
Valuation adjustments and provisions 3] 523 460
Total liabilites 554,389 490,648
Share capital 6 4,400 4,400
General legal reserves 18,849 18,624
Cther reserves 610 610
Retaned eamings carmed forward 7.091 6,469
Net profit 3,687 3,508
Total shareholder's equity 2] 34,637 33,611
Total iabilites and shareholder's equity 589,026 524,259
of which subordinated llabilibes 15,056 12,141
of which liabilites in respect of participatiens and qualified shareholders 98,336 61,735
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Parent company Swiss GAAP financial statements

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2006
Contingent labilibes 71,483 66,936
Irrevocable commitments 109,389 97,130
Liabiities for calls on shares and other equily instruments 18 18
Confirmed credits 374 177
Denvative financial instruments

Gross positve replacement values 33,177 26,798
Gross negatwe replacerment values 32,311 28,031
Contract volume 3,368,826 2,464,017
Fiduciary transactions 29,535 25,214

The company belongs to the Swass value-addad tax (VAT) group of Credt Suwsse Group, and thus cames joint hability to the Swiss federal tax authonty for value-added tax debts of the

entire Group

Cantingent habilites fo other Bank entities include guarantees for obligations,
performance related guarantees and letters of comfort 1ssued to third parties
Contingencies with a stated amount are included in the off balance sheet section
of the financial statement In some instances, the Parent Company’s exposure is
not defined as an amount but relates to specific circumstances as the solvability

of subsidiaries or the performance of a service

Further, as shareholder of Credit Suisse Internabional, an unlimited company
incorperated in England and Wales, the Parent Company has a joint, several and
unhmited obligation to meet any insufficlency in the assets in the event of

liqgudation

Proposed appropriation of retained earnings

December 31, in CHF m 2006 2005
Retained earmings

Net annual profit 3,687 3,608
Retaned eamings carned forward 7.091 " 6,469
Retained earnings available for appropnation 10,778 9,977
Dmdend 10 2,470
Allocations to general legal reserves 0 225
Balance to be camed forward 10.768 7,982

¥ Movements in equty due 1o the transfer of assets and kabibbes

Description of business activities

Credit Swisse 15 a Swiss Bank with Total assets of CHF 589 billion and

shareholder's equity of CHF 35 billion as of December 31, 2006

Credit Suisse 1s a 100% subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group For a description of
its business actiities refer to the section "Orgamization and descrnption of

business” in this Annual Report
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Accounting and valuation policies

Basis for accounting

The Parent Company's stand alone financial statements are prepared n
accordance with the accounting rules of the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and
Savings Banks, the respective Implementing Ordinance and the Federal Banking
Commussion Gurdelines (Swiss GAAP statutory)

The Bank's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with
accounting pnnciples generally accepled in the United States of Amenca (US
GAAP) Accounting and valuation principles are descrbed in note 1 *Summary of
significant accounting policies” in the Notes to the Bank's consoltdated financial
statements

See also note 33 “Significant valuation and Income recognition differences between
US GAAP and Swiss GAAP (true and fair view)" in the Notes to the Bank's
consaldated financial statements for major valuation and income recognition
differences between US GAAP and Swiss GAAP (true and farr view) Additional
differences between US GAAP and Swiss GAAP statutory are stated below and
should be read in conunction with note 1 "Summary of significant accounting
policies” in the Notes to the Bank's consolidated financial statements

Foreign currency translations

For US GAAP purposes, foreign currency translation adjustments for avalable-for-
sale secunties are reported In Accumulated other comprehensive mcome/(loss)
(AOCI), which s part of Total shareholder’'s equity, whereas for Swiss GAAP
statutory they are included in the iIncome statement

Share-based compensation

Under US GAAR, the Credit Suisse Group share-based compensation plans are
treated as equity awards Under Swiss GAAP statutary, such plans are treated as
hability awards

Derivatives used for hedging purposes

Cash flow hedges

For US GAAP purposes, the effectve portion of a cash flow hedge s reported in
AOCC! For Swiss GAAP statutory purposes, the effective portion of a cash flow
hedge 1s reported in the compensation account, which is part of Other assets or
Other habilihes

Fair value hedges

Under US GAAP, the full amount of unrealized losses on derivatives classified as
hedging instruments and the corresponding gains on available-for-sale secunties
as hedged items are recognized in income Under Swiss GAAF statutory, the
amount representing the portion above historical cost of financial investments as
hedged 1tem s recorded 1n the compensation account

Deferred taxes
US GAAP allows the recognitron of deferred tax assets on net operating loss carry
forwards Such recogmition 1s not allowed for Swiss GAAP statutory purposes

Participations
The portfolio valuation method 1s applied to the participation positions

Undisclosed reserves
Unlike US GAAF, Swiss GAAP statutory financial statements may include and be

influenced by undisclosed reserves Undisclosed reserves anse from economically
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unnecessary write-downs on fixed assets and participations or through market-
related pnce increases, which are not reflected in the income statement Such
undisclosed reserves anse from recording excessive prowsions and loan loss
reserves In addition, such undisclosed reserves arise If provisions and loan
reserves, which are no longer necessary, are not written back to income

Notes on risk management

For information on the Parent Company's policy with regard to nsk management
and the use of financial derivatives, see "Risk Management” and the Notes to the
Bank's consolidated financial statements
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1 Additional information on the parent company income statement

The following table summanzes detals of net trading income

Year ended December 31, 1 CHF m 2006 2005
Income from trading in interest related instruments 471 473)
Income/(loss) from trading n equity instrumends (507} 132
Income from foreign exchange and banknote trading 1,325 1,846
Income from precious metal trading 53 26
Cther loss from trading (222) (254)
Total net trading income 1,120 1,977
The following table summarnzes extraordinary income and expenses

Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2006 2005
Extraordinary mcome and expenses

Gans realized on the disposal of participations 12 3
Other extraordinary ncome 137 25
Extraordinary income 149 28
Losses realized on the disposal of parbicipations (105) (34)
Extraordinary expenses {105) (34)
Total net extraordinary income and expenses 44 &)
2 Pledged assets and assets under reservation of ownership

The following table summanzes detalls of pledged assets under reservation of

ownership

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Assets pledged and assigned as collateral 4,171 2,487
Actual commitments secured 1,566 1,764
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3 Securities borrowing and securities lending, repurchase and reverse

repurchase agreements

The following table summarizes details of secunties borrowing, secunties

lending, purchase and reverse purchase agreements

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2006
Due from banks 34,486 42,360
Due from customers 26,774 28,747
Cash collateral due from secunihes borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements 61,260 71,107
Due to banks 32,522 31,635
Due to custormers 4,098 8,310
Cash collateral due to securtties lent and repurchase agreements 36,620 39,945
Carrying value of secunties transferred under secuntes lending and borrowing and repurchase agreements 5,646 15,413

thereof transfers with the rght to repledge or resell 5,646 15,413
Far value of secunties receved under secunties lending and borrowing and
reverse repurchase agreements with the nght to sell or repledge 165,143 178,542

thereof re-sold or re-pledged 108,066 160,999
4 Liabilities in respect of own pension funds
The following table summarizes details of habilihes in respect of own pension
funds
December 31, v CHF m 2006 2005
Total 764 668
5 Valuation adjustments and provisions
The following table summanzes details of valuation adjustments and provisions

Recovenes
endangered New
interst, charges to  Releases to
Teld Speciic cumency ncome ncome Total

Year ended December 31 m CHF m 2005  wate-downs differences taternent 2006
Provisions for defermed taxes 95 (7) 52 0 140
Valuation adjustments and pravisions for default nsks 1,922 (673) 121 338 =2 1,187
Valuation adjustments and provisions for other nsks 102 (26) 03 49 @3n 111
Provisions for restructunng 1 (1) 0 o] 4] 0
Other provisigns 29 262 Q=) @ 105 (68) 272
Subtotal 2,087 (718) 135 492 (626) 1,570
Total valuation adjustments and provisions 2,382 (718) 128 544 (B26) 1,710
Less direct charge-offs aganst specific assels (1,922) {1,187
Total valuation adjustments and provisions as
shown in the balance sheet 460 523

" Pronsions ase not discounted due to short-termn natute 2 Provisions in respect of bbgation claims were CHF 87 million and CHE 84 mikon as of Decermber 31, 2008 and 2005,

respectvely @ No prowsions for defined beneft pension cost included
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6 Composition of share capital and authorized capital

The following table summanzes details of share capital and authonzed capital

2006 2005
Total nomnal Tolal nominat
Quantity value CHF * Quantly value CHF

Registered shares at CHF 100
Capital on January 1 43,996,652 4,399,665,200 43,996,652 4,399,665,200
Caprtal on December 31 43,996,652 4,399,665,200 43,996 652 4,399,665,200
Authonzed share capital on December 31 o 4} 0 0
Conditional share capital on December 31 o )] 0 0
¥ The dradend eligible capital equals the total nominal value
7 Major shareholders and groups of shareholders
The foltowing table summarizes detatls of major shareholders and groups of
shareholders

2006 2005

Total nominat Total nomireal
Decernber 31, Quankly value CHF Share % Quanily value CHF Share %
Registered shares
at CHF 100 with voting nghts
Credit Swsse Group " 43,996,652 4,399,665,200 100 43,596,652 4,399,665,200 100

" Credit Suisse Group was informed through disclosure notfications on September 19 and 20, 2006 that AXA S A s holdings of Credit Susse Group shares have exceeded 5% of the
vatog nghts eatered in the Commercal Reguster Al outstanding <hares have the same vating aghts
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8 Shareholder’s equity

The following table summanzes details of shareholder’s equity

nCHFm 2006 2005
Sharehelder's equity at January 1
Share capital 4,400 4,400
General legal reserves 18,624 18,495
Other reserves 610 610
Retared eamings 9,977 8,466
aof which camed forward from previcus year 6,469 5,345
of which net annual profit/(loss) 3,508 3,121
Total shareholder's equity as of January 1 33,611 31,97
Other changes * (191) 4
Dradend 2,870) (1,872)
Net annual profit 3,687 3,508
Total shareholder's equity as of December 31 (before profit allocation) 34,637 33,611
Share capital 4,400 4,400
General legal reserves 18,849 18,624
Other resenves 610 §t0
Retaned eamings 10,778 9,977
" of which carnied forward from previous year 7,091 6,469
of which net annual profit 3,687 3,508
Total shareholder's equity as of December 31 (before profit allocation) 34,637 33,611
" Movenenis in equity due lo the transter of assets and habiites
9 Assets from and liabilities to affiliated companies and loans to
members of the parent company’s governing bodies
The following table summarizes detals of assets from and labilities to affiliated
companies and loans to members of the Parent Company's governing bodies
Decemnber 31 n CHF m 2006 2006
Assels from affiisted companies 6,218 4,671
Leabilities to affiliated companies 6,388 4,418
Loans to members of the Parent Company’s governing bodies 43 29

10 Significant transactions with related parties

Transactions with related parties (such as secunties transactions, payment
transfer services, borrowings and compensabion for deposits) are camed out at
arm's length
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11 Fire insurance value of tangible fixed assets

The following table summanzes details of fire insurance value of tangible fixed

assets

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Real estate 3,033 2,957
Other fixed assels 346 301

12 Liabilities for future payments in connection with operating leases

The following table summanzes detals of liabilites for future payments in

connection with operating leases

December 31 n CHF m 2006 2005
Total habibties for future payments in connection with operating leases 819 854
13 Fiduciary transactions

The following table summanzes details of fiduciary transactions

December 31, n CHF m 2006 2005
Fiduciary placements with third-party nstiiutions 29,457 25,116
Fidugrary placements wath affiltated and associated banks 76 52
Fiduciary loans and other fiduciary transactons 2 46
Total fiduciary transactons 29,535 25,214
14 Number of employees

The following table summanzes details of number of employees

December 31 2006 2005
Switzerland 17,080 16,681
Outsde Swizedand 3,408 2,237
Total employees 20,488 18,818
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15 Foreign exchange rates

The following table summarizes details of foreign exchange rates

Closing rate Average fate
n CHF 311206 311205 2006 205
1 US dollar ()] 12208 13137 125 124
1 Euro (EUR) 1 €085 1 5572 157 155
1 Bntish pound sterling (GBP) 2 3987 2 2692 23 226
100 Japanese yen [AIshg] 10260 11100 108 113

16 Qutsourcing of services

Where the outsourcing of semvices through agreements with external secvice
providers 1s considered significant under the terms of Swiss Federal Banking
Coemmussion Crrcular 99/2 “Outsourcing,” those agreements comply with all
requlatory requiremnents with respect to business and banking secrecy, data
protection and customer information At Credit Suisse outsourcing of services I1s
in comphance with Circular 99/2
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

e

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA

Audst Financial Services

Badenersirasse 172 PO Box Telephone +41 44 24931 31

CH 8004 Zurich CH-8026 Zunch Fax +41 44 2492319
Internet waww kproag ch

Report of the Statutory Auditors to the General Meeting of

Credit Suisse, Zurich

As statutory auditors of Credit Suisse, we have audited the accounting records and the financial
statements {Income statement, balance sheet and notes) for the year ended December 31, 2006

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors Our responsibality 1s
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We confirm that we meet
the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and tndependence

Qur audit was conducted 1n accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards, which requtre that an
audit be planned and performed to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether the financial sta-
tements are free from material muisstatement We have examined on a test basis evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures m the financial statements We have also assessed the ac-
countng principles used, significant estunates made and the overall financial statement presen-
tation We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinton

[n our opmien, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation
of retained earnings comply with Swiss law and Credit Suisse's Articles of Association

We recommend that the financial statements submutted to you be approved
KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA

Philipp Rickert Hieronymus T Dormann
Auwdror m Churge

Zunich, Switzerland
March 23, 2007
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